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Anton Piller KG v Manufacturing Processes Ltd [1976] Ch 55 

Court of Appeal
8 December 1975
Lord Denning M R., Ormrod and Shaw 5
LJJ

Cur. adv. vult.
Dec. 8. The following judgments were 
delivered. LORD DENNING MR10
During the last 18 months the judges of 
the Chancery Division have been making 
orders of a kind not known before. They 
have some resemblance to search 
warrants. Under these orders, the plaintiff 15
and his solicitors are authorised to enter 
the defendant's premises so as to inspect 
papers, provided the defendant gives 
permission.

Now this is the important point: The 20
court orders the defendant to give them 
permission. The judges have been making 
these orders on ex parte applications 
without prior notice to the defendant. 
None of the cases have been reported 25
except the one before Templeman J. on 
December 3, 1974, E.M.I. Ltd. v. Pandit 
[1975] 1 W.L.R. 302 . But in the present 
case Brightman J. refused to make such 
an order. 30

On appeal to us, Mr. Laddie appears 
for the plaintiffs. He has appeared in most 
of these cases, and can claim the credit -
or the responsibility - for them. He 
represented to us that in this case it was in 35
the interests of justice that the application 
should not be made public at the time it 
was made. So we heard it in camera. It 
was last Tuesday. After hearing his 
submissions, we made the order. We now 40
come to give our reasons in public. But at 
the outset I must state the facts, for it is 
obvious that such an order can only be 
justified in the most exceptional 
circumstances.45

Anton Piller KG ("Pillers"), the 
plaintiffs, are German manufacturers of 
high repute. They make electric motors 
and generators. They play an important 
part in the big new computer industry. 50

They supply equipment for it. They have 
recently designed a frequency converter 
specially for supplying the computers of 
International Business Machines.

Since 1972 Pillers have had, as their 55
agents in the United Kingdom, a company 
here called Manufacturing Processes Ltd. 
("M.P.L."), which is run by Mr. A. H. S. 
Baker and Mr. B. P. Wallace, their two 
directors. These agents are dealers who 60
get machines from Pillers in Germany and 
sell them to customers in England. Pillers 
supply M.P.L. with much confidential 
information about the machines, including 
a manual showing how they work, and 65
drawings which are the subject of 
copyright.

Very recently Pillers have found out -
so they say - that these English agents, 
M.P.L., have been in secret 70
communication with other German 
companies called Ferrostaal and 
Lechmotoren. The object of these 
communications is that M.P.L. should 
supply these other German companies 75
with drawings and materials and other 
confidential information so that they *59
can manufacture power units like Pillers. 
Pillers got to know of these 80
communications through two "defectors," 
if I may call them so. One was the 
commercial manager of M.P.L., Mr. Brian 
Firth; the other was the sales manager, 
Mr. William Raymond Knight. These two 85
were so upset by what was going on in 
M.P.L. that on their own initiative, 
without any approach by Pillers whatever, 
on October 2, 1975, one or both flew to 
Germany. They told Pillers what they 90
knew about the arrangements with 
Ferrostaal and Lechmotoren. They 
disclosed also that M.P.L. was negotiating 
with Canadian and United States firms. In 
making these disclosures, both Mr. Firth 95
and Mr. Knight were putting themselves 
in a perilous position, but Pillers assured 
them that they would safeguard their 
future employment.
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The disclosures - coming from 
defectors - might have been considered 
untrustworthy. But they were supported 
by documents which emanated from both 
Ferrostaal and Lechmotoren. They 5
showed that M.P.L. was in regular 
communication with those German 
companies. They were sending them 
drawings and arranging for inspection of 
the Piller machine, for the express 10
purpose that the Lechmotoren company 
might manufacture a prototype machine 
copied from Pillers. One of the most 
telling communications was a telex from a 
representative of Ferrostaal to Mr. 15
Wallace saying:

"It is the opinion of Mr. S. (of 
Lechmotoren) that the best way to find a 
final solution for the ... prototype is to 
send Mr. Beck (also of Lechmotoren) to 20
you as soon as the ... latest design of P. 
(Piller) has arrived in your factory. In this 
case it is guaranteed that the Lech 
prototype will have exactly the same 
features as the P-type. We hope you will 25
agree to this proposal and we ask you to 
let us have your telex in order to arrange 
Mr. Beck's visit accordingly."

On getting this information, Pillers 
were extremely worried. They were about 30
to produce a fine new frequency converter 
called the "Silent Block." They feared that 
M.P.L., in co-operation with the German 
manufacturers, would make a copy of 
their "Silent Block" and ruin their market. 35
They determined to apply to the court for 
an injunction to restrain M.P.L. and their 
directors, the defendants, from infringing 
their copyright or using confidential 
information or making copies of their 40
machines. But they were fearful that if the 
defendants were given notice of this 
application, they would take steps to 
destroy documents or send them to 
Germany or elsewhere, so that there 45
would be none in existence by the time 
that discovery was had in the action.

So, on Wednesday, November 26, 
1975, Pillers' solicitors prepared a draft 
writ of summons and, with an affidavit,50

they went before Brightman J. and asked, 
first, for an interim injunction to restrain 
infringement, etc., and, secondly, for an 
order that they might be permitted to enter 
the defendants' premises so as to inspect 55
the documents of the plaintiffs and 
remove them, or copies of them. 
Brightman J. granted an interim 
injunction, but refused to order inspection 
or removal of the documents. He said:60

"There is strong prima facie evidence 
that the defendant company is now 
engaged in seeking to copy the plaintiffs'
components for its own financial profit to 
the great detriment of the plaintiffs and in 65
breach of the plaintiffs' rights."

*60
He realised that the defendants might 

suppress evidence or misuse documentary 
material, but he thought that that was a 70
risk which must be accepted in civil 
matters save in extreme cases.

"Otherwise," he said, "it seems to me 
that an order on the lines sought might 
become an instrument of oppression, 75
particularly in a case where a plaintiff of 
big standing and deep pocket is ranged 
against a small man who is alleged on the 
evidence of one side only to have 
infringed the plaintiffs' rights."80

Let me say at once that no court in this 
land has any power to issue a search 
warrant to enter a man's house so as to see 
if there are papers or documents there 
which are of an incriminating nature, 85
whether libels or infringements of 
copyright or anything else of the kind. No 
constable or bailiff can knock at the door 
and demand entry so as to inspect papers 
or documents. The householder can shut 90
the door in his face and say "Get out." 
That was established in the leading case 
of Entick v. Carrington (1765) 2 
Wils.K.B. 275 . None of us would wish to 
whittle down that principle in the 95
slightest. But the order sought in this case 
is not a search warrant. It does not 
authorise the plaintiffs' solicitors or 
anyone else to enter the defendants' 
premises against their will. It does not 100
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authorise the breaking down of any doors, 
nor the slipping in by a back door, nor 
getting in by an open door or window. It 
only authorises entry and inspection by 
the permission of the defendants. The 5
plaintiffs must get the defendants' 
permission. But it does do this: It brings 
pressure on the defendants to give 
permission. It does more. It actually 
orders them to give permission - with, I 10
suppose, the result that if they do not give 
permission, they are guilty of contempt of 
court.

This may seem to be a search warrant 
in disguise. But it was fully considered in 15
the House of Lords 150 years ago and 
held to be legitimate. The case is United 
Company of Merchants of England, 
Trading to the East Indies v. Kynaston 
(1821) 3 Bli.(O.S.) 153. Lord Redesdale 20
said, at pp. 163-164:

"The arguments urged for the 
appellants at the Bar are founded upon the 
supposition, that the court has directed a 
forcible inspection. This is an erroneous 25
view of the case. The order is to permit; 
and if the East India Company should 
refuse to permit inspection, they will be 
guilty of a contempt of the court.... It is an 
order operating on the person requiring 30
the defendants to permit inspection, not 
giving authority of force, or to break open 
the doors of their warehouse."

That case was not, however, concerned 
with papers or things. It was only as to the 35
value of a warehouse; and that could not 
be obtained without an inspection. But the 
distinction drawn by Lord Redesdale 
affords ground for thinking that there is 
jurisdiction to make an order that the 40
defendant "do permit" when it is 
necessary in the interests of justice.

Accepting such to be the case, the 
question is in what circumstances ought 
such an order be made. If the defendant is 45
given notice beforehand and is able to 
argue the pros and cons, it is warranted by 
that case in the House of Lords and by 
R.S.C., Ord. 29, r. 2 (1) and (5) . But it is 

a far stronger thing to make such an order 50
ex parte without giving him *61

notice. This is not covered by the Rules 
of the Supreme Court and must be based 
on the inherent jurisdiction of the court. 55
There are one or two old precedents 
which give some colour for it, Hennessy 
v. Rohmann, Osborne & Co. [1877] W.N. 
14 , and Morris v. Howell (1888) 22 
L.R.Ir. 77 , an Irish case. But they do not 60
go very far. So it falls to us to consider it 
on principle. It seems to me that such an 
order can be made by a judge ex parte, but 
it should only be made where it is 
essential that the plaintiff should have 65
inspection so that justice can be done 
between the parties: and when, if the 
defendant were forewarned, there is a 
grave danger that vital evidence will be 
destroyed, that papers will be burnt or lost 70
or hidden, or taken beyond the 
jurisdiction, and so the ends of justice be 
defeated: and when the inspection would 
do no real harm to the defendant or his 
case.75

Nevertheless, in the enforcement of
this order, the plaintiffs must act with due 
circumspection. On the service of it, the 
plaintiffs should be attended by their 
solicitor, who is an officer of the court. 80
They should give the defendants an 
opportunity of considering it and of 
consulting their own solicitor. If the 
defendants wish to apply to discharge the 
order as having been improperly obtained, 85
they must be allow to do so. If the 
defendants refuse permission to enter or 
to inspect, the plaintiffs must not force 
their way in. They must accept the refusal, 
and bring it to the notice of the court 90
afterwards, if need be on an application to 
commit.

You might think that with all these 
safeguards against abuse, it would be of 
little use to make such an order. But it can 95
be effective in this way: It serves to tell 
the defendants that, on the evidence put 
before it, the court is of opinion that they 
ought to permit inspection - nay, it orders 
them to permit - and that they refuse at 100
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their peril. It puts them in peril not only of 
proceedings for contempt, but also of 
adverse inferences being drawn against 
them; so much so that their own solicitor 
may often advise them to comply. We are 5
told that in two at least of the cases such 
an order has been effective. We are 
prepared, therefore, to sanction its
continuance, but only in an extreme case 
where there is grave danger of property 10
being smuggled away or of vital evidence 
being destroyed.

On the evidence in this case, we 
decided last Tuesday that there was 
sufficient justification to make an order. 15
We did it on the precedent framed by 
Templeman J. It contains an undertaking 
in damages which is to be supported (as 
the plaintiffs are overseas) by a bond for 
£10,000. It gives an interim injunction to 20
restraint the infringement of copyright and 
breach of confidential information, etc. It 
orders that the defendants do permit one 
or two of the plaintiffs and one or two of 
their solicitors to enter the defendants' 25
premises for the purpose of inspecting 
documents, files or things, and removing 
those which belong to the plaintiffs. This 
was, of course, only an interim order 
pending the return of the summons. It is to 30
be heard, we believe, tomorrow by the 
judge.

ORMROD LJ
I agree with all that Lord Denning M.R. 35
has said. The proposed order is at the 
extremity of this court's powers. Such 
orders, therefore, will rarely be made, and 
only when there is no alternative way of 
ensuring that justice is done to the 40
applicant.

*62
There are three essential pre-conditions 

for the making of such an order, in my 
judgment. First, there must be an 45
extremely strong prima facie case. 
Secondly, the damage, potential or actual, 
must be very serious for the applicant. 
Thirdly, there must be clear evidence that 
the defendants have in their possession 50

incriminating documents or things, and 
that there is a real possibility that they 
may destroy such material before any 
application inter partes can be made.

The form of the order makes it plain 55
that the court is not ordering or granting 
anything equivalent to a search warrant. 
The order is an order on the defendant in 
personam to permit inspection. It is 
therefore open to him to refuse to comply 60
with such an order, but at his peril either 
of further proceedings for contempt of 
court - in which case, of course, the court 
will have the widest discretion as to how 
to deal with it, and if it turns out that the 65
order was made improperly in the first 
place, the contempt will be dealt with 
accordingly - but more important, of 
course, the refusal to comply may be the 
most damning evidence against the 70
defendant at the subsequent trial. Great 
responsibility clearly rests on the 
solicitors for the applicant to ensure that 
the carrying out of such an order is 
meticulously carefully done with the 75
fullest respect for the defendant's rights, 
as Lord Denning M.R. has said, of 
applying to the court, should he feel it 
necessary to do so, before permitting the 
inspection.80

In the circumstances of the present 
case, all those conditions to my mind are 
satisfied, and this order is essential in the 
interests of justice.

I agree, therefore, that the appeal 85
should be allowed.

SHAW LJ
I agree with both judgments. The 
overriding consideration in the exercise of 90
this salutary jurisdiction is that it is to be 
resorted to only in circumstances where 
the normal processes of the law would be 
rendered nugatory if some immediate and 
effective measure was not available. 95
When such an order is made, the party 
who has procured the court to make it 
must act with prudence and caution in 
pursuance of it.

100
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Representation
Solicitors: Collyer-Bristow & Co. for 
Band, Hatton & Co., Coventry.

Interim order allowing appeal affirmed. 
(A. H. B. )5
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INCOME TAX ASSESSMENT ACT 1936 
Commonwealth of Australia (No 27 of 1936) 
 
SECTION 48 
In calculating the taxable income of a taxpayer, the total assessable income derived by 
him during the year of income shall be taken as a basis, and from it there shall be 
deducted all allowable deductions. 

 
SECTION 51(1) 
(1) All losses or outgoings to the extent to which they are incurred in gaining or 
producing the assessable income, or are necessarily incurred in carrying on a business 
for the purpose of gaining or producing such income, shall be allowable deductions 
except to the extent to which they are losses or outgoings of capital, or of a capital, 
private, or domestic nature, or are incurred in relation to the gaining or production of 
exempt income. 
(2) Expenditure incurred or deemed to have been incurred in the purchase of stock 
used by the taxpayer as trading stock shall be deemed not to be an outgoing of capital 
or of a capital nature. 

 
 
SECTION 260 
Contracts to evade tax void 
 (1)  Every contract, agreement, or arrangement made or entered into, orally or in 
writing, whether before or after the commencement of this Act, shall so far as it has or 
purports to have the purpose or effect of in any way, directly or indirectly: 
 (a)  altering the incidence of any income tax; 
 (b)  relieving any person from liability to pay any income tax or make any return; 
 (c)  defeating, evading, or avoiding any duty or liability imposed on any person by 
this Act; or 
 (d)  preventing the operation of this Act in any respect; 
be absolutely void, as against the Commissioner, or in regard to any proceeding under 
this Act, but without prejudice to such validity as it may have in any other respect or 
for any other purpose. 
 (2)  This section does not apply to any contract, agreement or arrangement made or 
entered into after 27 May 1981. 
 
SECTION 82KH 
Interpretation 
agreement" means any agreement, arrangement, understanding or scheme, 
whether formal or informal, whether express or implied and whether or not 
enforceable, or intended to be enforceable, by legal proceedings. 
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Bradford v Pickles [1895] AC 587 (HL) 

House of Lords
29 July 1895
Lord Halsbury L.C., Lord Watson, Lord 
Ashbourne and Lord Macnaghten.

5
Watercourse—Water percolating 
underground—Interference with flow of 
percolating Water—Mala Fides—Lawful 
act done with malicious Motive—
Bradford Waterworks Act 1854 (17 & 18 10
Vict. c. cxxiv.) s. 49.

No use of property which would be legal 
if due to a proper motive can become 
illegal because it is prompted by a motive 15
which is improper or even malicious.

The owner of land containing 
underground water, which percolates by 
undefined channels and flows to the land 
of a neighbour, has the right to divert or 20
appropriate the percolating water within 
his own land so as to deprive his 
neighbour of it: Chasemore v. Richards (7 
H. L. C. 349). And his right is the same 
whatever his motive may be, whether 25
bonâ fide to improve his own land, or 
maliciously to injure his neighbour, or to 
induce his neighbour to buy him out. 

By Lord Watson: The law of Scotland 
on this point is not accurately stated by 30
Lord Wensleydale in Chasemore v. 
Richards (7 H. L. C. at p. 388).

The decision of the Court of Appeal 
([1895] 1 Ch. 145) affirmed.

THE following statement of the facts is 35
taken from the judgment of Lord 
Watson:—

The appellants have purchased under 
statutory powers, and*588 are now vested 
with the whole undertaking of the 40
Bradford Waterworks Company 
incorporated by an Act passed in 1854 (17 
& 18 Vict. c. cxxiv.), which transferred to 
that company the undertaking of a 
corporation, having the same name, 45
created by statute in 1842 (5 Vict. Sess. 2, 

c. vi.), together with all rights and 
privileges thereto belonging. The older of 
these companies acquired, for the 
purposes of their undertaking, a parcel of 50
land known as Trooper Farm, and also 
certain springs and streams arising in or 
flowing through the farm. From these 
springs and streams the appellants and 
their predecessors have hitherto obtained 55
a valuable supply of water for the 
domestic use of the inhabitants of 
Bradford.

Trooper Farm is bounded on the west 
and north by lands belonging to the 60
respondent which are about 140 acres in 
extent. The first of these boundaries, on 
the west, which is alone of importance in 
the present case, is a public highway 
called Doll Lane. The respondent's land to 65
the west of that boundary is on a higher 
level than Trooper Farm, and has a steep 
slope downwards to the lane. Its substrata 
are intersected by two faults running from 
east to west, one from each end of the 70
boundary, which prevent the escape of 
percolating water either to the north or 
south; and the nature and the inclination 
of the strata are such that the subterranean 
water which they contain must, by the 75
natural force of gravitation, eventually 
find its way to Trooper Farm.

The sources from which the appellants 
derive a supply of water near to the 
western boundary of Trooper Farm are 80
two in number. The first of these is a large 
spring, known as Many Wells, which 
issues from their ground twenty or thirty 
yards to the east of Doll Lane. The second 
is a stream to the south of Many Wells, 85
which has its origin in a smaller spring on 
the respondent's land, close to Doll Lane, 
at a point known as the Watering Spot, 
from which the water runs in a definite 
channel into Trooper Farm.90

It is an admitted fact that neither the 
appellants nor either of the companies 
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whose undertaking is now vested in them 
ever acquired from the respondent or his 
predecessors in title any part of their legal 
right to or interest in the water in their 
land,*589whether above or below the 5
ground; and also that the statutes, to the 
benefit of whose provisions the appellants 
are now entitled, make no provision for 
compensating the respondent, in the event 
of such right or interest being 10
prejudicially affected by the appellants' 
undertaking.

In the year 1892 the respondent began 
to sink a shaft on his land adjoining the 
lane, and to the west of the Many Wells 15
Spring, and also to drive a level through 
his land for the professed purpose of 
draining the strata, with a view to the 
working of his minerals. These operations 
had the effect of occasionally discolouring 20
the water in the Many Wells Spring, and 
also of diminishing to some extent the 
amount of water in that spring, and in the 
stream coming from the Watering Spot; 
and it became apparent that, if persevered 25
in, they would result in a considerable and 
permanent diminution of the water supply 
obtainable from these sources. The 
appellants then brought the present suit, in 
which they crave an injunction to restrain 30
the respondent from continuing to sink the 
shaft or drive the level, and from doing 
anything whereby the waters of the spring 
and stream might be drawn off or 
diminished in quantity, or polluted, or 35
injuriously affected.

The appellants alleged in their 
statement of claim that the respondent had 
not a bonâ fide intention to work his 
minerals, and that his intention was to 40
injure the appellants and so to endeavour 
to induce them either to purchase his land 
or to give him some other compensation.

North J. being of opinion that the 
respondent's acts were prohibited by 45
statute granted an injunction 1. The Court 
of Appeal (Lord Herschell L.C., Lindley 
and A. L. Smith L.JJ.) reversed this 
decision and declared that the appellants 

were not entitled to any of the relief 50
claimed in the action 2.

The Act of 1854 incorporated among 
others sect. 14 of the Waterworks Clauses 
Act 1847.

Sect. 49 of the Act of 1854 was almost 55
identical in terms with sect. 234 of the Act 
of 1842 and ran as follows:—

“It shall not be lawful for any person 
other than the company to divert alter or 
appropriate in any other manner than by 60
law*590 they may be legally entitled any 
of the waters supplying or flowing from 
certain streams and springs called ‘Many 
Wells,' arising or flowing in and through a 
certain farm called ‘Trooper' or Many 65
Wells Farm in the township of Wilsden in 
the parish of Bradford, or to sink any well 
or pit or do any act matter or thing 
whereby the waters of the said springs 
might be drawn off or diminished in 70
quantity; and if any person shall illegally 
divert alter or appropriate the said waters 
or any part thereof or sink any such well 
or pit or shall do any such act matter or 
thing whereby the said waters may be 75
drawn off or diminished in quantity, and 
shall not immediately on being required 
so to do by the company repair the injury 
done by him, so as to restore the said 
springs and the waters thereof to the state 80
in which they were before such illegal act 
as aforesaid, he shall forfeit to the 
company any sum not exceeding five 
pounds for every day during which the 
said supply of water shall be diverted or 85
diminished by reason of any work done or 
act performed by or by the authority of 
such person, in addition to the damage 
which the company may sustain by reason 
of their supply of water being 90
diminished.”

May 9. Cozens-Hardy Q.C. and B. 
Eyre for the appellants:—
The respondent in diverting this water is 95
not making a reasonable use of the land. 
He is acting maliciously, and the cases 
shew that a user which would otherwise 
be justifiable ceases to be so when the 
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object is to injure another. This principle 
was applied in the early case of Keeble v. 
Hickeringill 3, in which a decoy was 
disturbed by shooting. In Acton v. 
Blundell 4, in which the right to intercept 5
underground water was established, this 
limitation is expressed. Tindal C.J. at p. 
353 quotes Marcellus: “Si non animo 
vicini nocendi, sed suum agrum meliorem 
faciendi”; and the same passage is quoted 10
by Lord Wensleydale in Chasemore v. 
Richards5. Lord Wensleydale says: 
“Every man has a right to the natural 
advantages of his soil. … But according 
to the rule of reason and law ‘Sic utere tuo 15
ut alienum non laedas,' it seems right to 
hold that he ought to exercise 
his*591 right in a reasonable manner with 
as little injury to his neighbour's rights as 
may be.” In Smith v. Kenrick 6 the same 20
limitation on freedom of action is 
imposed; and Maule J. says that if a man 
in the legitimate use of his own land “acts 
negligently or capriciously and injury 
results, no doubt he is liable.” In Mogul 25
Steamship Co. v. Macgregor, Gow & 
Co. 7 Bowen L.J. after saying that a man 
is legally justified in the bonâ fide use of 
his property or the exercise of his trade, 
even if what he does seems selfish or 30
unreasonable, adds: “But such legal 
justification would not exist where the act 
was merely done with the intention of 
causing temporal harm, without reference 
to one's own lawful gain or the lawful 35
enjoyment of one's own rights.” The 
respondent's conduct comes distinctly 
within the exceptions there expressed. 

[They also contended that the 
respondent's conduct was forbidden by 40
the Bradford Waterworks Act 1854 s. 49.]

Everitt Q.C., Tindal 
Atkinson Q.C., Butcher and A. P. 
Longstaffe for the respondent were not 
heard.45

The House took time for consideration.

LORD HALSBURY LC
My Lords, in this action the plaintiffs seek 
to restrain the defendant from doing 50

certain acts which they allege will 
interfere with the supply of water which 
they want, and which they are 
incorporated to collect for the purpose of 
better supplying the town of Bradford. 55
North J. ordered the injunction to issue, 
but the Court of Appeal, consisting of 
Lord Herschell, Lindley L.J. and A. L. 
Smith L.J., reversed his judgment.

The facts that are material to the 60
decision of this question seem to me to lie 
in a very narrow compass. The acts done, 
or sought to be done, by the defendant 
were all done upon his own land, and the 
interference, whatever it is, with the flow 65
of water is an interference with water, 
which is underground and not shewn to be 
water flowing in any defined stream, but 
is percolating water, which, but for such 
interference, would70
undoubtedly*592 reach the plaintiffs' 
works, and in that sense does deprive 
them of the water which they would 
otherwise get. But although it does 
deprive them of water which they would 75
otherwise get, it is necessary for the 
plaintiffs to establish that they have a 
right to the flow of water, and that the 
defendant has no right to do what he is 
doing.80

My Lords, I am of opinion that neither 
of those propositions can be established. 
Apart from the consideration of the 
particular Act of Parliament incorporating 
the plaintiffs, which requires separate 85
treatment, the question whether the 
plaintiffs have a right to the flow of such 
water appears to me to be covered by 
authority. In the case of Chasemore v. 
Richards 8, it became necessary for this 90
House to decide whether an owner of land 
had a right to sink a well upon his own 
premises, and thereby abstract the 
subterranean water percolating through 
his own soil, which would otherwise, by 95
the natural force of gravity, have found its 
way into springs which fed the River 
Wandle, the flow of which the plaintiff in 
that action had enjoyed for upwards of 
sixty years. 100
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The very question was then determined 
by this House, and it was held that the 
landowner had a right to do what he had 
done whatever his object or purpose 
might be, and although the purpose might 5
be wholly unconnected with the 
enjoyment of his own estate.

It therefore appears to me that, treating 
this question apart from the particular Act 
of Parliament, and, indeed, apart from the 10
49th section of the Act of Parliament upon 
which the whole question turns, it would 
be absolutely hopeless to contend that this 
case is not governed by the authority of 
Chasemore v. Richards 9. 15

This brings me to the 49th section of 
the statute 17 & 18 Vict. c. cxxiv., upon 
which reliance has been placed. [His 
Lordship read it.]

Whatever may be said of the drafting 20
of this section, two things are clear: first, 
that the section in its terms contemplates 
that persons other than the company may 
be legally entitled to divert, alter, or 
appropriate the waters supplying or 25
flowing from*593the streams and springs; 
and, secondly, that the acts against which 
the section is directed must be illegal 
diversion, alteration, or appropriation of 
the said waters.30

The natural interpretation of such 
language seems to me to be this: that 
whereas the generality of the language of 
the section might apply to any alteration 
or appropriation of waters supplying or 35
flowing from the streams and springs 
called “Many Wells,” the section only 
intended to protect such streams and 
springs and supplies as the company 
should have acquired a right to by 40
purchase, compensation, or otherwise, but 
in such-wise as should vest in them the 
proprietorship of the waters, streams, 
springs, &c. And lest the generality of the 
language should give them more than that 45
to which they had acquired the proprietary 
right, the legal rights of all other persons 
were expressly saved; and upon this 
assumption the latter part of the section 
makes penal the illegal diversion,50

alteration, or appropriation of any 
streams, &c., of which, by the hypothesis, 
the company had become the proprietor.

I do not think that North J. does justice 
to the language of the section when he 55
says that “the section enacts that a man is 
not to do certain specified things except 
so far as he may lawfully do them.” The 
fallacy of that observation (with all 
respect to North J.) resides in the phrase 60
“certain specified things.” If my reading 
of the section be correct, the thing that is 
prohibited is taking or diverting water 
which has been appropriated and paid for 
by the company; but the thing which is 65
not prohibited is taking water which has 
not reached the company's premises, to 
the property in which no title is given by 
the section, and which, by the very act 
complained of, never can reach the 70
company's premises at all. To use popular 
language, therefore, what is prohibited is 
taking what belongs to the company, and 
what is not prohibited is taking what does 
not belong to the company.75

My Lords, I have used popular 
language because I have no doubt that the 
draftsman who drew the section was 
encountered with the proposition in his 
own mind that you could not absolutely 80
assert property of percolating water at all. 
You may have a right to the flow of 
water; you may have a property in 
the*594 water when it is collected and 
appropriated and reduced into possession; 85
but, in view of the particular subject-
matter with which the draftsman was 
dealing, it seems to me intelligible enough 
why he adopted the phraseology now 
under construction.90

It appears to me that this is the true 
construction of the section from the 
language itself. But I confess I can 
entertain no doubt that the mere fact that 
the section, as construed by the plaintiffs, 95
affords no right to compensation to those 
whose rights might be affected, is 
conclusive against the construction 
contended for by the plaintiffs.
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The only remaining point is the 
question of fact alleged by the plaintiffs, 
that the acts done by the defendant are 
done, not with any view which deals with 
the use of his own land or the percolating 5
water through it, but is done, in the 
language of the pleader, “maliciously.” I 
am not certain that I can understand or 
give any intelligible construction to the 
word so used. Upon the supposition on 10
which I am now arguing, it comes to an 
allegation that the defendant did 
maliciously something that he had a right 
to do. If this question were to have been 
tried in old times as an injury to the right 15
in an action on the case, the plaintiffs 
would have had to allege, and to prove, if 
traversed, that they were entitled to the 
flow of the water, which, as I have 
already said, was an allegation they would 20
have failed to establish.

This is not a case in which the state of 
mind of the person doing the act can 
affect the right to do it. If it was a lawful 
act, however ill the motive might be, he 25
had a right to do it. If it was an unlawful 
act, however good his motive might be, he 
would have no right to do it. Motives and 
intentions in such a question as is now
before your Lordships seem to me to be 30
absolutely irrelevant. But I am not 
prepared to adopt Lindley L.J.'s view of 
the moral obliquity of the person insisting 
on his right when that right is challenged. 
It is not an uncommon thing to stop up a 35
path which may be a convenience to 
everybody else, and the use of which may 
be no inconvenience to the owner of the 
land over which the path goes. But when 
the use of it is insisted upon as a right, it 40
is a familiar mode of testing that right to 
stop the permissive use, which the owner 
of the land*595 would contend it to be, 
although the use may form no 
inconvenience to the owner.45

So, here, if the owner of the adjoining 
land is in a situation in which an act of 
his, lawfully done on his own land, may 
divert the water which would otherwise 
go into the possession of this trading 50

company, I see no reason why he should 
not insist on their purchasing his interest 
from which this trading company desires 
to make profit.

For these reasons, my Lords, I am of 55
opinion that this appeal ought to be 
dismissed with costs, and that the 
plaintiffs should pay to the defendant the 
costs both here and below.

60
LORD WATSON (after stating the facts 
given above)
My Lords, it is clear that, apart from any 
privilege which may have been conferred 
upon them by statute, the respondent, as 65
in a question with the appellants, has a 
legal right to divert or impound the water 
percolating beneath the surface of his 
land, so as to prevent its reaching Trooper 
Farm, and feeding, or assisting to feed, 70
the Many Wells Spring or the stream 
flowing from the Watering Spot. Upon 
that point there can be no doubt since 
Chasemore v. Richards 10 was decided by 
this House in the year 1859. But the 75
appellants pleaded at your Lordships' Bar, 
as they did in both Courts below, that the 
principle of Chasemore v. Richards 11is
inapplicable to the present case, because, 
in the first place, the operations 80
contemplated and commenced by the 
respondent are by statute expressly 
prohibited; and, in the second place, these 
operations were designed and partly 
carried out by the respondent, not with the 85
honest intention of improving the value of 
his land or minerals, but with the sole 
object of doing injury to their 
undertaking. 

The statutory provisions upon which 90
the appellants rely as supporting the first 
of these pleas are to be found in sect. 234 
of the Act of 1842, and in sect. 49 of the 
Act of 1854, which is a mere repetition of 
the previous enactment. The clause relates 95
to the Many Wells Springs, an expression 
which, as the context shews, includes the 
stream coming from the Watering Spot. It 
contains two separate enactments, the one 
of them prohibitory and the*596 other 100
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penal. First of all, it declares that it shall 
not be lawful“for any person other than 
the said company to divert, alter, or 
appropriate, in any other manner than by 
law they may be legally entitled,” any of 5
the waters “supplying or flowing from” 
these springs, or to sink any well or pit, or 
to do any act, matter, or thing whereby 
“the waters of the said springs” may be 
drawn off or diminished in quantity. That 10
declaration is followed by the provision 
that “if any person shall illegally divert, 
alter, or appropriate the said waters, or 
any part thereof, or sink any such well or 
pit, or shall do any such act, matter, or 15
thing whereby the said waters shall be 
drawn off or diminished in quantity,” and 
shall not on being required to do so by the 
company, immediately restore the springs 
and waters to the same condition in which 20
they were before the illegal act, they shall 
be liable to pay five pounds to the 
company for each day until restoration is 
made, besides compensating the company 
for any damage sustained through their25
illegal act.

The appellants endeavoured to 
construe the prohibitory clause as 
effecting a virtual confiscation in their 
favour of all water rights in or connected 30
with the respondent's land lying to the 
vest of Trooper Farm. It appears to me to 
be exceedingly improbable that the 
Legislature should have intended to 
deprive a landowner of part of his 35
property for the benefit of a commercial 
company without any provision for 
compensating him for his loss. But it is 
not necessary to rely upon probabilities, 
because, in my opinion, the language of 40
the clause is incapable of bearing such an 
interpretation. I think the plain object of 
the statutory prohibition, which has two 
distinct branches, was to give protection 
to the supply of water which had been 45
acquired by or belonged to the company 
for the time being; and that it was not 
meant to forbid, and does not prevent, any 
legitimate use made by a neighbouring 
proprietor of water running upon or 50

percolating below his land before it 
reached the company's supply and became 
part of their undertaking.

The first branch makes it unlawful for 
any person other than the company to 55
divert, alter, or appropriate any of the 
“waters now supplying” the Many Wells 
Springs, which appear to include sources 
of supply existing upon lands adjacent to 
Trooper*597 Farm. Had the prohibition 60
been absolute, it would have struck 
against the operations of the respondent; 
but it is subject to the qualification that 
the respondent, or any landowner 
similarly situated, may lawfully divert 65
those waters which ultimately feed the 
Many Wells Springs, so long as he does 
so in any manuer which is not in excess of 
his common law rights. The respondent's 
operations, of which the appellants 70
complain, are within his proprietary right, 
and are therefore not obnoxious to that 
part of the prohibition.

The second branch, which prohibits the 
sinking of wells and other operations, has, 75
in my opinion, no reference to outside 
waters more or less distant which might 
ultimately find their way to the Many 
Wells Springs. It relates to “the waters of 
the said springs” - an expression which 80
can only denote the waters which have 
actually reached the Many Wells Springs, 
or some channel or reservoir which has 
been prepared for their reception upon 
their issuing from these springs. The 85
prohibition gives effective protection 
against the withdrawal or diminution, 
either by an adjacent proprietor or any 
other person, of waters which have come 
within the dominion of the appellants. But 90
it does not prevent the diversion or 
impounding by an adjacent proprietor of 
water in his own land which has never 
reached that point, so long as his 
operations are such as the law permits. 95
For these reasons, in so far as concerns 
the. first plea urged for the appellants, I 
concur in the judgment of the Court of 
Appeal.
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The second plea argued by the 
appellants, which was rejected by both 
Courts below, was founded upon the text 
of the Roman law (Dig. lib. 39, tit. 3, art. 
1, s. 12), and also, somewhat to my 5
surprise, upon the law of Scotland. I 
venture to doubt whether the doctrine of 
Marcellus would assist the appellants' 
contention in this case; but it is 
unnecessary to consider the point, because 10
the noble and learned Lords who took part 
in the decision of Chasemore v. 
Richards 12 held that the doctrine had no 
place in the law of England. 

I desire, however, to say that I cannot 15
assent to the law of Scotland as laid down 
by Lord Wensleydale in Chasemore v. 
Richards.13 The noble and learned lord 
appears to have*598 accepted a passage 
in Mr. Bell's Principles (sect. 966), which 20
is expressed in very general terms, and is 
calculated to mislead unless it is read in 
the light of the decisions upon which it is 
founded. I am aware that the phrase “in 
aemulationem vicini” was at one time 25
frequently, and is even now occasionally, 
very loosely used by Scottish lawyers. But 
I know of no case in which the act of a 
proprietor has been found to be illegal, or 
restrained as being in aemulationem, 30
where it was not attended with offence or 
injury to the legal rights of his neighbour. 
In cases of nuisance a degree of 
indulgence has been extended to certain 
operations, such as burning limestone, 35
which in law are regarded as necessary 
evils. If a landowner proceeded to burn 
limestone close to his march so as to 
cause annoyance to his neighbour, there 
being other places on his property where 40
he could conduct the operation with equal 
or greater convenience to himself and 
without giving cause of offence, the Court 
would probably grant an interdict. But the 
principle of aemulatio has never been 45
carried further. The law of Scotland, if it 
differs in that, is in all other respects the 
same with the law of England. No use of 
property, which would be legal if due to a 
proper motive, can become illegal 50

because it is prompted by a motive which 
is improper or even malicious. 

I therefore concur in the judgment 
which has been moved by the Lord 
Chancellor.55

LORD ASHBOURNE
My Lords, I concur. To my mind the case 
is clear, and turns upon considerations 60
sufficiently simple and far from obscure.

The plaintiffs have no case unless they 
can shew that they are entitled to the flow 
of the water in question, and that the 
defendant has no right to do what he is 65
doing. Putting aside the statutes, the 
defendant's rights cannot be seriously 
contested. The law stated by this House in 
Chasemore v. Richards 14 cannot be 
questioned. Mr. Pickles has acted within 70
his legal rights throughout; and is he to 
forfeit those legal rights and be punished 
for their legal exercise because certain 
motives are*599imputed to him? If his 
motives were the most generous and 75
philanthropic in the world, they would not 
avail him when his actions were illegal. If 
his motives are selfish and mercenary, 
that is no reason why his rights should be 
confiscated when his actions are legal. 80

It is to be noted that the defendant or 
his predecessors in title never parted with 
any of their legal rights; it is not 
suggested that the plaintiffs, by agreement 
or otherwise, ever acquired them; and no 85
indication is given that there is any 
intention to compensate the defendant for 
his legal rights sought to be appropriated 
or injuriously affected by the plaintiffs.

The appellants' contention on the 90
construction of the statutes would 
practically confiscate the defendant's 
water rights. I see nothing in the statutes 
to interfere with or prejudice his legal 
rights. Very clear words would be 95
required to support the contention that 
legal rights have been swept away without 
compensation. Waters that have come 
under the control of the appellants are 
fully protected; but there is not a word to 100
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hinder or cramp the action of Mr. Pickles 
unless he acts “illegally,” or proceeds “in 
any other manner than by law he may be 
legally entitled.”

I therefore concur in the order 5
proposed.

LORD MACNAGHTEN
My Lords, for forty years the corporation 
of Bradford have supplied their town with 10
water. They were empowered to do so by 
an Act of Parliament passed in 1854, 
which authorized and required them to 
purchase the undertaking of a then 
existing company called “The Bradford 15
Waterworks Company.”

The chief source of their water supply 
was taken over from the company. It
comes from a cluster of springs known as 
“The Many Wells.” These springs issue 20
from the lower slope of a hillside some 
distance from the town. Above them, in 
the immediate neighbourhood, there is a 
tract of land belonging to Mr. Pickles, the 
respondent. Owing to the fall of the 25
ground and the nature and lie of the strata 
beneath the surface, Mr. Pickles' land 
forms a sort of gathering-room or 
reservoir for*600 subterranean water. 
Two faults, nearly parallel to each other, 30
run downwards through it, and there is a 
bottom of impermeable clay. At present 
there is no way of escape for the 
imprisoned waters except by the Many 
Wells Springs.35

Within the ambit of his own land Mr. 
Pickles has set about making a tunnel or 
drift which, apparently, is intended to 
pierce one of the two faults that keep the 
underground water within bounds. If this 40
is done the result, it is said, will be to 
allow the water to run off in some other 
direction.

The corporation claim an injunction to 
restrain Mr. Pickles from going on with 45
the proposed work. They put their case in 
two ways. They say that under the 
circumstances the operation which Mr. 
Pickles threatens to carry out is something 
in excess of his rights as a landowner. 50

Failing that ground, they maintain that his 
proceedings are in contravention of the 
express terms of their special Act.

As regards the first point, the position 
of the appellants is one which it is not 55
very easy to understand. They cannot 
dispute the law laid down by this House 
in Chasemore v. Richards. 15 They do not 
suggest that the underground water with 
which Mr. Pickles proposes to deal flows 60
in any defined channel. But they say that 
Mr. Pickles' action in the matter is 
malicious, and that because his motive is 
a bad one, he is not at liberty to do a thing 
which every landowner in the country 65
may do with impunity if his motives are 
good. Mr. Pickles, it seems, was so 
alarmed at this view of the case that he 
tried to persuade the Court that all he 
wanted was to unwater some beds of 70
stone which he thought he could work at a 
profit. In this innocent enterprise the 
Court found a sinister design. And it may 
be taken that his real object was to shew 
that he was master of the situation, and to 75
force the corporation to buy him out at a 
price satisfactory to himself. Well, he has 
something to sell, or, at any rate, he has 
something which he can prevent other 
people enjoying unless he is paid for it. 80
Why should he, he may think, without fee 
or reward, keep his land as a store-room 
for a commodity which the corporation 
dispense, probably not*601 gratuitously, 
to the inhabitants of Bradford? He prefers 85
his own interests to the public good. He 
may be churlish, selfish, and grasping. His 
conduct may seem shocking to a moral 
philosopher. But where is the malice? Mr. 
Pickles has no spite against the people of 90
Bradford. He bears no ill-will to the 
corporation. They are welcome to the 
water, and to his land too, if they will pay 
the price for it. So much perhaps might be 
said in defence or in palliation of Mr. 95
Pickles' conduct. But the real answer to 
the claim of the corporation is that in such 
a case motives are immaterial. It is the 
act, not the motive for the act, that must 
be regarded. If the act, apart from motive, 100
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gives rise merely to damage without legal 
injury, the motive, however reprehensible 
it may be, will not supply that element.

On this point both North J. and the 
Court of Appeal decided against the 5
corporation. And the decision, as it seems 
to me, is plainly right.

On the second point, on which North J. 
was in favour of the corporation and the 
Court of Appeal against them, there is 10
certainly more to be said. I quite agree 
with the Court of Appeal in the result at 
which they have arrived. But, speaking 
for myself, I rather take leave to doubt 
whether the section of the special Act on 15
which the question turns is so 
unsatisfactory, so ill-drawn, and so 
difficult to construe as it seemed to be to 
the Court of Appeal.

The old waterworks company was 20
incorporated by an Act passed in 1842. It 
was dissolved and re-incorporated in 1854 
in view of the immediate transfer of the 
undertaking to the corporation.

In the Act of 1854, the provisions of 25
which were kept in force for the benefit of 
the corporation, the section in question is 
the 49th. But that section is merely a 
reproduction of sect. 234 in the Act of 
1842. And it will be more convenient to 30
deal with the earlier Act.

The Act of 1842 scheduled certain 
lands which the company were 
empowered to take. Among them was part 
of a farm belonging to one Seth Wright, 35
which was known as Trooper or Many 
Wells Farm. By sect. 233 the company 
were authorized*602 to divert or alter the 
course of a certain beck called Hewenden 
Beck, which is a tributary of the River 40
Aire, “and also to divert and take the 
water from” the Many Wells Springs, 
described as“the springs and streams of 
water called Many Wells, arising or 
flowing in and through … Trooper or 45
Many Wells Farm.”

At the date of the passing of the Act, 
the waters issuing from the Many Wells 
Springs in Trooper Farm, and a stream 
which rose in the adjoining land, flowed 50

in several defined channels through 
Trooper Farm into Hewenden Beck, 
which forms one of the boundaries of the 
farm. The scheduled portion of the farm 
comprised apparently some but not all of 55
those channels. However, after the Act 
was passed, the company purchased the 
whole of Trooper Farm; and, as required 
by the Act, they made compensation to 
the millowners on Hewenden Beck for the 60
loss of the waters of the Many Wells 
Springs.

Sect. 234 is a protective clause 
corresponding in the main with sect. 14 in 
the Waterworks Clauses Act 1847. It was 65
to come into operation after the purchase 
of the Many Wells Springs.

According to the ordinary course of 
legislation in this country, a clause of that 
sort is intended to protect property, rights, 70
and interests which have been acquired by 
purchase, not to transfer arbitrarily from 
one person to another property and rights 
for which nothing has been paid, and for 
which no compensation is provided.75

In the first place, the section says that, 
“After the Many Wells Springs have been 
purchased by the company, it shall not be 
lawful for any person other than the said
company to divert, alter, or appropriate in 80
any other manner than by law they may 
be legally entitled any of the waters now 
supplying or flowing from the same.” 
Both as regards the underground sources 
of the springs and as regards the streams 85
flowing from them in their natural course 
it forbids any act by any person in excess 
of his legal rights. At that time it must be 
remembered that the rights of landowners 
in regard to underground water had not 90
been finally determined. If the view which 
commended itself to the Court of 
Exchequer in Dickinson v. Grand 
Junction Canal Company 16 had been 
established, the proposed action 95
of*603 Mr. Pickles would, no doubt, have 
been illegal. As it is, there is nothing in 
the first part of the prohibition to restrict 
or curtail his rights as a landowner in 
dealing with underground water 100
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percolating through his land in unknown 
channels.

In the second place, the section 
declares that no person but the company is 
“to sink any well or pit, or do any act, 5
matter, or thing whereby the waters of the 
said springs may be drawn off or 
diminished in quantity.” What is the 
meaning of the expression, “The waters of 
the said springs”? The natural and 10
obvious meaning seems to me to be the 
waters issuing from the springs, such as 
they happen to be in quantity and volume, 
at the point of issue, or in one case at the 
point of entry, into Trooper Farm. The 15
expression cannot include the 
underground sources which serve to feed 
the springs. Otherwise you would have 
this singular result, that things which by 
reason of the saving of existing rights are 20
treated as legal and permissible in one 
part of the clause are treated as illegal and 
prohibited by another. It must mean the 
water which the company were authorized 
to “divert and take from” those springs 25
which the section at its commencement 
assumes the company to have purchased -
not the waters which supply the springs,
but the waters which the springs supply. 
A comparison of other sections in the Act 30
will confirm this view if any confirmation 
is required. The expression, “The waters 
of the said ‘Many Wells'” occurs in sect. 
275, and then it is evidently synonymous 
with the following words in a parallel 35
passage in sect. 238:

“The water issuing from the springs of 
water before mentioned called ‘Many 
Wells,' and which is hereby authorized to 
be taken and diverted for the purposes of 40
this Act.”

After the company had compensated 
the mill-owners on Hewenden Beck and 
purchased Trooper Farm, the waters of the 
Many Wells Springs at and from the point 45
of issue in Trooper Farm, and the water of 
the stream which rose in the adjoining 
land at and from the point of its entry into 
Trooper Farm, became the absolute 
property of the company, and it was the 50

duty of the company to carry those waters 
to Bradford. No one was to interfere with 
them. Any such interference is 
characterised, in a later part of the section, 
as an illegal act.*604 And, indeed, it 55
seems to me very difficult to conceive 
how such an act could in any case be 
legal, unless the company constructed 
their works in a perverse and foolish 
manner. No one from whom the company 60
acquired land or even an easement for the 
purposes of their works could lawfully let 
down those works. No one else, it may be 
assumed, would be in a position to do so. 
No one could lawfully tap their aqueducts 65
or conduits.

I am of opinion that the act which Mr. 
Pickles proposes to do is not within either 
of the two classes of prohibited acts 
mentioned in sect. 234. It is not within the 70
first class, because at the time of the 
passing of the Act his predecessor was 
legally entitled, and he is now legally 
entitled, to do the thing which is 
complained of. It is not within the second 75
class, because Mr. Pickles does not 
propose to do anything which can have 
the effect of drawing off or diminishing in 
quantity the waters of the Many Wells 
Springs, such as they may be at the point 80
of issue in Trooper Farm, or as regards the 
stream which does not rise in Trooper 
Farm at the point of its entry into that 
farm.

It was argued somewhat faintly that 85
sect. 49 of the Act of 1854 must have a 
wider meaning than that which I think 
ought to be attributed to sect. 234 of the 
Act of 1842, because the Act of 1854 
incorporates the Waterworks Clauses Act 90
of 1847, and sect. 14 of that Act covers, it 
is said, everything which is covered by 
sect. 234 of the Act of 1842 if it be 
construed as it seems to me it ought to be 
construed. There would be very little in 95
such an argument under any 
circumstances, because it is only natural 
that the promoters of the legislation of 
1854 would, on the reconstruction of the 
company, desire to retain or re-enact 100
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every clause in the former Act which 
could make for their protection. But the 
truth is, that the section of the 
Waterworks Clauses Act of 1847, which 
corresponds with sect. 49 of the Act of 5
1854, does not apply to the Many Wells 
Springs. They were purchased under the 
Act of 1842. The Act of 1854, which
incorporates the Waterworks Clauses Act 
1847, declares that in construing that Act 10
the expression “the special Act” shall 
mean the Act of 1854. It does not mean or 
include the Act of 1842.

*605
I am, therefore, of opinion that this 15

appeal should be dismissed with costs.
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3. 11 Mod. 74, 131; 11 East, 574, n.
4. 12 M. & W. 324.
5. 7 H. L. C. 349, 387.
6. 7 C. B. 515, 559.
7. 23 Q. B. D. 598, 618. 
8. 7 H. L. C. 349.
9. 7 H. L. C. 349.
10. 7 H. L. C. 349 .
11. 7 H. L. C. 349.
12. 7 H. L. C. 349 .
13. 7 H. L. C. at p. 388. 
14. 7 H. L. C. 349.
15. 7 H. L. C. 349.
16. 7 Ex, 282.
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Carlill v Carbolic Smoke Ball Company [1893] 1 QB 256

In the Court of Appeal.
7 December 1892
Lindley , Bowen and A L Smith , LJJ.

Contract—Offer by Advertisement—5
Performance of Condition in 
Advertisement—Notification of 
Acceptance of Offer—Wager—
Insurance— 8 & 9 Vict. c. 109 — 14 Geo. 
3, c. 48, s. 2 .10

The defendants, the proprietors of a 
medical preparation called “The Carbolic 
Smoke Ball,” issued an advertisement in 
which they offered to pay 100l. to any 15
person who contracted the influenza after 
having used one of their smoke balls in a 
specified manner and for a specified 
period. The plaintiff on the faith of the 
advertisement bought one of the balls, and 20
used it in the manner and for the period 
specified, but nevertheless contracted the 
influenza:—

Held, affirming the decision of 
Hawkins, J., that the above facts 25
established a contract by the defendants to 
pay the plaintiff 100l. in the event which 
had happened; that such contract was 
neither a contract by way of wagering 
within 8 & 9 Vict. c. 109 , nor a policy 30
within 14 Geo. 3, c. 48, s. 2 ; and that the 
plaintiff was entitled to recover.

APPEAL from a decision of Hawkins, 
J. 1

The defendants, who were the 35
proprietors and vendors of a medical 
preparation called “The Carbolic Smoke 
Ball,” inserted in thePall Mall Gazette of 
November 13, 1891, and in 
other *257 newspapers, the following 40
advertisement:

“100l. reward will be paid by the 
Carbolic Smoke Ball Company to any 
person who contracts the increasing 
epidemic influenza, colds, or any disease 45
caused by taking cold, after having used 
the ball three times daily for two weeks 

according to the printed directions 
supplied with each ball. 1000l. is 
deposited with the Alliance Bank, Regent 50
Street, shewing our sincerity in the matter.

“During the last epidemic of influenza 
many thousand carbolic smoke balls were 
sold as preventives against this disease, 
and in no ascertained case was the disease 55
contracted by those using the carbolic 
smoke ball.

“One carbolic smoke ball will last a 
family several months, making it the 
cheapest remedy in the world at the price, 60
10s., post free. The ball can be refilled at 
a cost of 5s. Address, Carbolic Smoke 
Ball Company, 27, Princes Street, 
Hanover Square, London.”

The plaintiff, a lady, on the faith of this 65
advertisement, bought one of the balls at a 
chemist's, and used it as directed, three 
times a day, from November 20, 1891, to 
January 17, 1892, when she was attacked 
by influenza. Hawkins, J., held that she 70
was entitled to recover the 100l. The 
defendants appealed.

Finlay, Q.C., and T. Terrell , for the 
defendants. The facts shew that there was 75
no binding contract between the parties. 
The case is not like Williams v. 
Carwardine 2 , where the money was to 
become payable on the performance of 
certain acts by the plaintiff; here the 80
plaintiff could not by any act of her own 
establish a claim, for, to establish her right 
to the money, it was necessary that she 
should be attacked by influenza - an event 
over which she had no control. The words 85
express an intention, but do not amount to 
a promise: Week v. Tibold . 3 The present 
case is similar to Harris v. Nickerson . 4

The advertisement is too vague to be the 
basis of a contract; there is no limit as to 90
time, and no means of checking the use of 
the ball. Anyone who had influenza might 
come forward and depose that he had used 
the ball for a fortnight, and it would be 
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*258 impossible to disprove it. Guthing v. 
Lynn 5 supports the view that the terms 
are too vague to make a contract, there 
being no limit as to time, a person might 
claim who took the influenza ten years 5
after using the remedy. There is no 
consideration moving from the plaintiff: 
Gerhard v. Bates 6 . The present case 
differs from Denton v. Great Northern Ry. 
Co. 7 , for there an overt act was done by 10
the plaintiff on the faith of a statement by 
the defendants. In order to make a 
contract by fulfilment of a condition, there 
must either be a communication of 
intention to accept the offer, or there must 15
be the performance of some overt act. The 
mere doing an act in private will not be 
enough. This principle was laid down by 
Lord Blackburn in Brogden v. 
Metropolitan Ry. Co. 8 The terms of the 20
advertisement would enable a person who 
stole the balls to claim the reward, though 
his using them was no possible benefit to 
the defendants. At all events, the 
advertisement should be held to apply 25
only to persons who bought directly from 
the defendants. But, if there be a contract 
at all, it is a wagering contract, as being 
one where the liability depends on an 
event beyond the control of the parties, 30
and which is therefore void under 8 & 9 
Vict. c. 109 . Or, if not, it is bad under 14 
Geo. 3, c. 48, s. 2 , as being a policy of 
insurance on the happening of an 
uncertain event, and not conforming with 35
the provisions of that section.  

Dickens, Q.C., and W. B. Allen , for the 
plaintiff. [THE COURT intimated that 
they required no argument as to the 40
question whether the contract was a wager 
or a policy of insurance.] The 
advertisement clearly was an offer by the 
defendants; it was published that it might 
be read and acted on, and they cannot be 45
heard to say that it was an empty boast, 
which they were under no obligation to 
fulfil. The offer was duly accepted. An 
advertisement was addressed to all the 
public - as soon as a person does the act 50

mentioned, there is a contract with him. It 
is said that there must be a 
communication of the acceptance; but the 
language of Lord Blackburn, in Brogden 
v. Metropolitan Ry. Co. 9 , shews that 55
merely doing the acts indicated is an 
acceptance of the proposal. It never was 
intended *259 that a person proposing to 
use the smoke ball should go to the office 
and obtain a repetition of the statements in 60
the advertisement. The defendants are 
endeavouring to introduce words into the 
advertisement to the effect that the use of 
the preparation must be with their privity 
or under their superintendence. Where an65
offer is made to all the world, nothing can 
be imported beyond the fulfilment of the 
conditions. Notice before the event cannot 
be required; the advertisement is an offer 
made to any person who fulfils the 70
condition, as is explained in Spencer v. 
Hardin . 10 Williams v. Carwardine . 11

shews strongly that notice to the person 
making the offer is not necessary. The 
promise is to the person who does an act, 75
not to the person who says he is going to 
do it and then does it. As to notice after 
the event, it could have no effect, and the 
present case is within the language of 
Lord Blackburn in Brogden v. 80
Metropolitan Ry. Co. 12 It is urged that the
terms are too vague and uncertain to make 
a contract; but, as regards parties, there is 
no more uncertainty than in all other cases 
of this description. It is said, too, that the 85
promise might apply to a person who stole 
any one of the balls. But it is clear that 
only a person who lawfully acquired the 
preparation could claim the benefit of the 
advertisement. It is also urged that the 90
terms should be held to apply only to 
persons who bought directly from the 
defendants; but that is not the import of 
the words, and there is no reason for 
implying such a limitation, an increased 95
sale being a benefit to the defendants, 
though effected through a middleman, and 
the use of the balls must be presumed to 
serve as an advertisement and increase the 
sale. As to the want of restriction as to 100
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time, there are several possible 
constructions of the terms; they may mean 
that, after you have used it for a fortnight, 
you will be safe so long as you go on 
using it, or that you will be safe during the 5
prevalence of the epidemic. Or the true 
view may be that a fortnight's use will 
make a person safe for a reasonable time. 
Then as to the consideration. In Gerhard 
v. Bates 13 , Lord Campbell never meant 10
to say that if there was a direct invitation 
to take shares, and shares were taken on 
the faith of it, there was *260 no 
consideration. The decision went on the 
form of the declaration, which did not 15
state that the contract extended to future 
holders. The decision that there was no 
consideration was qualified by the words 
“as between these parties,” the plaintiff 
not having alleged himself to be a 20
member of the class to whom the promise 
was made.  

Finlay, Q.C., in reply. There is no binding 
contract. The money is payable on a 25
person's taking influenza after having 
used the ball for a fortnight, and the 
language would apply just as well to a 
person who had used it for a fortnight 
before the advertisement as to a person 30
who used it on the faith of the 
advertisement. The advertisement is 
merely an expression of intention to pay 
100l. to a person who fulfils two 
conditions; but it is not a request to do 35
anything, and there is no more 
consideration in using the ball than in 
contracting the influenza. That a contract 
should be completed by a private act is 
against the language of Lord Blackburn in 40
Brogden v. Metropolitan Ry. Co. 14 . The 
use of the ball at home stands on the same 
level as the writing a letter which is kept 
in the writer's drawer. In Denton v. Great 
Northern Ry. Co. 15 the fact was 45
ascertained by a public, not a secret act. 
The respondent relies on Williams v. 
Carwardine 16 , and the other cases of that 
class; but there a service was done to the 
advertiser. Here no service to the 50

defendants was requested, for it was no 
benefit to them that the balls should be 
used: their interest was only that they 
should be sold. Those cases also differ 
from the present in this important 55
particular, that in them the service was 
one which could only be performed by a 
limited number of persons, so there was 
no difficulty in ascertaining with whom 
the contract was made. It is said the 60
advertisement was not a legal contract, 
but a promise in honour, which, if the 
defendants had been approached in a 
proper way, they would have fulfilled. A 
request is as necessary in the case of an 65
executed consideration as of an executory
one: Lampleigh v. Braithwait 17 ; and here 
there was no request. Then as to the want 
of limitation as to time, it is conceded that 
the defendants cannot have meant to 70
contract without some *261 limit, and 
three limitations have been suggested. 
The limitation “during the prevalence of 
the epidemic” is inadmissible, for the 
advertisement applies to colds as well as 75
influenza. The limitation “during use” is 
excluded by the language “after having 
used.” The third is, “within a reasonable 
time,” and that is probably what was 
intended; but it cannot be deduced from 80
the words; so the fair result is that there 
was no legal contract at all.  

LINDLEY LJ
[The Lord Justice stated the facts, and 85
proceeded:—] I will begin by referring to 
two points which were raised in the Court 
below. I refer to them simply for the 
purpose of dismissing them. First, it is 
said no action will lie upon this contract 90
because it is a policy. You have only to 
look at the advertisement to dismiss that 
suggestion. Then it was said that it is a 
bet. Hawkins, J., came to the conclusion 
that nobody ever dreamt of a bet, and that 95
the transaction had nothing whatever in 
common with a bet. I so entirely agree 
with him that I pass over this contention 
also as not worth serious attention.
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Then, what is left? The first 
observation I will make is that we are not 
dealing with any inference of fact. We are 
dealing with an express promise to pay 
100l. in certain events. Read the 5
advertisement how you will, and twist it 
about as you will, here is a distinct 
promise expressed in language which is 
perfectly unmistakable —

“100l. reward will be paid by the 10
Carbolic Smoke Ball Company to any 
person who contracts the iufluenza after 
having used the ball three times daily for 
two weeks according to the printed 
directions supplied with each ball.”15

We must first consider whether this 
was intended to be a promise at all, or 
whether it was a mere puff which meant 
nothing. Was it a mere puff? My answer 
to that question is No, and I base my 20
answer upon this passage: “1000l. is 
deposited with the Alliance Bank, 
shewing our sincerity in the matter.” 
Now, for what was that money deposited 
or that statement made except to negative 25
the suggestion that this was a mere puff 
and meant nothing at all? The deposit is 
called in *262 aid by the advertiser as 
proof of his sincerity in the matter - that 
is, the sincerity of his promise to pay this 30
100l. in the event which he has specified. 
I say this for the purpose of giving point 
to the observation that we are not 
inferring a promise; there is the promise, 
as plain as words can make it.  35

Then it is contended that it is not 
binding. In the first place, it is said that it 
is not made with anybody in particular. 
Now that point is common to the words of 
this advertisement and to the words of all 40
other advertisements offering rewards. 
They are offers to anybody who performs 
the conditions named in the 
advertisement, and anybody who does 
perform the condition accepts the offer. In 45
point of law this advertisement is an offer 
to pay 100l. to anybody who will perform 
these conditions, and the performance of 
the conditions is the acceptance of the 
offer. That rests upon a string of 50

authorities, the earliest of which is 
Williams v. Carwardine 18 , which has 
been followed by many other decisions 
upon advertisements offering rewards.  
But then it is said, “Supposing that the 55
performance of the conditions is an 
acceptance of the offer, that acceptance 
ought to have been notified.” 
Unquestionably, as a general proposition, 
when an offer is made, it is necessary in 60
order to make a binding contract, not only 
that it should be accepted, but that the 
acceptance should be notified. But is that 
so in cases of this kind? I apprehend that 
they are an exception to that rule, or, if 65
not an exception, they are open to the 
observation that the notification of the 
acceptance need not precede the 
performance. This offer is a continuing 
offer. It was never revoked, and if notice 70
of acceptance is required - which I doubt 
very much, for I rather think the true view 
is that which was expressed and explained 
by Lord Blackburn in the case of Brogden 
v. Metropolitan Ry. Co. 19 - if notice of 75
acceptance is required, the person who 
makes the offer gets the notice of 
acceptance contemporaneously with his 
notice of the performance of the 
condition. If he gets notice of the 80
acceptance before his offer is revoked, 
that in principle is all you want. I, 
however, think that the true view, in a 
case of this kind, is that the person who 
makes the offer shews by his language 85
and from the nature of the transaction that 
he *263 does not expect and does not 
require notice of the acceptance apart 
from notice of the performance. 

We, therefore, find here all the 90
elements which are necessary to form a 
binding contract enforceable in point of 
law, subject to two observations. First of 
all it is said that this advertisement is so 
vague that you cannot really construe it as 95
a promise - that the vagueness of the 
language shews that a legal promise was 
never intended or contemplated. The 
language is vague and uncertain in some 
respects, and particularly in this, that the 100
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100l. is to be paid to any person who 
contracts the increasing epidemic after 
having used the balls three times daily for 
two weeks. It is said, When are they to be 
used? According to the language of the 5
advertisement no time is fixed, and, 
construing the offer most strongly against 
the person who has made it, one might 
infer that any time was meant. I do not 
think that was meant, and to hold the 10
contrary would be pushing too far the 
doctrine of taking language most strongly 
against the person using it. I do not think 
that business people or reasonable people 
would understand the words as meaning 15
that if you took a smoke ball and used it 
three times daily for two weeks you were 
to be guaranteed against influenza for the 
rest of your life, and I think it would be
pushing the language of the advertisement 20
too far to construe it as meaning that. But 
if it does not mean that, what does it 
mean? It is for the defendants to shew 
what it does mean; and it strikes me that 
there are two, and possibly three, 25
reasonable constructions to be put on this 
advertisement, any one of which will 
answer the purpose of the plaintiff. 
Possibly it may be limited to persons 
catching the “increasing epidemic” (that 30
is, the then prevailing epidemic), or any 
colds or diseases caused by taking cold, 
during the prevalence of the increasing 
epidemic. That is one suggestion; but it 
does not commend itself to me. Another 35
suggested meaning is that you are 
warranted free from catching this 
epidemic, or colds or other diseases 
caused by taking cold, whilst you are 
using this remedy after using it for two 40
weeks. If that is the meaning, the plaintiff 
is right, for she used the remedy for two 
weeks and went on using it till she got the 
epidemic. Another meaning, and the one 
which I rather prefer, is that the reward is 45
offered to *264 any person who contracts 
the epidemic or other disease within a 
reasonable time after having used the 
smoke ball. Then it is asked, What is a 
reasonable time? It has been suggested 50

that there is no standard of 
reasonableness; that it depends upon the 
reasonable time for a germ to develop! I 
do not feel pressed by that. It strikes me 
that a reasonable time may be ascertained 55
in a business sense and in a sense 
satisfactory to a lawyer, in this way; find 
out from a chemist what the ingredients 
are; find out from a skilled physician how 
long the effect of such ingredients on the 60
system could be reasonably expected to 
endure so as to protect a person from an 
epidemic or cold, and in that way you will 
get a standard to be laid before a jury, or a 
judge without a jury, by which they might 65
exercise their judgment as to what a 
reasonable time would be. It strikes me, I 
confess, that the true construction of this 
advertisement is that 100l. will be paid to 
anybody who uses this smoke ball three 70
times daily for two weeks according to the 
printed directions, and who gets the 
influenza or cold or other diseases caused 
by taking cold within a reasonable time 
after so using it; and if that is the true 75
construction, it is enough for the plaintiff.
I come now to the last point which I think 
requires attention - that is, the 
consideration. It has been argued that this 
is nudum pactum - that there is no 80
consideration. We must apply to that 
argument the usual legal tests. Let us see 
whether there is no advantage to the 
defendants. It is said that the use of the 
ball is no advantage to them, and that 85
what benefits them is the sale; and the 
case is put that a lot of these balls might 
be stolen, and that it would be no 
advantage to the defendants if the thief or 
other people used them. The answer to 90
that, I think, is as follows. It is quite 
obvious that in the view of the advertisers 
a use by the public of their remedy, if they 
can only get the public to have confidence 
enough to use it, will react and produce a 95
sale which is directly beneficial to them. 
Therefore, the advertisers get out of the 
use an advantage which is enough to 
constitute a consideration. 
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But there is another view. Does not the 
person who acts upon this advertisement 
and accepts the offer put himself to some 
inconvenience at the request of the 
defendants? Is it nothing *265 to use this 5
ball three times daily for two weeks 
according to the directions at the request 
of the advertiser? Is that to go for 
nothing? It appears to me that there is a 
distinct inconvenience, not to say a 10
detriment, to any person who so uses the 
smoke ball. I am of opinion, therefore, 
that there is ample consideration for the 
promise.  

We were pressed upon this point with 15
the case of Gerhard v. Bates 20 , which 
was the case of a promoter of companies 
who had promised the bearers of share 
warrants that they should have dividends 
for so many years, and the promise as 20
alleged was held not to shew any 
consideration. Lord Campbell's judgment 
when you come to examine it is open to 
the explanation, that the real point in that 
case was that the promise, if any, was to 25
the original bearer and not to the plaintiff, 
and that as the plaintiff was not suing in 
the name of the original bearer there was 
no contract with him. Then Lord 
Campbell goes on to enforce that view by 30
shewing that there was no consideration 
shewn for the promise to him. I cannot 
help thinking that Lord Campbell's 
observations would have been very 
different if the plaintiff in that action had 35
been an original bearer, or if the 
declaration had gone on to shew what a 
société anonyme was, and had alleged the 
promise to have been, not only to the first 
bearer, but to anybody who should 40
become the bearer. There was no such 
allegation, and the Court said, in the 
absence of such allegation, they did not 
know (judicially, of course) what a société 
anonyme was, and, therefore, there was 45
no consideration. But in the present case, 
for the reasons I have given, I cannot see 
the slightest difficulty in coming to the 
conclusion that there is consideration.  

It appears to me, therefore, that the 50
defendants must perform their promise, 
and, if they have been so unwary as to 
expose themselves to a great many 
actions, so much the worse for them. 

55
BOWEN LJ
I am of the same opinion. We were asked 
to say that this document was a contract 
too vague to be enforced.

The first observation which arises is 60
that the document itself is not a contract at 
all, it is only an offer made to the 
public. *266The defendants contend next, 
that it is an offer the terms of which are 
too vague to be treated as a definite offer, 65
inasmuch as there is no limit of time fixed 
for the catching of the influenza, and it 
cannot be supposed that the advertisers 
seriously meant to promise to pay money 
to every person who catches the influenza 70
at any time after the inhaling of the smoke 
ball. It was urged also, that if you look at 
this document you will find much 
vagueness as to the persons with whom 
the contract was intended to be made -75
that, in the first place, its terms are wide 
enough to include persons who may have 
used the smoke ball before the 
advertisement was issued; at all events, 
that it is an offer to the world in general, 80
and, also, that it is unreasonable to 
suppose it to be a definite offer, because 
nobody in their senses would contract 
themselves out of the opportunity of 
checking the experiment which was going 85
to be made at their own expense. It is also 
contended that the advertisement is rather 
in the nature of a puff or a proclamation 
than a promise or offer intended to mature 
into a contract when accepted. But the 90
main point seems to be that the vagueness 
of the document shews that no contract 
whatever was intended. It seems to me 
that in order to arrive at a right conclusion 
we must read this advertisement in its 95
plain meaning, as the public would 
understand it. It was intended to be issued 
to the public and to be read by the public. 
How would an ordinary person reading 
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this document construe it? It was intended 
unquestionably to have some effect, and I 
think the effect which it was intended to 
have, was to make people use the smoke 
ball, because the suggestions and 5
allegations which it contains are directed 
immediately to the use of the smoke ball 
as distinct from the purchase of it. It did 
not follow that the smoke ball was to be 
purchased from the defendants directly, or 10
even from agents of theirs directly. The 
intention was that the circulation of the 
smoke ball should be promoted, and that 
the use of it should be increased. The 
advertisement begins by saying that a 15
reward will be paid by the Carbolic 
Smoke Ball Company to any person who 
contracts the increasing epidemic after 
using the ball. It has been said that the 
words do not apply only to persons who 20
contract the epidemic after the publication 
of the advertisement, but include persons 
who had pre- *267 viously contracted the 
influenza. I cannot so read the 
advertisement. It is written in colloquial 25
and popular language, and I think that it is 
equivalent to this: “100l. will be paid to 
any person who shall contract the 
increasing epidemic after having used the 
carbolic smoke ball three times daily for 30
two weeks.” And it seems to me that the 
way in which the public would read it 
would be this, that if anybody, after the 
advertisement was published, used three 
times daily for two weeks the carbolic 35
smoke ball, and then caught cold, he 
would be entitled to the reward. Then 
again it was said: “How long is this 
protection to endure? Is it to go on for 
ever, or for what limit of time?” I think 40
that there are two constructions of this 
document, each of which is good sense, 
and each of which seems to me to satisfy 
the exigencies of the present action. It 
may mean that the protection is warranted 45
to last during the epidemic, and it was 
during the epidemic that the plaintiff 
contracted the disease. I think, more 
probably, it means that the smoke ball 
will be a protection while it is in use. That 50

seems to me the way in which an ordinary 
person would understand an 
advertisement about medicine, and about 
a specific against influenza. It could not 
be supposed that after you have left off 55
using it you are still to be protected for 
ever, as if there was to be a stamp set 
upon your forehead that you were never to 
catch influenza because you had once 
used the carbolic smoke ball. I think the 60
immunity is to last during the use of the 
ball. That is the way in which I should 
naturally read it, and it seems to me that 
the subsequent language of the 
advertisement supports that construction. 65
It says: “During the last epidemic of 
influenza many thousand carbolic smoke 
balls were sold, and in no ascertained case 
was the disease contracted by those 
using” (not “who had used”) “the carbolic 70
smoke ball,” and it concludes with saying 
that one smoke ball will last a family 
several months (which imports that it is to 
be efficacious while it is being used), and 
that the ball can be refilled at a cost of 5s. 75
I, therefore, have myself no hesitation in 
saying that I think, on the construction of 
this advertisement, the protection was to 
enure during the time that the carbolic 
smoke ball was being used. My brother, 80
the Lord Justice who preceded me, thinks 
that the contract would 
be *268 sufficiently definite if you were 
to read it in the sense that the protection 
was to be warranted during a reasonable 85
period after use. I have some difficulty 
myself on that point; but it is not 
necessary for me to consider it further,
because the disease here was contracted 
during the use of the carbolic smoke ball.90

Was it intended that the 100l. should, if 
the conditions were fulfilled, be paid? The 
advertisement says that 1000l. is lodged at 
the bank for the purpose. Therefore, it 
cannot be said that the statement that 95
100l. would be paid was intended to be a 
mere puff. I think it was intended to be 
understood by the public as an offer 
which was to be acted upon.
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But it was said there was no check on 
the part of the persons who issued the 
advertisement, and that it would be an 
insensate thing to promise 100l. to a 
person who used the smoke ball unless 5
you could check or superintend his 
manner of using it. The answer to that 
argument seems to me to be that if a 
person chooses to make extravagant 
promises of this kind he probably does so 10
because it pays him to make them, and, if 
he has made them, the extravagance of the 
promises is no reason in law why he 
should not be bound by them.

It was also said that the contract is 15
made with all the world - that is, with 
everybody; and that you cannot contract 
with everybody. It is not a contract made 
with all the world. There is the fallacy of 
the argument. It is an offer made to all the 20
world; and why should not an offer be 
made to all the world which is to ripen 
into a contract with anybody who comes 
forward and performs the condition? It is 
an offer to become liable to any one who, 25
before it is retracted, performs the 
condition, and, although the offer is made 
to the world, the contract is made with 
that limited portion of the public who 
come forward and perform the condition 30
on the faith of the advertisement. It is not 
like cases in which you offer to negotiate, 
or you issue advertisements that you have 
got a stock of books to sell, or houses to 
let, in which case there is no offer to be 35
bound by any contract. Such 
advertisements are offers to negotiate -
offers to receive offers - offers to chaffer, 
as, I think, some learned judge in one of 
the cases has said. If this is an offer to be 40
bound, then it is a contract the moment 
the person fulfils the condition. *269 That 
seems to me to be sense, and it is also the 
ground on which all these advertisement 
cases have been decided during the 45
century; and it cannot be put better than in 
Willes, J.'s, judgment in Spencer v. 
Harding . 21 “In the advertisement cases,” 
he says, “there never was any doubt that 
the advertisement amounted to a promise 50

to pay the money to the person who first 
gave information. The difficulty 
suggested was that it was a contract with 
all the world. But that, of course, was 
soon overruled. It was an offer to become 55
liable to any person who before the offer 
should be retracted should happen to be 
the person to fulfil the contract, of which 
the advertisement was an offer or tender. 
That is not the sort of difficulty which 60
presents itself here. If the circular had 
gone on, ‘and we undertake to sell to the 
highest bidder,’ the reward cases would 
have applied, and there would have been a 
good contract in respect of the persons.” 65
As soon as the highest bidder presented 
himself, says Willes, J., the person who 
was to hold the vinculum juris on the 
other side of the contract was ascertained, 
and it became settled. 70

Then it was said that there was no 
notification of the acceptance of the 
contract. One cannot doubt that, as an 
ordinary rule of law, an acceptance of an 
offer made ought to be notified to the 75
person who makes the offer, in order that 
the two minds may come together. Unless 
this is done the two minds may be apart, 
and there is not that consensus which is 
necessary according to the English law - I80
say nothing about the laws of other 
countries - to make a contract. But there is 
this clear gloss to be made upon that 
doctrine, that as notification of acceptance 
is required for the benefit of the person 85
who makes the offer, the person who 
makes the offer may dispense with notice 
to himself if he thinks it desirable to do 
so, and I suppose there can be no doubt 
that where a person in an offer made by 90
him to another person, expressly or 
impliedly intimates a particular mode of 
acceptance as sufficient to make the 
bargain binding, it is only necessary for 
the other person to whom such offer is 95
made to follow the indicated method of 
acceptance; and if the person making the 
offer, expressly or impliedly intimates in 
his offer that it will be sufficient to act on 
the proposal without 100
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communicating *270 acceptance of it to 
himself, performance of the condition is a 
sufficient acceptance without notification.

That seems to me to be the principle 
which lies at the bottom of the acceptance 5
cases, of which two instances are the 
well-known judgment of Mellish, L.J., in 
Harris's Case 22 , and the very instructive 
judgment of Lord Blackburn in Brogden 
v. Metropolitan Ry. Co. 23 , in which he 10
appears to me to take exactly the line I 
have indicated. 

Now, if that is the law, how are we to 
find out whether the person who makes 
the offer does intimate that notification of 15
acceptance will not be necessary in order 
to constitute a binding bargain? In many 
cases you look to the offer itself. In many 
cases you extract from the character of the 
transaction that notification is not 20
required, and in the advertisement cases it 
seems to me to follow as an inference to 
be drawn from the transaction itself that a 
person is not to notify his acceptance of 
the offer before he performs the condition, 25
but that if he performs the condition 
notification is dispensed with. It seems to 
me that from the point of view of 
common sense no other idea could be 
entertained. If I advertise to the world that 30
my dog is lost, and that anybody who 
brings the dog to a particular place will be 
paid some money, are all the police or 
other persons whose business it is to find 
lost dogs to be expected to sit down and 35
write me a note saying that they have 
accepted my proposal? Why, of course, 
they at once look after the dog, and as 
soon as they find the dog they have 
performed the condition. The essence of 40
the transaction is that the dog should be 
found, and it is not necessary under such 
circumstances, as it seems to me, that in 
order to make the contract binding there 
should be any notification of acceptance. 45
It follows from the nature of the thing that 
the performance of the condition is 
sufficient acceptance without the 
notification of it, and a person who makes 
an offer in an advertisement of that kind 50

makes an offer which must be read by the 
light of that common sense reflection. He 
does, therefore, in his offer impliedly 
indicate that he does not require 
notification of the acceptance of the offer.55

A further argument for the defendants 
was that this was a *271 nudum pactum -
that there was no consideration for the 
promise - that taking the influenza was 
only a condition, and that the using the 60
smoke ball was only a condition, and that 
there was no consideration at all; in fact, 
that there was no request, express or 
implied, to use the smoke ball. Now, I 
will not enter into an elaborate discussion 65
upon the law as to requests in this kind of 
contracts. I will simply refer to Victors v. 
Davies 24 and Serjeant Manning's note to 
Fisher v. Pyne 25 , which everybody ought 
to read who wishes to embark in this 70
controversy. The short answer, to abstain 
from academical discussion, is, it seems 
to me, that there is here a request to use 
involved in the offer. Then as to the 
alleged want of consideration. The 75
definition of “consideration” given in 
Selwyn's Nisi Prius, 8th ed. p. 47, which 
is cited and adopted by Tindal, C.J., in the 
case of Laythoarp v. Bryant 26 , is this: 
“Any act of the plaintiff from which the 80
defendant derives a benefit or advantage, 
or any labour, detriment, or inconvenience 
sustained by the plaintiff, provided such 
act is performed or such inconvenience 
suffered by the plaintiff, with the consent, 85
either express or implied, of the 
defendant.” Can it be said here that if the 
person who reads this advertisement 
applies thrice daily, for such time as may 
seem to him tolerable, the carbolic smoke 90
ball to his nostrils for a whole fortnight, 
he is doing nothing at all - that it is a mere 
act which is not to count towards 
consideration to support a promise (for 
the law does not require us to measure the 95
adequacy of the consideration). 
Inconvenience sustained by one party at 
the request of the other is enough to create 
a consideration. I think, therefore, that it 
is consideration enough that the plaintiff 100
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took the trouble of using the smoke ball. 
But I think also that the defendants 
received a benefit from this user, for the 
use of the smoke ball was contemplated 
by the defendants as being indirectly a 5
benefit to them, because the use of the 
smoke balls would promote their sale.

Then we were pressed with Gerhard v. 
Bates . 27 In Gerhard v. Bates 28 , which 
arose upon demurrer, the point upon 10
which the action failed was that the 
plaintiff did not allege that the *272
promise was made to the class of which 
alone the plaintiff was a member, and that 
therefore there was no privity between the 15
plaintiffs and the defendant. Then Lord 
Campbell went on to give a second 
reason. If his first reason was not enough, 
and the plaintiff and the defendant there 
had come together as contracting parties 20
and the only question was consideration, 
it seems to me Lord Campbell's reasoning 
would not have been sound. It is only to 
be supported by reading it as an additional 
reason for thinking that they had not come 25
into the relation of contracting parties; 
but, if so, the language was superfluous. 
The truth is, that if in that case you had 
found a contract between the parties there 
would have been no difficulty about 30
consideration; but you could not find such 
a contract. Here, in the same way, if you 
once make up your mind that there was a 
promise made to this lady who is the 
plaintiff, as one of the public - a promise 35
made to her that if she used the smoke 
ball three times daily for a fortnight and 
got the influenza, she should have 100l., it 
seems to me that her using the smoke ball 
was sufficient consideration. I cannot 40
picture to myself the view of the law on 
which the contrary could be held when 
you have once found who are the 
contracting parties. If I say to a person, “If 
you use such and such a medicine for a 45
week I will give you 5l.,” and he uses it, 
there is ample consideration for the 
promise. 

50

A L SMITH LJ
The first point in this case is, whether the 
defendants' advertisement which appeared 
in the Pall Mall Gazette was an offer 
which, when accepted and its conditions 55
performed, constituted a promise to pay, 
assuming there was good consideration to 
uphold that promise, or whether it was 
only a puff from which no promise could 
be implied, or, as put by Mr. Finlay, a 60
mere statement by the defendants of the 
confidence they entertained in the efficacy 
of their remedy. Or as I might put it in the 
words of Lord Campbell in Denton v. 
Great Northern Ry. Co. 29 , whether this 65
advertisement was mere waste paper. That 
is the first matter to be determined. It 
seems to me that this advertisement reads 
as follows: “100l. reward will be paid 
*273 by the Carbolic Smoke Ball 70
Company to any person who after having 
used the ball three times daily for two 
weeks according to the printed directions 
supplied with such ball contracts the 
increasing epidemic influenza, colds, or 75
any diseases caused by taking cold. The 
ball will last a family several months, and 
can be refilled at a cost of 5s.” If I may 
paraphrase it, it means this: “If you” - that 
is one of the public as yet not ascertained, 80
but who, as Lindley and Bowen, L.JJ., 
have pointed out, will be ascertained by 
the performing the condition — “will 
hereafter use my smoke ball three times 
daily for two weeks according to my 85
printed directions, I will pay you 100l. if 
you contract the influenza within the 
period mentioned in the advertisement.” 
Now, is there not a request there? It 
comes to this: “In consideration of your 90
buying my smoke ball, and then using it 
as I prescribe, I promise that if you catch 
the influenza within a certain time I will 
pay you 100l.” It must not be forgotten 
that this advertisement states that as 95
security for what is being offered, and as 
proof of the sincerity of the offer, 1000l. 
is actually lodged at the bank wherewith 
to satisfy any possible demands which 
might be made in the event of the 100

31



conditions contained therein being 
fulfilled and a person catching the 
epidemic so as to entitle him to the 100l. 
How can it be said that such a statement 
as that embodied only a mere expression 5
of confidence in the wares which the 
defendants had to sell? I cannot read the 
advertisement in any such way. In my 
judgment, the advertisement was an offer 
intended to be acted upon, and when 10
accepted and the conditions performed 
constituted a binding promise on which an 
action would lie, assuming there was 
consideration for that promise. The 
defendants have contended that it was a 15
promise in honour or an agreement or a 
contract in honour - whatever that may 
mean. I understand that if there is no 
consideration for a promise, it may be a 
promise in honour, or, as we should call 20
it, a promise without consideration and 
nudum pactum; but if anything else is 
meant, I do not understand it. I do not 
understand what a bargain or a promise or 
an agreement in honour is unless it is one 25
on which an action cannot be brought 
because it is nudum pactum, and about 
nudum pactum I will say a word in a 
moment.  
*27430

In my judgment, therefore, this first 
point fails, and this was an offer intended 
to be acted upon, and, when acted upon 
and the conditions performed, constituted 
a promise to pay. 35

In the next place, it was said that the 
promise was too wide, because there is no 
limit of time within which the person has 
to catch the epidemic. There are three 
possible limits of time to this contract. 40
The first is, catching the epidemic during 
its continuance; the second is, catching 
the influenza during the time you are 
using the ball; the third is, catching the 
influenza within a reasonable time after 45
the expiration of the two weeks during 
which you have used the ball three times 
daily. It is not necessary to say which is 
the correct construction of this contract, 
for no question arises thereon. Whichever 50

is the true construction, there is sufficient 
limit of time so as not to make the 
contract too vague on that account.

Then it was argued, that if the 
advertisement constituted an offer which 55
might culminate in a contract if it was 
accepted, and its conditions performed, 
yet it was not accepted by the plaintiff in 
the manner contemplated, and that the 
offer contemplated was such that notice of 60
the acceptance had to be given by the 
party using the carbolic ball to the 
defendants before user, so that the 
defendants might be at liberty to 
superintend the experiment. All I can say 65
is, that there is no such clause in the 
advertisement, and that, in my judgment, 
no such clause can be read into it; and I 
entirely agree with what has fallen from 
my Brothers, that this is one of those 70
cases in which a performance of the 
condition by using these smoke balls for 
two weeks three times a day is an 
acceptance of the offer. 

It was then said there was no person 75
named in the advertisement with whom 
any contract was made. That, I suppose, 
has taken place in every case in which 
actions on advertisements have been 
maintained, from the time of Williams v. 80
Carwardine 30 , and before that, down to 
the present day. I have nothing to add to 
what has been said on that subject, except 
that a person becomes a persona designata 
and able to sue, when he performs the 85
conditions mentioned in the 
advertisement.  

Lastly, it was said that there was no 
consideration, and that *275 it was nudum 
pactum. There are two considerations 90
here. One is the consideration of the 
inconvenience of having to use this 
carbolic smoke ball for two weeks three 
times a day; and the other more important 
consideration is the money gain likely to 95
accrue to the defendants by the enhanced 
sale of the smoke balls, by reason of the 
plaintiff's user of them. There is ample 
consideration to support this promise. I 
have only to add that as regards the policy 100
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and the wagering points, in my judgment, 
there is nothing in either of them.  
Representation
Solicitors: J. Banks Pittman ; Field & 
Roscoe .5
Appeal dismissed. (H. C. J. )
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Cecil Bros. Pty. Ltd. v Federal Commissioner of Taxation 

(1964) 111 CLR 430 (HCA) 

[Judgments of Dixon CJ, Kitto, Taylor and Windeyer JJ omitted] 

Menzies  J. 

Here we are concerned, not with the usual 
application of s. 260 of the Income Tax and 
Social Services Contribution Assessment Act 5
(Cth) to increase a taxpayer's assessable income 
by bringing into that income what the 
arrangement, unless avoided, would exclude, 
but to increase a taxpaying company's taxable 
income by denying to it an outgoing from 10
assessable income to which it is entitled unless 
the tax-avoiding arrangement is avoided. In the 
course of the judgment under appeal, Owen J. 
said: "Section 260 is being called in aid to 
reduce the amount of the taxpayer's outgoings 15
and thus increase its taxable income, but I can 
see no reason why it should not be invoked for 
that purpose"1. With this general statement I 
agree-vide Jaques v. Federal Commissioner of 
Taxation.2 The point of this case, however, as it 20
seems to me, is whether the application of s. 
260 does show that in truth the taxpayer's actual 
outgoings were smaller than any arrangement 
which was avoided had made them to appear. 

25
The appellant company is a retailer of 

boots and shoes, so that what it pays for its 
stock is an outgoing which s. 51 makes an 
allowable deduction. Normally, in the sort of 
business carried on by the taxpayer company, 30
the retailer buys at the best price available, but 
the taxpayer here chose not to do so. It 
preferred to buy some of its stock from Breckler 
Pty. Ltd. interposed between it and its usual 
suppliers at prices higher than those that would 35
have been charged to it by those suppliers. The 
shareholders in Breckler Pty. Ltd. were the 
children, grandchildren and other relatives of 
the shareholders in the taxpayer company and 
what happened was that Breckler Pty. Ltd. 40
made profits by buying the taxpayer company's 
requirements as ordered at the prices the 
taxpayer *440 would itself have had to pay the 
suppliers and reselling what it bought to the 
taxpayer company at higher prices. When I say 45

1 (1962) 111 C.L.R., at p. 436. 
2 (1924) 34 C.L.R. 328. 

that Breckler Pty. Ltd. was "interposed" in this 
way, I am not suggesting that it was formed to 
be the intermediary between the taxpayer 
company and its suppliers. In fact, it was 
formed before the taxpayer company and at a 50
time when that company's business was carried 
on by a partnership for which it had bought and 
to which it had sold in the same fashion. I use 
the term, however, to emphasize that it was at 
all material times open to the taxpayer company 55
to buy directly from its usual suppliers at lower 
prices or to order its requirements from 
Breckler Pty. Ltd. at higher prices so that the 
latter could make profits. When it bought from 
Breckler Pty. Ltd., therefore, it chose to pay 60
more than was necessary for the purpose of 
allowing that company to make a profit. 

The Commissioner applied s. 260 of the 
Act in the assessment of the taxpayer's taxable 65
income and tax for the year ended 30th June 
1960, disallowing £19,777 of its deductions and 
increasing its taxable income to £72,148. The 
£19,777 disallowed was the difference between 
what the taxpayer company paid Breckler Pty. 70
Ltd. for boots and shoes and what Breckler Pty. 
Ltd. paid for those boots and shoes. From that 
assessment the taxpayer company appealed to 
this Court and Owen J. dismissed its appeal and 
confirmed the assessment. The appeal to the 75
Full Court from that decision was upon the 
grounds that the learned trial judge was wrong 
in holding (a) that the appellant was party to an 
arrangement within the meaning of s. 260 of the 
above Act and (b) that the application of the 80
said s. 260 to that arrangement justified the 
assessment. 

I propose to decide this appeal upon the 
second ground of appeal for, assuming without 85
deciding that the arrangement which did exist 
between the taxpayer and Breckler Pty. Ltd. fell 
within s. 260, I have come to the conclusion 
that application of the section in the 
circumstances stated does not show that the 90
taxpayer company's real outgoings for stock 
were £19,777 less than it had paid to its 
suppliers, including Breckler Pty. Ltd. The 

34



application of s. 260 here could not be regarded 
as invalidating the contracts between Breckler 
Pty. Ltd. and the taxpayer or as substituting the 
taxpayer for Breckler Pty. Ltd. in the contracts 
which that company made with the suppliers. 5
The contracts, as made, stand, as his Honour 
recognized. His critical findings were expressed 
as follows: "What he" (i.e. the Commissioner) 
"has done is to treat as having no legal efficacy 
so much of the arrangement between the two 10
companies as required the taxpayer to pay 
Breckler Pty. Ltd. amounts in excess of the 
price which it would have paid if it *441 had 
made the purchases direct from the 
manufacturer or wholesaler and to regard those 15
excess payments as though they had not been 
made. In my opinion he was entitled to do so in 
the circumstances of this case. The effect of the 
transactions was to relieve the taxpayer from a 
liability to tax which it would otherwise have 20
incurred and the Commissioner was entitled to 
proceed upon the footing that the steps taken to 
produce this result had not been taken".3 This 
means that s. 260 has been regarded as a 
warrant for disregarding part of the price 25
actually paid for goods pursuant to contracts, 
the validity of which remains unaffected. I do 
not think that section authorizes the 
Commissioner to substitute a different price for 
that actually paid in accordance with those 30
contracts. Indeed, s. 260 does not authorize the 
Commissioner to do anything; it avoids as 
against the Commissioner arrangements, etc. as 
specified and so leaves him to assess taxable 
income and tax on the facts as they appear 35
when the avoided arrangements, etc. are 
disregarded. Here, it is not revealed that the 
taxpayer company's real outgoings for its 
supplies were £19,777 less than the price it paid 
or that the additional £19,777 was not paid or 40
was a gift to Breckler Pty. Ltd. To arrive at any 
such conclusion would, I think, be an 
unauthorized reconstruction of what occurred 
and, moreover, would not be in accordance with 
the true facts. All that does appear is that the 45
taxpayer company could have bought its 
requirements for £19,777 less than it did, but 
the disregard of what his Honour regarded as 
the tax-avoiding arrangement does not seem to 
me to warrant reducing whatever deduction is 50
permitted by s. 51. The Commissioner did 
argue unsuccessfully before Owen J. that, 
independently of s. 260, the amount of £19,777 
should not be regarded as an outgoing 

3 (1962) 111 C.L.R., at p. 436.

necessarily incurred in gaining or producing the 55
taxpayer's assessable income. His Honour 
rejected this submission, relying upon Ronpibon 
Tin N.L. and Tongkah Compound N.L. v. 
Federal Commissioner of Taxation.4 With this I 
agree. Moreover, if the application of s. 260 60
could have any effect in this case, it is at this 
point that one would expect to find that effect in 
revealing that what had been made to appear as 
a necessary outgoing was really something 
different. As I have said, however, I have not 65
found any basis for such a conclusion. 
Accordingly, it seems to me that his Honour's 
decision that the purchase money paid by the 
taxpayer to Breckler Pty. Ltd. could not be 
apportioned really disposed of this appeal 70
because any possible application of s. 260 did 
not expose any new situation affecting that 
conclusion. Although not so expressed, his 
Honour's decision really amounted, *442 as 
between the Commissioner and the taxpayer, to 75
avoiding the contracts between the taxpayer and 
Breckler Pty. Ltd. and to substituting the 
taxpayer for Breckler Pty. Ltd. in the contracts 
made by that company with the taxpayer's 
suppliers. If the result is looked at in this way, it 80
again illustrates that s. 260 has been treated as 
giving the Commissioner some power to 
modify when its sole function is to destroy. 

His Honour also rejected the 85
Commissioner's contention that the dealings 
between the taxpayer and Breckler Pty. Ltd. 
were sham transactions. Again I agree with his 
Honour. 

90
For the foregoing reasons I consider this 

appeal should be allowed and that the 
assessment should be amended by allowing as a 
deduction from assessable income an additional 
sum of £19,777. 95

4 (1949) 78 C.L.R. 47. 
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CRIDLAND v. FEDERAL COMMISSIONER OF TAXATION [1977] HCA 61; 
(1977) 140 CLR 330  Income Tax (Cth) 

HIGH COURT OF AUSTRALIA 
Barwick C.J.(1), Stephen(2), Mason(3), Jacobs(4) and Aickin(5) JJ. 

… 
HEARING 
Sydney, 1977, August 17, 18: 
November 30. 30:11:1977 
APPEAL from the Supreme Court of 5 
New South Wales. 
 
DECISION 
Nov. 30. 
MASON J. In the Supreme Court of 10 
New South Wales, Mahoney J. 
dismissed the appellant's appeals 
against assessments to income tax for 
the years ended 30th June 1970, 1971 
and 1972. The issue in the appeals was 15 
whether the appellant was entitled to 
the benefit of the averaging provisions 
contained in Div. 16 of Pt III of the 
Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, as 
amended ("the Act"). The appellant 20 
claimed the benefit of these provisions 
on the ground that he was an income 
beneficiary under certain trusts the 
trustee of which carried on the 
business of primary production. The 25 
appellant relied particularly on s. 157 
(3) of the Act which provides:͒ "(3) 
For the purposes only of determining 
whether a person is carrying on a 
business of primary production, a 30 
beneficiary in a trust estate shall, to 
the extent to which he is presently 
entitled to the income or part of the 
income of that estate, be deemed to be 
carrying on the business carried on by 35 
the trustees of the estate which 
produces that income."͒ His Honour 
held that s. 260 of the Act applied so 
as to deny to the appellant the benefit 
of the averaging provisions on the 40 
ground that the appellant was party to 
an arrangement which had both the 
purpose and the effect of altering the 
incidence of income tax, or which 

would have that effect if it operated 45 
according to its terms. (at p335) 
2. The principal issue in the appeals to 
this Court is whether the primary 
judge was correct in so deciding. A 
second question …. 50 
3. According to the undisputed 
findings of the primary judge, Mr. D. 
P. O'Shea, a Brisbane accountant 
versed in the arts of tax minimization, 
who was anxious to engage in primary 55 
production through companies 
controlled by himself and his family, 
hit upon a plan which would 
advantage him and his companies and 
minimize the income tax payable by 60 
those who joined in the plan. This plan 
involved the acquisition of land by an 
O'Shea company and the creation of a 
trust or trusts by which the trustee 
would be authorized to carry on the 65 
business of primary production. The 
moneys required were to be lent by 
way of the O'Shea companies. On the 
termination of the trusts their assets 
would pass to the O'Shea interests. 70 
The trusts were to be so drawn and the 
business so conducted that the income 
derived from it would be available for 
distribution to persons who were 
interested in obtaining the benefit of 75 
the averaging provisions and who 
would be willing to pay for that 
benefit. (at p335) 
4. To attract persons to become 
income beneficiaries pamphlets were 80 
distributed among university students 
in New South Wales, Queensland and 
Victoria. More than 5,000 university 
students became registered under the 
No. 1 trust. A number of trusts were 85 
established in execution of the plan. 
(at p335) 
5. The appellant became registered as 

36



an income beneficiary under the No. 2 
trust and under the No. 4 trust. The 
No. 2 trust was constituted by a deed 
dated 13th January 1969, a sum of 
$1,000 being paid to the trustee, 5 
Glenrich Ranch Pty. Ltd., by the 
settlor to be held and applied in 
accordance with the trusts constituted 
in the deed. The trusts were to endure 
for twenty-one years and on their 10 
expiration the assets were to be held in 
trust for D. P. O'Shea (cl. 2 (a)). The 
right to receive income was divided 
into 5,000 units which were to be 
allotted in the first instance to Helen 15 
Audrey Meredith 4,999 units and 
Neville Keith Meredith one unit. The 
rights of income beneficiaries were 
expressed to be assignable by an 
instrument in approved form (cll. 2 (c) 20 
and 4 (d)) but the trustee was only 
required to account to an income 
beneficiary registered at any particular 
date and was not required to be 
concerned with equities or other 25 
interests of other persons (cl. 2 (c)). 
The registration of an income 
beneficiary could not be effected 
unless and until he satisfied the trustee 
that he had donated a sum of not less 30 
than one dollar to an institution, fund 
or body as defined by s. 78 of the Act 
or which had been approved by a 
students' representative council of a 
university (cl. 4 (f)). (at p336) 35 
6. The trustee had the right to 
distribute to the income beneficiaries 
the whole or any part of the trust or to 
retain and accumulate the whole or 
any part of the income of the trust (cl. 40 
5 (a)). In the event that the trustee 
decided to distribute the income, it had 
a discretion to distribute the income 
between any one or more of the 
income beneficiaries and in such 45 
shares as it in its absolute and 
uncontrolled discretion might think fit 
(cl. 5 (b)). (at p336) 
7. The No. 4 trust was constituted by a 
deed dated 16th January 1970. 50 

Glenrich Ranch Pty. Ltd. was again 
constituted as the trustee and the 
settlor paid to it the sum of $100 to be 
held and applied upon the trusts set 
forth in the deed. The terms of the No. 55 
4 trust were substantially similar to 
those of the No. 2 trust. However, 
there were some differences. The 
income units numbered 10,000 and the 
initial unit holders were to be Mr. R. 60 
M. O'Shea as to 4,972 units and a 
large number of selected individuals 
who were to hold one unit each. It was 
also provided that the beneficiaries 
should be those persons registered in 65 
the books of the trust (cl. 4 (a)). No 
person was to be registered in the 
books of the trust as an income 
beneficiary unless and until the trustee 
was satisfied that the transfer of the 70 
unit in question had been made to him 
(cl. 4 (f)). (at p336) 
8. The provision as to the payment of 
income to income beneficiaries was 
differently expressed in cl. 5. It 75 
provided that the registered holder of 
each income unit should be entitled to 
be paid in each income year a one ten-
thousandth part of the net annual 
income of the trust. (at p336) 80 
9. Mahoney J. observed that it was not 
altogether clear what advantage Mr. D. 
P. O'Shea and his associates sought to 
obtain from the plan. It does not seem 
to have been thought that the sum of 85 
one dollar to be paid by persons 
acquiring a unit under the No. 2 trust 
would result in any benefit to the 
O'Shea interests. In fact the sum was 
seldom collected. To overcome this 90 
gap in the execution of the plan Mr. 
O'Shea and his associates paid $500 to 
a body of the kind mentioned in s. 78 
to cover those persons who failed to 
make such a payment. (at p337) 95 
10. In the pamphlets mention was 
made of the payment by subscribers of 
an annual fee which was calculated 
after the first year by reference to the 
amount of tax saved. However, it was 100 
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pointed out in the pamphlets that there 
was no means by which the fee could 
be legally recovered and that the 
promoters were relying on the honesty 
of the beneficiaries. Needless to say no 5 
fees have been paid. (at p337) 
11. In the early part of 1969 the 
Glenrich company as trustee set in 
motion preparations for the carrying 
on of the business of a primary 10 
producer. In June 1969 the appellant 
applied for an income unit in the No. 2 
trust. He stated that he joined the trust 
so as to be able to average his income 
for tax purposes. He agreed that he did 15 
not expect to receive any substantial 
sum by way of income from the trust. 
He did not pay the sum of one dollar 
or any other sum in connexion with his 
application. Following receipt of his 20 
application Mr. R. M. O'Shea 
purported to transfer an income unit in 
the No. 2 trust to the appellant. It is 
not in dispute that Mr. O'Shea held an 
income unit in the trust and that the 25 
appellant was entered as a registered 
holder of the unit in the books of the 
trust. Later in June 1969 the appellant 
received one dollar from the trustee 
and it is not disputed that this payment 30 
is to be regarded as a distribution of 
income by the trustee from the 
business of primary production which 
it carried on. (at p337) 
12. In January 1970 the No. 4 trust 35 
was established and at about this time 
the No. 2 trust ceased to operate. In 
June 1970 the taxpayer received from 
the trustee of the No. 4 trust the sum 
of one dollar and it is not disputed that 40 
this represented a distribution of 
income by the trustee from the 
business of primary production which 
it carried on. In July 1971 a further 
distribution of this kind was made by 45 
the trustee of the No. 4 trust. (at p337) 
13. Although the very restricted 
operation conceded to s. 260 by the 
course of judicial decision and the 
generality of the language in which the 50 

section is expressed stand in high 
contrast, the construction of the 
section is now settled. It is therefore a 
source of some surprise that it 
continues to be relied upon when its 55 
defects and deficiencies have been 
apparent for so long. More than twenty 
years ago Kitto J. said in Federal 
Commissioner of Taxation v. Newton 
[1957] HCA 99; (1956) 96 CLR 577, 60 
at p 596 : "Section 260 is a difficult 
provision, inherited from earlier 
legislation, and long overdue for 
reform by someone who will take the 
trouble to analyse his ideas and define 65 
his intentions with precision before 
putting pen to paper." This message, 
despite its clarity, seems not to have 
reached its intended destination. (at 
p338) 70 
14. It was recently decided in Mullens 
v. Federal Commissioner of Taxation 
[1976] HCA 47; (1976) 135 CLR 290 
that even if a transaction has been 
entered into for the purpose of 75 
diminishing a taxpayer's liability to tax 
by securing to the taxpayer a benefit or 
advantage conferred by a specific 
provision of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act, e.g. an allowable 80 
deduction, which but for the 
transaction would not have accrued to 
the taxpayer, the transaction will not 
be caught by s. 260 if it satisfies the 
provision in question. (at p338) 85 
15. Barwick C.J. said (1976) 135 
CLR, at p 298 :͒ "The Court has made 
it quite plain in several decisions that a 
taxpayer is entitled to create a 
situation to which the Act attaches 90 
taxation advantages for the taxpayer. 
Equally, the taxpayer may cast a 
transaction into which he intends to 
enter in a form which is financially 
advantageous to him under the Act. 95 
W. P. Keighery Pty. Ltd. v. Federal 
Commissioner of Taxation [1957] 
HCA 2; (1957) 100 CLR 66 and 
Federal Commissioner of Taxation v. 
Casuarina Pty. Ltd. [1970] HCA 30; 100 
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(1971) 127 CLR 62 amply 
demonstrate this and are, in my 
opinion, very relevant to the resolution 
of this case."͒ Later, the Chief Justice 
said (1976) 135 CLR, at p 302 :͒ ". . . 5 
there will be no relevant alteration of 
the incidence of tax if the transaction, 
being the actual transaction between 
the parties, conforms to and satisfies a 
provision of the Act even if it has 10 
taken the form in which it was entered 
into by the parties in order to obtain 
the benefit of that provision of the Act. 
It would be otherwise if there had been 
some antecedent transaction between 15 
the parties, for which the transaction 
under attack was substituted in order 
to obtain the benefit of the particular 
provisions of the Act."͒ In the same 
case Stephen J. said (1976) 135 CLR, 20 
at p 318 :͒ "The principle in W. P. 
Keighery Pty. Ltd. v. Federal 
Commissioner of Taxation [1957] 
HCA 2; (1957) 100 CLR 66 is not to 
be confined to cases where the Act 25 
offers to the taxpayer a choice of 
alternative tax consequences either of 
which he is free to choose; it was there 
held that merely because the taxpayer 
chose, quite deliberately, the 30 
alternative most advantageous to it 
from a tax standpoint it did not thereby 
attract s. 260. So, too, if no question 
arises of a choice between two courses 
of conduct but, instead, the Act offers 35 
certain tax benefits to taxpayers who 
adopt a particular course of conduct; 
the adoption of that course does not 
establish any purpose or effect such as 
is described in s. 260." (at p338) 40 
͒ 16. The primary judge, whose 
judgment was delivered on 13th May 
1976, did not have the benefit of this 
Court's decision in the Mullens Case 
(1976) 135 CLR 290, which was 45 
handed down subsequently on 9th 
September 1976. His Honour decided 
this case by reference to what he 
described as the "choice principle" for 
which he treated the Keighery Case 50 

[1957] HCA 2; (1957) 100 CLR 66 as 
authority. There the Court decided that 
s. 260 has no application to a case in 
which the Act offers to the taxpayer a 
choice of alternative tax consequences 55 
either of which he is free to choose, as 
for example, in the case of a company 
whether it should be constituted as a 
private or non-private company with 
the different taxation consequences 60 
appropriate to each class of company. 
His Honour went on to say that s. 157 
does not present to a taxpayer an 
alternative in the sense in which that 
term was used in the Keighery Case 65 
because in his opinion the section is 
merely a machinery provision and 
does not constitute an element in the 
prescription of two different and 
alternative bases of taxation between 70 
which the taxpayer is free to choose. 
(at p339) 
17. The decision in the Mullens Case 
and the passages from the judgments 
to which I have referred show that the 75 
principle which underlies the Keighery 
Case is not as narrow as the primary 
judge supposed it to be. It is not 
confined to cases in which the Act 
offers two alternative bases of 80 
taxation; it proceeds on the footing 
that the taxpayer is entitled to create a 
situation by entry into a transaction 
which will attract tax consequences for 
which the Act makes specific 85 
provision and that the validity of the 
transaction is not affected by s. 260 
merely because the tax consequences 
which it attracts are advantageous to 
the taxpayer and he enters into the 90 
transaction deliberately with a view to 
gaining that advantage. (at p339) 
18. The distinction drawn by Lord 
Denning in Newton v. Federal 
Commissioner of Taxation [1958] 95 
UKPCHCA 1; (1958) 98 CLR 1, at p 8 
(1958) AC 450, at p 466 , between 
arrangements implemented in a 
particular way so as to avoid tax and 
transactions capable of explanation by 100 
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reference to ordinary business or 
family dealing has not been regarded 
as the expression of a universal or 
exclusive criterion of operation of s. 
260. Lord Denning's observations 5 
were applied neither in the Mullens 
Case [1976] HCA 47; (1976) 135 CLR 
290 nor in the subsequent case of 
Slutzkin v. Federal Commissioner of 
Taxation [1977] HCA 20; (1977) 138 10 
CLR 164 . (at p339) 
19. The Newton Case [1958] 
UKPCHCA 1; (1958) 98 CLR 1, at p 8 
(1958) AC 450, at p 466 and Ellers 
Motor Sales Pty. Ltd. v. Federal 15 
Commissioner of Taxation (1969) 121 
CLR 665; [1972] HCA 17; (1972) 128 
CLR 602 were cases in which it was 
held that the moneys received by the 
taxpayers were or were deemed to be 20 
dividends, the impugned transactions 
being designed to endow the moneys 
received with a different character and 
failing in this purpose by reason of the 
destructive operation of s. 260. The 25 
conclusion that the receipts were 
dividends must be treated as a finding 
of fact or as resting on the use of s. 
260 as a charging provision, for the 
receipts would not have been liable to 30 
tax under the ordinary provisions of 
the Act unless they could be 
characterized as dividends. (at p340) 
20. Two points may be made. The first 
is that the observations of Lord 35 
Denning to which I have referred were 
made in a case in which the Privy 
Council and this Court appear to have 
thought that the impugned transactions 
were cloaking payments which were 40 
otherwise income because they were 
dividends or because they had that 
character by virtue of s. 260, once the 
transactions were annihilated. The 
second is that s. 260 is not a charging 45 
provision, as Lord Diplock has had 
occasion to note more recently in 
speaking for the Judicial Committee in 
Europa Oil (N.Z.) Ltd. v. Inland 
Revenue Commissioner (1976) 1 50 

WLR 464, at p 475; (1976) 1 All ER 
503, at p 511 . (at p340) 
21. The transactions into which the 
appellant entered in the present case 
by acquiring income units in the trust 55 
funds in question were not, I should 
have thought, transactions ordinarily 
entered into by university students. 
Nor could they be accounted as 
ordinary family or business dealings. 60 
They were explicable only by 
reference to a desire to attract the 
averaging provisions of the statute and 
the taxation advantage which they 
conferred. But these considerations 65 
cannot, in light of the recent 
authorities, prevail over the 
circumstance that the appellant has 
entered into transactions to which the 
specific provisions of the Act apply, 70 
thereby producing the legal 
consequences which they express. (at 
p340) 
22. Accordingly, it is my view that s. 
260 has no application to this case. (at 75 
p340) 
23. The respondent's second 
submission is …. 
24. In the result I would allow the 
appeals. (at p 341) 80 
 
[Barwick CJ, Stephen J, Jacobs J, and 
Aickin J agreed,]  
 
 85 
ORDER 
Appeals allowed with costs. 
Orders of the Supreme Court of New 
South Wales set aside and in lieu 
thereof order that the appeals to that 90 
Court be allowed with costs. … 
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Elmiger and Another v Commissioner of Inland Revenue 

[1966] NZLR 683

Supreme Court, Hamilton 
16, 17 February; 24 March 1966 

Woodhouse J. 

[Affirmed on appeal – see [1967] NZLR 161 (CA)] 

Cur adv vult

WOODHOUSE J.

The appellants, who are brothers, at all material 5 
times carried on business in partnership as agri-
cultural contractors. Their business, which was 
profitable, involved the use of heavy machinery. 
They owned substantial assets of this type, and 
each machine had a high income-producing ca-10 
pacity. 

Towards the end of October 1962 there were 
discussions with their solicitor and accountant 
concerning the reorganisation of their affairs by 
the introduction of some form of family trust. 15 
Then on 12 November 1962 they became trus-
tees of a trust set up by their father with an ini-
tial fund of £10, the immediate beneficiaries of 
which were their respective wives and children. 
The trust deed gave them extraordinarily wide, 20 
and even arbitrary powers of controlling and 
dealing with the trust assets and income; and it 
contained a rather remarkable provision that at 
the termination of the trust on 31 March 1968 
the trust capital should revert to themselves. 25 

On 28 November 1962 they sold to this trust two 
of their earth-moving machines at a price of 
£5,250. This amount was treated as an  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  684 
interest-free loan payable on demand. Contem-30 
poraneously they arranged to hire back the two 
machines on terms (later reduced to writing) 
which provided for hire charges calculated at 
hourly rates of £3 and £2 respectively, but with 
minimum monthly charges amounting to £250 35 
and £175. There was provision, too, for all out-
goings to be borne by the appellants, so that, for 
all practical purposes, the amounts received for 
hire can be regarded (subject to depreciation) as 
net profit to the trust. This being the case, it is 40 
clear that the minimum monthly charges were 
able to produce an annual income for the trust of 
£5,100 upon a capital outlay of £5,250. This 

minimum trust income can be compared with 
the net business income of the partnership for 45 
the year preceding these transactions of approx-
imately £9,300, during which time capital assets 
were employed valued in the books at £30,755. 

These arrangements took effect on 1 December 
1962, and for the following four months the cal-50 
culated hire charges for the machines amounted 
to £3,355. This sum was not paid over in cash 
but was set off against the amount due to the 
appellants arising from the purchase of the ma-
chines. The hiring arrangement continued during 55 
the next twelve months to 31 March 1964, but 
when the hire charges were then calculated on 
the rates laid down in the bailment it was found 
that the appellants would be involved in a busi-
ness loss of about £100. The calculations pro-60 
duced a figure of approximately £7,900. Accord-
ingly, acting on the one side in a personal capac-
ity, and on the other in exercise of the unusually 
wide powers given them by the deed of trust, the 
appellants took steps to reduce the rates of hire. 65 
In the result an overall reduction was made in 
the charges for the year of about £3,500. This 
reduced the figure for hire charges to £4,300 
which was dealt with in the books first, by cred-
iting the appellants with the balance of £1,895 70 
still due to them for purchase money, and next 
by treating £1,460 as an interest-free loan by the 
trust to themselves. There remains a balance of 
about £950, and although there is no direct evi-
dence upon the point this amount seems to have 75 
been accounted for by payments which they 
handled as trustees for the purposes of the trust. 
In the result they retained in their own hands a 
total sum of £6,710 out of the hire charges for 
the sixteen months in question amounting to 80 
£7,655. In their business accounts this last 
amount was divided appropriately between the 
two years in question as a deductible expense, 
and the net incomes were reduced accordingly. 

The contest between the parties arises out of the 85 
fact that the Commissioner of Inland Revenue 
formed the opinion that the general arrangement 
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which I have described was void in terms of s. 
108 of the Land and Income Tax Act 1954. He 
therefore treated the agreement for sale and pur-
chase and the hiring arrangement as annihilated, 
and added back the purported deductions for 5 
hire charge to the partnership income. He al-
lowed as an expense appropriate amounts for 
depreciation of the machines. The appellants 
have contended that in the circumstances of the 
case s. 108 can have no application. 10 

This section is a difficult and perplexing one by 
reason of its superficially far-flung, and even 
unlikely implications. Read literally and without 
keeping in mind that it is only one part of a 
whole code, it might seem to embrace almost 15 
every type of business or family dealing. On the 
other hand over-qualification prompted by con-
siderations of this sort could soon leave it emas-
culated. The section reads: 

20 

Every contract, 
agreement or ar-
rangement made or 
entered into, whether 25 
before or after the 
commencement of 
this Act, shall be ab-
solutely void in so 
far as,  30 
[1966] NZLR 683 
page  685 
directly or indirectly, 
it has or purports to 
have the purpose or 35 
effect of in any way 
altering the incidence 
of income tax, or re-
lieving any person 
from his liability to 40 
pay income tax. 

In so far as the demands of the revenue are con-
cerned, this is a provision which seems to have 
received the attention of this Court on only two 45 
occasions, and on both of these within the last 
year. In each case the decision went in favour of 
the taxpayer. Not unnaturally, the appellants in 
the present case invite me to follow those deci-
sions which, it is claimed, directly assist in re-50 
solving the differences between the Commis-
sioner and themselves. The first case is Lewis v 
Commissioner of Inland Revenue (1965) NZLR 
634, where in the course of his judgment Hardie 
Boys J. said: "I am satisfied that unless as a mat-55 

ter of law the transaction . . . can be set aside as 
a sham it cannot be attacked under s. 108" (ibid., 
637). 

He allowed the appeal by the taxpayers on the 
basis that their transaction was a genuine one, 60 
and that, as it could not be branded as a sham, 
the section was not applicable. The second deci-
sion is that of Wilson J. in Purdie v Commis-
sioner of Inland Revenue (unreported) delivered 
on 10 May 1965. In this case Wilson J. found as 65 
a fact that any diminution in the appellant's in-
come brought about by the scheme under review 
was merely incidental to charitable purposes 
which the taxpayer had in mind. He held on this 
ground that s. 108 had no application. He then 70 
went on, however, to deal with a submission that 
the section was inapplicable in respect of future 
liabilities for income tax. In supporting this 
submission he expressed the view that, as a mat-
ter of construction, the section could affect only 75 
a present or accrued liability, and that for this 
reason also the taxpayer must succeed. 

Mr Richardson has made two initial submissions 
in respect of these decisions. He argued that the 
"sham" test propounded in the Lewis case must 80 
be inapplicable because the Revenue has always 
been able to go behind transactions which are 
mere shams. He claimed, too, that in Australia, 
where there is somewhat similar legislation upon 
the point, this test had not been applied, and that 85 
it was unsupported by authority. Concerning the 
judgment of Wilson J. in the Purdie case, he 
submitted that taxpayers are never able to make 
arrangements which would relieve them of their 
liability to the Revenue for income tax already 90 
accrued due; and accordingly the section would 
be meaningless and without effect if it were held 
to be limited in its operation to arrangements 
affecting accrued liabilities alone. Upon this rea-
soning and on the construction of the section 95 
itself he claimed that it must have application in 
respect of future liabilities for income tax. It will 
be necessary to consider these various submis-
sions in due course. 

Although the two cases to which I have referred 100 
appear to be the only two decisions of this Court 
which directly bear upon the interpretation of 
the section in so far as it has fiscal implications, 
there is a growing volume of authority in Aus-
tralia relating to the construction of a somewhat 105 
similar section of the Commonwealth of Aus-
tralia Income Tax and Social Services Contribu-
tion Assessment Act 1936-1951. This is s. 260 
of that Act and seems to have found its way into 
this and other Australian legislation from pre-110 
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ceding New Zealand enactments. Section 260 is 
as follows: 

Every contract, 5 
agreement, or ar-
rangement made or 
entered into, orally or 
in writing, whether 
before or after the 10 
commencement of 
this Act, shall so far 
as it has or purports 
to have the purpose 
or effect of in any 15 
way, directly or indi-
rectly -- 
(a) altering the 

incidence of 
any income 20 
tax;
[1966] NZLR 
683 page  686 

(b) relieving any 
person from 25 
liability to pay 
any income 
tax or make 
any return; 

(c) defeating, 30 
evading or 
avoiding any 
duty or liabil-
ity imposed on 
any person by 35 
this Act; or 

(d) preventing the 
operation of 
this Act in any 
respect, 40 

be absolutely void, as 
against the Commis-
sioner, or in regard to 
any proceeding under 
this Act, but without 45 
prejudice to such va-
lidity as it may have 
in any other respect 
or for any other pur-
pose. 50 

It will be observed that it is the addition of pa-
ras. (c) and (d) which provides the substantial 
point of difference between this and the New 
Zealand provision. And in this regard it was 55 
strenuously urged upon me on behalf of the ap-

pellants that the Australian cases provide little 
assistance in interpreting the New Zealand sec-
tion, because all the reported cases which have 
gone in favour of the Revenue were founded 60 
upon an application of para. (c), to the exclusion 
of the other three paragraphs. It was argued that 
this paragraph has much wider implications than 
either (a) or (b) which precede it, and which are 
in the same terms as the two limbs of s. 108. On 65 
this ground it was submitted for the appellants 
that the New Zealand section should be given a 
much more limited and restricted construction 
than the Courts may have given to the Australian 
s. 260. 70 

It is convenient at this point to refer to a more 
general submission made on behalf of the appel-
lants. First I was asked to recognise that the 
transactions under review were real and genuine 
in a legal sense and could not be regarded as 75 
sham transactions put forward as a cloak to con-
ceal something different. I think that this is so. 
Despite the powerful opportunities given to the 
trustees to control and dispose of the income and 
capital of the trust and the singular benefits 80 
which might seem to flow in one direction or the 
other from the transactions, I consider that the 
obligations which they purported to carry were 
intended to have and were given their legal op-
eration. Apart from any effect which s. 108 may 85 
have upon them, I do not think they can be put 
to one side or treated as a sort of masquerade. 
Upon the basis of such a finding I am then invit-
ed to take the view that even if there might ap-
pear to be some associated tax advantage for the 90 
appellants in the arrangements made, the whole 
scheme should still be regarded as a legitimate 
and normal one adopted by them for family rea-
sons. It was claimed that they could not be ex-
pected to submit to the continuing demands of 95 
the taxation authorities in respect of income tax 
merely because by taking these legal steps their 
liability for tax would be consequentially dimin-
ished. In this regard I was referred to the well-
known dictum of Lord Tomlin in Duke of 100 
Westminster v Commissioners of Inland Reve-
nue [1936] A.C. 1; [1935] All ER Rep. 259 to 
the effect that: "Every man is entitled, if he can, 
to order his affairs so that the tax attaching un-
der the appropriate Acts is less than it otherwise 105 
would be. If he succeeds in ordering them so as 
to secure this result, then however unapprecia-
tive the Commissioners of Inland Revenue or his 
fellow taxpayers may be of his ingenuity, he 
cannot be compelled to pay an increased tax" 110 
(ibid., 19; 267). 
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I naturally appreciate that this forceful argument 
has the support of the highest authority. And I 
well recognise that the Courts will always be 
careful to protect citizens against any demands 
of the Revenue which cannot be supported by 5 
some statutory provision. Nevertheless, since the 
House of Lords was obliged to consider the 
highly beneficial arrangements which were able 
to be made in 1930 on behalf of the Duke of 
Westminster, there has been a growing aware-10 
ness by the Legislature and the Courts alike that 
ingenious legal devices contrived to  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  687 
enable individual taxpayers to minimise or avoid 
their tax liabilities are often not merely sterile or 15 
unproductive in themselves (except perhaps in 
respect of their tax advantages for the taxpayer 
concerned), but that they have social conse-
quences which are contrary to the general public 
interest. There is the problem, too, that the Leg-20 
islature usually is lagging several steps behind 
the ever-developing arrangements worked out 
by experts in this field on behalf of their taxpay-
er clients. It is probably this consideration which 
prompted the enactment in the United Kingdom 25 
of two general provisions designed to nullify 
any scheme within the types contemplated 
which might avoid surtax or profits tax (see s. 18 
of the Finance Act 1936, 12 Halsbury's Statutes 
of England, 2nd ed. 353, and s. 2 of the Finance 30 
Act 1951, 30 Halsbury's Statutes of England, 
2nd ed. 157). There have, too, been expressions 
of judicial opinion regarding these problems, 
and this legislation in particular, which deserve 
to be kept in mind when considering the broad 35 
principle laid down by Lord Tomlin. For exam-
ple, in Lord Howard de Walden v Inland Reve-
nue Commissioners [1942] 1 K.B. 389; [1942] 1 
All ER 287 Lord Greene M.R. said: "For years a 
battle of manoeuvre has been waged between 40 
the Legislature and those who are minded to 
throw the burden of taxation off their own 
shoulders on to those of their fellow subjects. . . 
. It would not shock us in the least to find that 
the Legislature has determined to put an end to 45 
the struggle. . . ." (ibid., 389; 289). 

Somewhat similar views were expressed by Vis-
count Simon L.C. in Latilla v Inland Revenue 
Commissioners [1943] A.C. 377; [1943] 1 All 
ER 265. He referred to the ingenuity which had 50 
been expended in devising methods of avoiding 
or minimising tax, and went on to say: "Judicial 
dicta may be cited which point out that, however 
elaborate and artificial such methods may be, 
those who adopt them are 'entitled' to do so. 55 
There is, of course, no doubt that they are within 

their legal rights, but that is no reason why their 
efforts or those of the professional gentlemen 
who assist them in the matter should be regarded 
as a commendable exercise of ingenuity or as a 60 
discharge of the duties of good citizenship. On 
the contrary, one result of such methods, if they 
succeed, is of course, to increase pro tanto the 
load of tax on the shoulders of the great body of 
good citizens who do not desire, or do not know 65 
how, to adopt these manoeuvres" (ibid., 381; 
266). 

Considerations of the same nature prompted the 
Supreme Court of the United States in Higgins v 
Smith (1940) 308 U.S. 473, 476, 477, to state: 70 
"Each tax according to a legislative plan raises 
funds to carry on government. The purpose here 
is to tax earnings and profits less expenses and 
losses. If one or the other factor in any calcula-
tion is unreal it distorts the liability of the par-75 
ticular taxpayer to the detriment of the entire 
tax-paying group." 

In my opinion the broad purposes of s. 108 and 
of the equivalent Australian section are to be 
discerned in problems of this sort. I think these 80 
provisions are intended to forestall deliberate 
attempts by individuals to obtain tax advantages 
denied generally to the same class of taxpayer. 
That the Legislature should attempt to anticipate 
these manoeuvres is not surprising; nor can it be 85 
thought unfair to those affected if the method 
adopted by the Legislature should be, as in the 
case of these sections, the method of general 
proscription. If there seem to be difficulties in 
this last area they should be related, not to antic-90 
ipated injustices to the body of taxpayers, but to 
the problem of discovering the intended limits of 
any general embargo. This is, of course, a prob-
lem  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  688 95 
of definition and one which is peculiarly com-
plicated by the fact that nearly all dispositions of 
property or income must carry with them some 
consequential effect upon income tax liabilities. 
In relation to s. 108 it is necessary, therefore, to 100 
find some suitable way of testing the purposes 
and effect of contracts, agreements, or arrange-
ments, against the words of the section; and this 
is not a need which can be resolved by a possi-
bly over-confident belief in some intuitive ca-105 
pacity to place a particular arrangement on one 
side of the line or the other. 

The problems inherent in this type of legislation 
have been given a good deal of attention by the 
Australian Courts. Before I attempt to under-110 
stand any implications which might follow from 
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differences in wording between s. 260 in Aus-
tralia and s. 108 of the New Zealand Act, I think 
it useful to examine some of these decisions. In 
the first place it does seem that about forty-five 
years ago some doubt was felt in Australia as to 5 
whether the equivalent section at that time could 
be applied to bona fide gifts or sales by a tax-
payer of income-producing assets. See, for ex-
ample, Federal Commissioner of Taxation v 
Purcell (1921) 29 C.L.R. 464, 476, and the 10 
judgment of Knox C.J. in Jaques v Federal 
Commissioner of Taxation (1924) 34 C.L.R. 
328, 355, where he appears to have decided that 
the transactions under review in that case "were 
in no sense genuine transactions". He then went 15 
on, however, to hold that they constituted "an 
arrangement having the purpose of relieving the 
appellant . . . from liability to pay income tax." 
It would seem from these passages that Knox 
C.J. was inclined to apply the section to transac-20 
tions that were not genuine. Nevertheless, I 
think it is clear from the other judgments that the 
case was not decided on this basis. Rich J. dealt 
with the matter in the High Court in the first in-
stance; and he expressly decided that the sec-25 
tion: ". . . regards the contract, agreement, or 
arrangement, as possibly a very real one, but 
attaches consequences to the purpose or effect" 
(ibid., 338). 

This judgment was upheld on appeal in the High 30 
Court, and Isaacs J. (ibid., 356) considered that 
the appeal should be dismissed "substantially for 
the reasons given by Rich J.". He also said: 
"That the transaction is a reality is no reason for 
the non-application of the section" (ibid., 358). 35 
Then Starke J. remarked that: "My brother Rich 
saw no reason for treating these transactions as 
unreal; nor do I. It is impossible, in my opinion, 
to say that they were not genuine transactions. . . 
." (ibid., 361). With very great respect, therefore, 40 
to the contrary view expressed in the Lewis 
case, I think the judgments in Jaques v Federal 
Commissioner of Taxation put to one side any 
idea that the relevant Australian section was 
aimed at sham transactions. This point was dealt 45 
with again in the High Court of Australia in 
Federal Commissioner of Taxation v Newton 
(1957) 96 C.L.R. 578. (This decision was upheld 
by the Privy Council at [1958] A.C. 450). Ful-
lagar J. (ibid.) considered the issue by relating it 50 
to an article appearing in 18 Mod. L.R. 209 
which had described tax avoidance as meaning 
"the art of dodging tax without actually breaking 
the law". He then went on to say: "The section is 
not aimed at fraudulent conduct or at pretended 55 
as distinct from real transactions. Such cases 

need no statutory provision. It is aimed at trans-
actions which are in themselves real and lawful 
but which the Legislature desires to nullify so 
far, and only so far as they may operate to avoid 60 
tax" (ibid., 646, 647). 

And later he said: "Again, it is nothing to the 
point in considering the purpose of the agree-
ment or arrangement, to assert that the agree-
ment or arrangement was 'genuine' or 'intended 65 
to have real  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  689 
effect.' Of course it was 'genuine' and 'intended 
to have real effect'. Otherwise it could not on 
any view have achieved anything. As Isaacs J. 70 
said in Jaques' case (1924) 34 C.L.R. 328, 'a 
sham transaction . . . needs no enactment to nul-
lify it'. It is, as I have said, at genuine transac-
tions, intended to have full legal effect as be-
tween the parties, that s. 260 strikes. It is said 75 
that, if a transaction is 'genuine', there can be no 
distinction between form and substance -- the 
form determines the substance. But it is not a 
mere question of form and substance. This 
whole approach is, in my opinion, quite wrong" 80 
(ibid., 655). 

I think it clear that in Australia it has been held 
conclusively that s. 260 is intended to apply to 
contracts, agreements, or arrangements, which 
are entirely genuine in the sense that real liabili-85 
ties are intended to be undertaken and dis-
charged. And with all respect the opinions ex-
pressed in the various judgments which have led 
to this result seem to me to be entirely applica-
ble to s. 108. In my view, none of the differ-90 
ences between this section and its Australian 
equivalent suggest that it was intended to oper-
ate only when the arrangement in question could 
be regarded as a sham, and I think that the test as 
to what arrangements are in fact caught by the 95 
section must be found elsewhere. 

The judgment of Fullagar J. in the Newton case 
(supra) provides (ibid., 646 et seq.) a lucid and 
convenient guide to the gradual evolution by the 
High Court of Australia of the way in which s. 100 
260 should be interpreted. In the first place he 
referred to Federal Commissioner of Taxation v 
Purcell (1921) 29 C.L.R. 464. In this case Knox 
C.J. said: "The section, if construed literally, 
would extend to every transaction whether vol-105 
untary or for value which had the effect of re-
ducing the income of any taxpayer" (ibid., 466). 

Nevertheless, he recognised that the section 
must be given some effect, and in the final half 
of the same sentence he has indicated his view 110 
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of its general purpose as follows: "But, in my 
opinion, its provisions are intended to and do 
extend to cover cases in which the transaction in 
question, if recognised as valid, would enable 
the taxpayer to avoid payment of income tax on 5 
what is really and in truth his income" (ibid., 
466). 

The emphasis in this sentence is clearly on the 
penultimate word. Some further light upon the 
effect of the section is thrown by Rich J., who 10 
said that it would be unreasonable to apply it "so 
as to include a genuine gift which had the inci-
dental effect of diminishing the donor's assets 
and income" (ibid., 476). The case itself in-
volved a simple disposition of a farm property to 15 
a trust for the donor's family, and the appeal 
went in his favour despite a finding that he was 
"influenced to some extent by a desire to lessen 
the burden of taxation". It is worth noting, nev-
ertheless, as Fullagar J. has pointed out in his 20 
judgment in the Newton case that there there 
was "no 'contract, agreement or arrangement' 
lying behind the actual disposition of property 
and having one of the purposes mentioned in s. 
260". 25 

Then there is Jaques' case to which I have al-
ready referred. It was held here that the taxpayer 
concerned was not entitled to make certain de-
ductions which would have had the effect of 
diminishing his assessable income. Fullagar J. 30 
(ibid., 469) has drawn attention to two important 
features of this decision. The first is that the case 
makes clear that the purpose lying behind the 
transaction may readily be inferred from the 
form which it assumes; the second that the sec-35 
tion operates to void not merely the "contract, 
agreement, or arrangement" which  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  690 
lies behind the actual things done, but the actual 
things done themselves. 40 

Next he turned to consider Clarke v Federal 
Commissioner of Taxation (1932) 48 C.L.R. 56. 
In effect it can be said that here the Court on the 
one hand held that assessments could not be 
made by the Commissioner by substituting for a 45 
transaction annihilated by the section another 
which in fact the taxpayer had not embarked 
upon; but on the other hand that the section 
would enable a reassessment of tax if when the 
voided arrangement was put to one side there 50 
was "exposed a set of actual facts from which [a 
tax] liability does arise". 

The analysis of the Australian decisions made 
by Fullagar J. in the Newton case concludes 

where he remarked upon the fact that s. 260 in-55 
volves two separate and distinct questions. He 
said: "The first is whether the operations which 
the Commissioner challenges were actuated by 
one or more of the purposes mentioned in s. 260. 
Was there a contract, agreement, or arrangement 60 
which had in view the attainment of one or more 
of those purposes? If that question, which is ul-
timately a question of fact, is answered in the 
affirmative, the second question arises, which is 
-- what is the effect of the application of s. 260 65 
to the case?" (ibid., 654). 

He then went on to emphasise that these two 
questions must not be allowed to run into one 
another, but should be dealt with in their logical 
order. Fullagar J. did not say so in his judgment, 70 
but I think it likely that his purpose in drawing 
this distinction was to prevent the bare decision 
as to whether an arrangement came within the 
scope of s. 260 being influenced by the tax con-
sequences which might then seem to follow 75 
from it. This is not unimportant, because, as 
Clarke's case makes plain, the mere decision that 
a transaction is within the scope of the section 
will not automatically result in new demands 
upon the taxpayer. The section does no more 80 
than annihilate the transaction that is aimed at 
and nothing is put in its place. Accordingly, be-
fore a taxpayer can be adversely affected by the 
section or before the Commissioner can make 
productive use of it in the interests of the Reve-85 
nue, there must be disclosed a taxable situation 
upon which he is able to operate after the ar-
rangement concerned has been stripped away. 

The Newton case went on appeal to the Privy 
Council, as I have mentioned. The judgment of 90 
the Board was delivered by Lord Denning who 
discussed the opening words of s. 260 in the fol-
lowing terms: "Their Lordships are of opinion 
that the word 'arrangement' is apt to describe 
something less than a binding contract or 95 
agreement, something in the nature of an under-
standing between two or more persons -- a plan 
arranged between them which may not be en-
forceable at law. But it must in this section com-
prehend, not only the initial plan but also all the 100 
transactions by which it is carried into effect -- 
all the transactions, that is, which have the effect 
of avoiding taxation, be they conveyances, trans-
fers or anything else. It would be useless for the 
Commissioner to avoid the arrangement and 105 
leave the transactions still standing. The word 
'purpose' means, not motive but the effect which 
it is sought to achieve -- the end in view. The 
word 'effect' means the end accomplished or 
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achieved. The whole set of words denotes con-
certed action to an end -- the end of avoiding 
tax" (ibid., 465). 

He then referred to the argument that this appar-
ently wide interpretation could produce sweep-5 
ing results which went far beyond anything in-
tended by Parliament, and said: "The answer to 
the problem seems  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  691 
to their Lordships to lie in the opening words of 10 
the section. They show that the section is not 
concerned with the motives of individuals. It is 
not concerned with their desire to avoid tax, but 
only with the means which they employ to do it. 
. . . In order to bring the arrangement within the 15 
section you must be able to predicate -- by look-
ing at the overt acts by which it was implement-
ed -- that it was implemented in that particular 
way so as to avoid tax. If you cannot so predi-
cate, but have to acknowledge that the transac-20 
tions are capable of explanation by reference to 
ordinary business or family dealing, without 
necessarily being labelled as a means to avoid 
tax, then the arrangement does not come within 
the section" (ibid., 465, 466). 25 

He then gave a number of examples of compara-
tively simple transactions of a business or of a 
family nature in regard to which it could not be 
predicated that the transaction concerned was 
done to avoid income tax. The tests contained in 30 
the foregoing extracts from the judgment are 
those which must be applied in respect of s. 260, 
and as Kitto J. said in Peate v Federal Commis-
sioner of Taxation (1964) 111 C.L.R. 443, the 
issue is "whether, upon consideration of the 35 
overt acts which have been done in carrying out 
the plan, the arrangement is to be recognised as 
a means for the avoidance of a tax liability, 
whether or not it be a means to other ends also" 
(ibid., 409). See also Kitto J.'s comprehensive 40 
statement of the effect of the Newton case which 
appears in Hancock v Federal Commissioner of 
Taxation (1961) 108 C.L.R. 258, 283. This be-
ing the position in relation to the Australian sec-
tion, the question arises whether the New Zea-45 
land section with which I am concerned is to be 
interpreted on much the same basis. The appel-
lants say, No. 

In the first place they have claimed that s. 108 is 
able to operate only in respect of arrangements 50 
which might attempt to alter the incidence of or 
diminish the liability for tax on income already 
derived. It was argued that the liability for tax 
could not exist until the income concerned had 
been so derived; and also that the word "reliev-55 

ing" carried with it implications which related 
only to an existing state of affairs. 

Arguments of this sort were put forward and 
rejected in relation to the Australian section in 
Newton's case: see [1958] A.C. 450, 464. I am 60 
asked, however, to distinguish the decisions on 
this point on the ground that it turned upon the 
words in para. (c) of s. 260 which refer to avoid-
ing a liability under the Act. It is claimed, too, 
that wherever the section had been used in Aus-65 
tralia to embrace prospective liabilities the 
Courts had relied upon this paragraph to the ex-
clusion of the other three. 

It is true that in many of the Australian decisions 
the attention of the Court has concentrated upon 70 
para. (c); but I think it incorrect to assume be-
cause of this that the other paragraphs have been 
rejected as inapplicable. In the Newton case, for 
example, it is said by Williams J. in the High 
Court (96 C.L.R. at 631) that of the three para-75 
graphs relied upon by the Commissioner, para. 
(c) appeared to be "most appropriate". But he 
did not exclude the view that the other sections 
might also operate against the taxpayer. Then in 
de Romero v Read (1932) 48 C.L.R. 649, the 80 
decision turned exclusively upon the equivalent 
of para. (a) of s. 260. Moreover, the Court was 
dealing here with a transaction which clearly 
would have an effect upon the incidence of tax 
in respect of income to become due in the future. 85 
Again in more recent times Menzies J. disposed 
of a submission that s. 260 was limited in its  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  692 
application to sources of income which were 
already in existence, by stating expressly that 90 
"the language in which (a), (b), (c) and (d) of s. 
260 are expressed affords no support for the ap-
pellant's argument:" See Peate v Commissioner 
of Taxation (1964) 111 C.L.R. 443, 460. 

In Newton's case (supra) the argument presented 95 
before the Privy Council was to the effect that 
"the words 'liability imposed on any person' 
meant a liability which had already accrued: and 
that 'avoid' meant 'displace'". I do not overlook 
that in rejecting this submission the verb "avoid" 100 
was used as an aid in interpretation. Neverthe-
less, taking into account the whole context of s. 
260, I do not find it easy to appreciate on any 
practical basis the subtle differences in meaning 
which may exist between this verb and the verb 105 
"to relieve" which appears, of course, in the 
same text. The Shorter Oxford Dictionary de-
fines the word "avoid" as meaning to free or get 
rid of something, while "to relieve" is given the 
meaning of to free or clear from an obligation. 110 

59



Elmiger v CIR 

8

And indeed in the High Court of Australia (see 
96 C.L.R. at 622) McTiernan J. seems to have 
assumed that these two words were almost inter-
changeable -- he described the transaction in that 
case as one which "clearly had the effect of re-5 
lieving each respondent from liability to which 
he would have been exposed had he continued to 
be the shareholder when the companies paid the 
dividends in question". On the other hand, as I 
have already mentioned, in Purdie's case (supra) 10 
Wilson J. felt it necessary to distinguish between 
the use of the two words. He said: "Whereas one 
avoids something which is approaching but not 
yet arrived, one obtains relief from an already 
existing condition (whether it be pain, poverty or 15 
liability to pay income tax). The words have rel-
evance to different points of time." With the 
greatest respect, I find myself driven to a contra-
ry conclusion, and I think that what shades of 
difference there may be cannot achieve the ef-20 
fect contended for on behalf of the appellants. 
With respect, I think the correlation of the ex-
amples of pain or poverty with liability to pay 
income tax tends to obscure the fact that the 
verb "to relieve" can be used in different ways, 25 
and according to the text just as aptly in relation 
to an anticipated as to an existing burden. For 
myself I think that the analogous use of the noun 
"relief" as something to be obtained only in re-
spect of a condition already existing is not appo-30 
site to the way in which the word "relieving" is 
used in s. 108. In my opinion the two limbs of 
the section are looking to the future, and I think 
it is in this sense that they should be construed. 
Its whole purpose appears to be to effect a gen-35 
eral proscription of schemes which would have 
the effect of diverting potentially taxable income 
outside the ordinary operation of the Act and 
thus preventing a liability for tax on that income 
from coming into existence. I find it impossible 40 
to interpret the section in terms of some illogical 
intention to confine it to existing liabilities. As 
was said by Lord Denning in the Newton case 
(ibid., 464) on this basis the words would be 
deprived of any effect, because "no one can dis-45 
place a liability to tax which has already accrued 
due or in respect of income which has already 
been derived". Accordingly, for these various 
reasons I do not accept the submission put for-
ward by Mr Lewis. 50 

The next issue raised on behalf of the appellant 
is that, even if s. 108 is held to have effect upon 
arrangements dealing with income still in pro-
spect, nevertheless it cannot operate in order to 
prevent a deduction being made which otherwise 55 
would be available to a taxpayer in terms of s. 

111 of the Act. In this regard I am asked to act 
upon a brief observation of Dixon C.J. in Cecil 
Bros. Pty. Ltd. v Commissioner  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  693 60 
of Taxation (1964) 111 C.L.R. 430, 438, where 
he indicated that he had difficulty "in seeing 
how s. 260 could apply to defeat or reduce any 
deduction otherwise truly allowable" under the 
section in the Australian Act equivalent to s. 65 
111. This dictum is not a part of the reasons for 
the decision of the Court, and in addition a con-
trary view can be found in the same case, ex-
pressed by Owen J. (ibid., 436) and by Menzies 
J. (ibid., 439). With all respect, it appears to me 70 
that this is a dictum which overlooks such a de-
cision of the High Court as that of Jaques which 
turned entirely upon a transaction which at-
tempted to diminish taxpayers' income by de-
ductions. In this connection Rich J. said (see 34 75 
C.L.R. at p. 338): "The Legislature has permit-
ted the deduction where it is the legitimate result 
of a call arising from the ordinary situation of a 
shareholder in a mining company. But [the sec-
tion] in my opinion also excludes a deduction 80 
which is not the result but the animating purpose 
of a call deliberately incurred, as this was, for 
the purpose of the deduction." 

On the basis of this finding Rich J. disallowed 
the deduction, and as I have mentioned his deci-85 
sion was upheld by the High Court on appeal. 

With respect, I think that the issue of deductions 
is one which naturally comes within the second 
of the questions posed by Fullagar J., and to 
which I have referred. The question is not 90 
whether arrangements which promote deduc-
tions can fall within the ambit of the section; but 
whether, having so fallen, the section can then 
be applied in order to justify a reassessment of 
income tax. Indeed, it is upon this second point 95 
that the decision in the Cecil Brothers case actu-
ally turns (ibid., 440). In every case coming 
within s. 108 the second step is to ascertain what 
facts remain after the proscribed arrangement is 
stripped away. Does the removal of that ar-100 
rangement leave a situation which (without the 
introduction of other assumed or notional facts) 
will enable the reassessment to be made? If it 
does, then I think that it cannot matter whether 
the quantum of assessable income thereupon 105 
disclosed results from the removal of contrived 
outgoings for expenses or from the removal of 
some other manufactured transaction. In the 
Cecil Brothers case it was finally decided by the 
High Court that the removal of the single inter-110 
posed company from which the appellant had 
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purchased goods for resale left nothing upon 
which the Commissioner could then operate in 
order to reassess for income tax. In other cases, 
however, the position clearly could be very dif-
ferent. In any event it is my opinion that s. 108 5 
is part of the law to be applied and must be giv-
en its appropriate place in the statute (cf. Peate v 
Commissioner of Taxation (1964) 111 C.L.R. 
443, 458). I can see no reason why s. 111 should 
act in such a way as to override the effect of s. 10 
108, and with all respect, I think this last section 
will operate to exclude a deduction if this arises 
as the result of an arrangement of the type struck 
at by s. 108. 

To this point I have attempted to deal with what 15 
perhaps can be described as a number of nega-
tive propositions advanced in criticism of the 
way in which the Commissioner has proposed to 
apply s. 108. I should now add that in so far as 
fiscal implications are concerned, I think its 20 
meaning and operation is determined by the 
general principles laid down by the Privy Coun-
cil in Newton's case (supra). There are differ-
ences in wording between s. 108 and the Aus-
tralian section, but I do not think they have any 25 
great practical significance when one is compar-
ing the scope of the two sections in so far as ar-
rangements directed to obtaining an income tax 
advantage are concerned. I have already ex-
pressed my opinion as to the meaning of the two 30 
words "relieving"  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  694 
and "avoiding" where they appear in s. 108 and 
s. 260 (c) respectively. But there is a further 
consideration which appears to bring the effect 35 
of each of the two sections to a point which is 
virtually indistinguishable. Section 260 (c) 
speaks of avoiding any liability imposed by the 
Act; while the second limb of the New Zealand 
section is limited to a particular liability -- the 40 
liability to pay income tax. However, all the 
Australian cases have been concerned with the 
avoidance of this last liability rather than any 
other which might be imposed by the Act; and I 
find great difficulty in imagining an arrangement 45 
having the effect of avoiding a liability for in-
come tax which would not also have the effect 
of relieving a person (wholly or in part) from 
that same liability. The converse seems equally 
to be true. In any case, I think that valuable as-50 
sistance can be derived from the Australian cas-
es when an attempt is made to give effect and 
meaning s. 108. 

On the principles laid down by the Privy Coun-
cil, therefore, and taking into account the Aus-55 

tralian decisions, it seems that the application of 
s. 108 will depend first upon a decision as to 
whether an income tax advantage was one of the 
actuating purposes of the transaction under re-
view; or whether it is "capable of explanation by 60 
reference to ordinary business or family dealing, 
without necessarily being labelled as a means" 
for obtaining such a tax advantage. (See New-
ton's case [1958] A.C. 450, 466). And this deci-
sion is to be made objectively by looking at the 65 
overt acts done in pursuance of the whole ar-
rangement (ibid., 465). The section is not de-
signed to prevent ordinary commercial, or fami-
ly, or charitable dispositions. Nevertheless this is 
a general provision aimed at otherwise legal 70 
methods of tax avoidance. It is designed, as I 
stated earlier, to forestall the use by individual 
taxpayers of ordinary legal processes for the de-
liberate purpose of obtaining a relief from the 
natural burden of taxation denied generally to 75 
the same class of taxpayer. Accordingly it is my 
opinion that family or business dealings will be 
caught by s. 108 despite their characterisation as 
such, if there is associated with them the addi-
tional purpose or effect of tax relief (in the sense 80 
contemplated by the section) pursued as a goal 
in itself and not arising as a natural incident of 
some other purpose. If this were not so I suppose 
an appropriate legal window dressing could still 
be devised to defeat the general objects of the 85 
section. 

In applying these general principles the Austral-
ian Courts have concentrated some attention 
upon the extent to which the taxpayer concerned 
has retained in his own hands the effective use 90 
and disposition of the moneys in question. There 
usually is, too, a series of transactions which 
have been applied in a concerted way as part of 
a predetermined routine. It is my opinion that 
both these elements apply and are to be found in 95 
the present case. There clearly was an overall 
plan preceding the individual steps taken, and 
equally clearly the intention was that those steps 
should take effect as a whole. The steps them-
selves involved first the creation of a trust which 100 
had vitality only to the extent desired or permit-
ted by the trustees, who are the appellants; then 
there was a sale by them to the trust of valuable 
assets capable of producing a high gross income 
on terms which involved no money payments 105 
for purchase price by the trust; and this was fol-
lowed by an agreement for hire on a basis which 
had the effect of cutting the appellants' assessa-
ble income in half. Nevertheless the amount rep-
resenting the hire charges was not paid over, but 110 
for all practical purposes remained in their hands 
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either as a capital receipt or as a loan. And the 
assets in respect of which the capital payments 
were made by the trust would in due  
[1966] NZLR 683 page  695 
course revert to them as absolute owners unless 5 
they chose on an arbitrary basis to dispose of the 
capital of the trust in favour of the beneficiaries. 
It is said that this whole arrangement was in-
tended to give each family a share in the capital 
assets of the business or in the business itself. 10 
On this basis the claim is made that this should 
be regarded as one of those normal family trans-
actions described by Lord Denning. I am quite 
unable to accept this submission. The absence of 
any change in the practical operation of the part-15 
nership business; the emphasis on the income 
aspects of the transaction; the extraordinarily 
wide powers given to the appellants as trustees; 
and provision that any remaining capital should 
revert to them in 1968; and the other features of 20 
the transaction which I have described -- all this 
puts it outside the range of any normal disposi-
tion for family purposes. To the extent that the 
transaction included as a purpose intended bene-
fits for the one family or the other, I consider 25 
this purpose to be entirely subsidiary to the dom-
inant and general purpose disclosed by the 
whole arrangement of obtaining a disposition of 
income in the guise of business expenses. It is 
not without interest that the Commonwealth 30 
Taxation Board of Review in Australia has dealt 
with an almost parallel case and in much the 
same way: see Case No. 6 (1962) 11 C.T.B.R. 
(N.S.) 24. 

I think, therefore, that looking at the transactions 35 
themselves, there is a clear inference to be 
drawn that one at least of the designed purposes 
was to diminish income receipts by factitious 
deductions, and by this process achieve a fa-
vourable alteration in the incidence of income 40 
tax, and have the effect for the appellants of re-
lieving them from some part of their liability to 
pay income tax. In the circumstances the agree-
ment for sale and purchase of the two machines 
and the instrument by way of bailment cannot be 45 
relied upon by the appellants for the purpose of 
disputing the assessments, and by reason of the 
operation of s. 108 must be disregarded. When 
this is done the deduction for hire charge imme-
diately disappears and the assessable income of 50 
the appellants is consequently the income de-
termined by the Commissioner as outlined in his 
assessments. The questions before the Court are 
therefore answered in terms of these findings, 
and I allow the Commissioner costs on the ap-55 

peal in the sum of 40 guineas together with dis-
bursements. Judgment accordingly. 

Solicitors for the appellants: R. H. le Pine 
and Co. (Taupo). 60 

Solicitors for the respondent: Crown Law 
Office (Wellington). 
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Entick v Carrington [1765] EWHC KB J98, 95 ER 807 

King’s Bench 
Michaelmas Term, 6 Geo. III 1765 

In trespass; the plaintiff declares that the 
defensants on the 11th day of November in 5
the year of our Lord 1762, at Westminster 
in Middlesex, with force and arms broke 
and entered the dwelling-house of the 
plaintiff in the parish of St. Dunstan 
Stepney, and continued there four hours 10
without his consent and against his will, 
and all that time disturbed him in the 
peaceable possession thereof, and broke 
open the doors to the rooms, the locks, 
iron bars, etc. thereto affixed, and broke 15
open the boxes, chests, drawers, etc. of 
the plaintiff in his house, and broke the 
locks thereto affixed, and searched and 
examined all the rooms, etc. in his 
dwelling-house, and all the boxes, etc. so 20
broke open, and read over, pryed into, and 
examined all the private papers, books, 
etc. of the plaintiff there found, whereby 
the secret affairs, etc. of the plaintiff 
became wrongfully discovered and made 25
public; and took and carried away 100 
printed charts, 100 printed pamphlets, etc. 
of the plaintiff there found, and other 100 
charts, etc. etc. took and carried away, to 
the damage of the plaintiff 2000l. The 30
defendants plead, 1st, not guilty to the 
whole declaration, whereupon issue is 
joined. 2ndly, as to the breaking and 
entering the dwelling-house, and 
continuing four hours, and all that time 35
disturbing him in the possession thereof, 
and breaking open the doors to the rooms, 
and breaking open the boxes, chests, 
drawers, etc. of the plaintiff in his house, 
and searching and examining all the 40
rooms, etc. in his dwelling-house, and all 
the boxes, etc. so broke open, and reading 
over, prying into, and examining the 
private papers, books, etc. of the plaintiff 
there found, and taking and carrying away 45
the goods and chattels in the declaration 
first mentioned there found, and also as to 

taking and carrying away the goods and 
chattels in the declaration last mentioned, 
the defendants say, the plaintiff ought not 50
to have his action against them, because 
they say, that before the supposed 
trespass, on the 6th of November 1762, 
made his warrant under his hand and seal 
directed to the defendants, taking a 55
constable to their assistance, to make 
strict and diligent search for the plaintiff, 
mentioned in the said warrant to be the 
author, or one concerned in the writing of 
several weekly very seditious papers, 60
intitled The Monitor, or British 
Freeholder, No. 357, 358, 360, 373, 376, 
378, and 380; London prinpted for J. 
Wilson and J. Fell in Paternoster-Row, 
containing gross and scandalous 65
reflections and invectives upon His 
Majesty's Government, and upon both 
Houses of Parliament, and him the 
plaintiff having found, to seize and 
apprehend and bring together with his 70
books and papers in safe custody, before 
Earl of Halifax to be examined 
concerning the premises, and further dealt 
with according to law; in the due 
execution whereof all mayors sheriffs, 75
justices of the peace, constables, and all 
other His Majesty's officers civil and 
military and loving subjects, whom it 
might concern, were to be aiding and 
assisting to them the defendants, as there 80
should be occasion: and the defendants 
further say, that afterwards and before the 
trespass, on the same day and year, the 
warrant was delivered to them to be 
executed, and thereupon, they on the same 85
day and year in the declaration, in the day 
time about 11 o'clock, being the said time 
when, etc. by virtue and for the execution 
of the said warrant, entered the plaintiff's 
dwelling-house, the outer door thereof 90
being then open, to search for and seize 
the plaintiff and his books and papers in 
order to bring him and them before the 
Earl of Halifax, according to the warrant, 
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and the defendants did then and there find 
the plaintiff, and seized and apprehended 
him, and did search for his books and 
papers in his house, and did necessarily 
search and examine the rooms therein, 5
and also his boxes, chests, etc. there, in 
order to find and seize his books and 
papers, and to bring them along with the 
plaintiff before the said earl, according to 
the warrant; and upon the said search did 10
then in the said house find and seize the 
goods and chattels of the plaintiff in the 
declaration, and on the same day did carry 
the said books and papers to a house at 
Westminster, where the said earl then and 15
long before transacted the business of his 
office, and delivered the same to Lovel 
Stanhope Esq. Who then was, and yet is 
an assistant to the earl in his office as 
Secretary of State, to be examined, and 20
who was then authorized to receive the 
same from them for that purpose, as it was 
lawful for them to do; and the plaintiff 
afterwards, (to wit) on the 17th of 
November in the said year, was 25
discharged out of their custody, and in 
searching for the books and papers of the 
plaintiff the defendants did necessarily 
read over, pry into, and examine the said 
private papers, books, etc. of the plaintiff, 30
in the declaration mentioned then found in 
his house; and because at the said time 
when, etc. the said doors in the said house 
leading to the rooms therein, and the said 
boxes, chests, etc, were shut and fastened 35
so that the defendants could not search 
and examine the said rooms, boxes, 
chests, etc. they, for the necessary 
searching and examining the same, did 
then necessarily break and force open the 40
said doors, boxes, chests, etc. as it was 
lawful for them to do; and on the said 
occasion the defendants necessarily 
stayed in the house of the plaintiff, etc. 
(and so repeat the trespass covered by this 45
plea) whereof the plaintiff above 
complains; and this, etc. wherefore they 
pray judgment, etc. The plaintiff replies to 
the plea of justification above, that (as to 
the trespass thereby covered) he, by any 50

thing alledged by the defendants therein, 
ought not to be barred from having his 
action against them, because he says, that 
the defendants at the parish of Stepney, of 
their own wrong, and without the cause 55
by them in that plea alledged, broke and 
entered the house of the plaintiff, etc. etc. 
in manner and form as the plaintiff hath 
complained above; and this he prays may 
be inquired of by the country; and the 60
defendants do so likewise. There is 
another plea of justification like the first, 
with this difference only, that in the last 
plea it is alledged, the plaintiff and his 
papers, etc. were carried before Lord 65
Halifax, but in the first, it is before Lovel 
Stanhope, his assistant or law clerk; and 
the like replication of de injuria sua 
propria absq. Tali causa, whereupon a 
third issue is joined. This cause was tried 70
in Westminster-Hall before the Lord 
Chief Justice, when the jury found a 
special verdict to the following purport: 

"The jurors upon their oath say, as to 
the issue first joined, (upon the plea of not 75
guilty to the whole trespass in the 
declaration,) that as to the coming with 
force and arms, and also the trespass in 
declaration, except the breaking and 
entering the dwelling-house of the 80
plaintiff, and continuing therein for the 
space of four hours, and all that time 
disturbing him in the possession thereof, 
and searching several rooms therein, and 
in one bureau, one writing-desk, and 85
several drawers of the plaintiff in his 
house, and reading over and examining 
several of his papers there, and seizing, 
taking and carrying away some of his 
books and papers there found, in the 90
declaration complained of, the said 
defendants are not guilty. As to breaking 
and entering the dwelling-house, etc. 
(above excepted,) the jurors on their oath 
say, that at the time of making the 95
following information, and before and 
until and at the time of granting the 
warrant hereafter mentioned, and from 
thence hitherto, the Earl of Halifax was, 
and still is one of the lords of the King's 100
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Privy Council, and one of his principal 
Secretaries of State, and that before the 
time in the declaration, viz. on the 11th of 
October 1762, at Saint James's, 
Westminster, one Jonathan Scott of 5
London, bookseller and publisher, came 
before Edward Weston Esq. an assistant 
to the said earl, and a justice of peace for 
the City and liberty of Westminster, and 
there made and gave information in 10
writing to and before the said Edward 
Weston against the said John Entick and 
others, the tenor of which information 
now produced and given in information of 
J. Scott, in the year 1755. I proposed 15
setting up a paper, and mentioned it to Dr. 
Shebbeare, and in a few days one Arthur 
Beardmore, an attorney at law, sent for 
me, hearing of my intention, and desired I 
would mention it to Dr. Shebbeare, that 20
he, Beardmore, and some others of his 
friends had an intention of setting up a 
paper in the city. Shebbeare met 
Beardmore, and myself and Entick (the 
plaintiff), at the Horn Tavern, and agreed 25
upon the setting up the paper by the name 
of The Monitor, and that Dr Shebbeare 
and Mr Etnick should have 200l. a-year 
each. Dr Shebbeare put into Beardmore's 
and Entick's hands some papers, but 30
before the papers appeared Beardmore 
sent them back to me (Scott). Shebbeare 
insisted on having the proportion of his 
salary paid him; he had 50l. which I 
(Scott) fetched from Vere and Asgills by 35
their note, which Beardmore gave him. Dr 
Shebbeare upon this was quite left out, 
and the monies have been continued to 
Beardmore and Entick ever since, by 
subscription, as I supposed, raised, I know 40
not by whom; it has been continued in 
these hands ever since. Shebbeare, 
Beardmore, and Entick all told me that the 
late Alderman Beckford countenanced the 
paper; they agreed with me, that the 45
profits of the paper, paying all charges 
belonging to it, should be allowed me. In 
the paper of the 22d May, called Sejanus,
I apprehend the character of Sejanus 
meant Lord Bute; the original manuscript 50

was in the handwriting of David 
Meredith, Mr. Beardmore's clerk: I before 
received the manuscript for several years 
till very lately from the said  hands, and 
do believe that they continue still to write 55
it. 

Jona. Scot, St James's, 11th October 
1762"

The above information was given 
voluntarily before me, and signed in my 60
presence, by Jona. Scott. 

J. Weston. 
And the jurors further say, that on the 

6th November 1762, the said information 
was shewn to the Earl of H. and thereupon 65
the earl did then make and issue his 
warrant directed to the defendants, then 
and still being the King's messengers, and 
duly sworn to that office, for 
apprehending the plaintiff, etc. the tenor 70
of which warrant produced in evidence to 
the jurors, follows in these words and 
figures: "George Montagu Dunk, Earl of 
Halifax, Viscount Sunbury, and Baron 
Halifax, one of the Lords of His Majesty's 75
Honourable Privy Council, Lieutenant-
General of His Majesty's Forces, Lord 
Lieutenant-General and General Governor 
of the kingdom of Ireland, and principal 
Secretary of State, etc. These are in His 80
Majesty's name to authorize and require 
you, taking a constable to your assistance, 
to make strict and diligent search for John 
Entick, the author, or one concerned in the 
writing of several weekly very seditious 85
papers, intitled The Monitor, or British 
Freeholder, No. 357, 358, 360, 373, 378, 
379, 380; London, printed for J. Wilson 
and J. Fell in Paternoster-Row; which 
contain gross and scandalous reflections 90
and invectives upon His Majesty's 
Government, and upon both Houses of 
Parliament, and him having found, you 
are to seize and apprehend, and to bring, 
together with his books and papers, in 95
safe custody before me to e examined 
concerning the premises, and further dealt 
with according to law; in the due 
execution whereof all mayors, sheriffs, 
justices of the peace, constables, and other 100
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His Majesty's officers civil and military, 
and loving subjects whom it may concern, 
are to be aiding and assisting to you as 
there shall be occasion; and for so doing 
this shall be your warrant. Given at St. 5
James's the 6th day of November 1762, in 
the third year of His Majesty's reign. 
Dunk Halifax. To Nathan Carrington, 
James Watson, Thomas Ardran, and 
Robert Blackmore, four of His Majesty's 10
messengers in ordinary." And the jurors 
further say, the earl causes this warrant to 
be delivered to the defendants to be 
executed, and that the defendants 
afterwards on the 11th of November 1762, 15
at 11 o'clock in the day-time, by virtue 
and for the execution of the warrant, but 
without any constable taken by them to 
their assistance, entered the house of the 
plaintiff, the outer door thereof being 20
open, and the plaintiff being therein, to 
search for and seize the plaintiff and his 
books and papers, in order to bring him 
and them before the earl, according to the 
warrant; and the defendants did then find 25
the plaintiff there and did seize and 
apprehend him, and did there search for 
his books and papers in several rooms and 
in the house, and in one bureau, one 
writing-desk, and several drawers of the 30
plaintiff there, in order to find and seize 
the same, and bring them along with the 
plaintiff before the earl according to the 
warrant, and did then find and seize some 
of the books and papers of the plaintiffs, 35
and perused and read over several other of 
his papers which they found in the house, 
and chose to read, and that they 
necessarily continued there in the 
execution of the warrant four hours, and 40
disturbed the plaintiff in his house, and 
then took him and his said books and 
papers form thence, and forthwith gave 
notice at the office of the said Secretary of 
State in Westminster unto Lovel Stanhope 45
Esq. then before, and still being an 
assistant to the earl in the examinations of 
persons, books, and papers seized by 
virtue of warrants issued by Secretaries of 
State, and also then and still being a 50

justice of peace for the City and liberty of 
Westminster and county of Middlesex, of 
their having seized the plaintiff, his books 
and papers, and of their having them 
ready to be examined; and they then and 55
there, at the instance of the said Lovel 
Stanhope, delivered the said books and 
papers to him: and the jurors further say, 
that, on the 13th of April in the first year 
of the King, His Majesty, by his letters 60
patent under the Great Seal, gave and 
granted to the said Lovel Stanhope the 
office of law-clerk to the Secretaries of 
State; and the King did thereby ordain, 
constitute, and appoint the law-clerk to 65
attend the offices of his Secretaries of 
State, in order to take the depositions of 
all such persons whom it may be 
necessary to examine upon affairs which 
might concern the public, etc. (and then 70
the verdict sets out the letters patent to the 
law-clerk in haec verba,) as by the letters 
patent produced in evidence to the jurors 
appears. And the jurors further say, that 
Lovel Stanhope, by virtue of the said 75
letters patent long before the time when, 
etc. on the 13th of April in the first year of 
the King was, and ever since hath been, 
and still is law-clerk to the King's 
Secretaries of State, and hat executed that 80
office all that time. And the jurors further 
say, that the different times from the time 
of the Revolution to this present time, the 
like warrants with that issued against the 
plaintiff, have been frequently granted by 85
the Secretaries of State, and executed by 
the messengers in ordinary for the time 
being, and that each of the defendants did 
respectively take at the time of being 
appointed messengers, the usual oath, that 90
he would be a true servant to the King, 
etc. in the place of a messenger in 
ordinary, etc. And the jurors further say, 
that no demand was ever made or left at 
the usual place of abode of the 95
defendants, or any of them, by the 
plaintiff, or his attorney or agent, in 
writing, of the perusal and copy of the 
said warrant so issued against the plaintiff 
as aforesaid, neither did the plaintiff 100
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commence or bring his said action against 
the defendants, or any of them, within six 
calendar months next, after the several 
acts aforesaid, and each of them were and 
was done and committed by them as 5
aforesaid; but whether, upon the whole 
matter as aforesaid by the jurors found, 
the said defendants are guilty of the 
trespass hereinbefore particularly 
specified in breaking and entering the 10
house of the plaintiff in the declaration 
mentioned, and continuing there for four 
hours, and all that time disturbing the 
plaintiff in the possession thereof, and 
searching several rooms therein, and one 15
bureau, one writing-desk, and several 
drawers of the plaintiff in his house, and 
reading over and examining several of his 
papers there, and seizing, taking and 
carrying away some of his books and 20
papers there found; or the said plaintiff 
ought to maintain his said action against 
them, the jurors are altogether ignorant, 
and pray the advice of the Court 
thereupon; and if upon the whole matter 25
aforesaid by the jurors found, it shall 
seem to the Court that the defendants are 
guilty of the said trespass, and that the 
plaintiff hath thereof complained against 
them; and they assess the damages of the 30
plaintiff by occasion thereof, besides his 
costs and charges by him about his suit in 
this behalf laid out, to 300l., and for those 
costs and charges to 40s.; but if upon the 
whole mater by the jurors found, it shall 35
seem to the Court that the said defendants 
are not guilty of the said trespass, or that 
the plaintiff ought not to maintain his 
action against them, then the jurors do say 
upon their oath that the defendants are not 40
guilty of the said trespass in manner and 
form as the plaintiff hath thereof 
complained against them: and as to the 
last issue on the second special 
justification, the jury found for the 45
plaintiff, that the defendants in their own 
wrong broke and entered, and did the 
trespass as the plaintiff in his replication 
has alleged. 

This special verdict was twice 50
solemnly argued at the Bar; in Easter term 
last by Serjeant Leigh for the plaintiff, 
and Burland, one of the King's Serjeants, 
for the defendants, and in this present 
term by Serjeant Glynn for the plaintiff, 55
and Nares, one of the King's Serjeants, for 
the defendants. 

Counsel for the plaintiff. At the trial of 
this cause the defendants relied upon two 
defences; 1st, that a Secretary of State as a 60
justice or conservator of the peace, and 
these messengers acting under his 
warrant, are within the statute of the 
24th of Geo. 2, c. 44, which enacts, 
(among other things,) that "no action shall 65
be brought against any constable or other 
officer, or any person acting by his order 
and in his aid, for nay thing done in 
obedience to the warrant of a justice, until 
demand hath been made or left at the 70
usual place of his adobe by the party, or 
by his attorney in writing signed by the 
party demanding the same, of the perusal 
and copy of such warrant, and the same 
hath been refused or neglected for six 75
days after such demand," and that no 
demand was ever made by the plaintiff of 
a perusal or copy of such warrant in this 
case, according to that statute, and 
therefore he shall not have this action 80
against these defendants, who are merely 
ministerial officers acting under the 
Secretary of State, who is a justice and 
conservator of the peace. 2ndly, that the 
warrant under which the defendants acted 85
in a legal warrant, and that they can well 
justify what they have done by virtue 
thereof, for that at many different times, 
from the time of the Revolution till this 
time, the like warrants with that issued 90
against the plaintiff in this case have been 
granted by Secretaries of State, and 
executed by the messengers in ordinary 
for the time being. 

1. It is most clear and manifest upon 95
this verdict, that the Earl of Halifax acted 
as Secretary of State when he granted the 
warrant, and not merely as a justice of the 
peace, and therefore cannot be within the 
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statute 24 Geo. 2, c.44, neither would he 
be within the statute if he was a 
conservator of the peace, such person not 
being once named therein; and there is no 
book in the law whatever that ranks a 5
Secretary of State quasi secretary among 
the conservators of the peace; Lambert, 
Coke, Hawkins, Lord Hale, etc. etc. none 
of them take any notice of a Secretary of 
State being a conservator of the peace, 10
and until of late days he was no more 
indeed than a mere clerk; a conservator of 
the peace had no more power than a 
constable has now, who is a conservator 
of the peace had no more power than a 15
constable has now, who is a conservator 
of the peace at common law. At the time 
of making this statute, a justice of peace, 
constable, headborough, and other 
officers of the peace, borsholders and 20
tithingmen, as well as Secretary of State, 
conservator of the peace and messenger in 
ordinary, were all very well known; and if 
it had been the intent of the statute, that a 
Secretary of State, conservator of the 25
peace, and messenger in ordinary, should 
have been within the statute, it would 
have mentioned all or some of them, and 
it not having done so, they cannot be 
within it. A messenger certainly cannot be 30
within it, who is nothing more than a mere 
porter, and Lord Halifax's footmen might 
as well be said to be officers within the 
statute as these defendants. Besides, the 
verdict finds that these defendants 35
executed the warrant without taking a 
constable to their assistance; this 
disobedience will not only take them out 
of the protection of the statute, (if they 
had been within it,) but will also disable 40
them to justify what they have done, by 
any plea whatever; the office of these 
defendants is a place of considerable 
profit, and as unlike that of a constable or 
tithingman as can be, which is an office of 45
burthen and expence, and which he is 
bound to execute in person, and cannot 
substitute another in his room, though he 
may call persons to assist him. 1 Hale's P. 
C. 581. This warrant is more lake a 50

warrant to search for stolen goods and to 
seize them, than nay other kind of warrant 
which ought to be directed to constables 
and other public officers which the law 
takes notice of. 2 Hale's P. C. 149, 150. 55
How much more necessary in the present 
case was it to take a constable to the 
defendants' assistance? The defendants 
have also disobeyed the warrant in 
another matter, being commanded to 60
bring the plaintiff and his books and 
papers before Lord Halifax; they carried 
him and them before Lovel Stanhope, the 
law-clerk, and though he is a justice of 
peace, that avails nothing, for no single 65
justice of peace ever claimed a right to 
issue such a warrant as this, nor did he act 
therein as a justice of peace, but as the 
law-clerk to Lord Halifax. The 
information was made before Justice 70
Weston; the Secretary of State in this case 
never saw the accuser nor the accused; it 
seems to have been below his dignity; the 
names of the officers introduced here are 
not to be found in the law-books, from the 75
first Year-Book to the present time. 

2. A power to issue such a warrant as 
this, is contrary to the genius of the law of 
England, and even if they had found what 
they searched for, they could not have 80
justified under it; but they did not find 
what they searched for, nor does it appear 
that the plaintiff was author of any of the 
supposed seditious papers mentioned in 
the warrant, so that it now appears that 85
this enormous trespass and violent 
proceeding has been done upon mere 
surmise; but the verdict says such 
warrants have been granted by Secretaries 
of State ever since the Revolution; if they 90
have, it is high time to put an end to them, 
for if they are held to be legal the liberty 
of this country is at an end; it is the 
publishing of a libel which is the crime, 
and not the having it locked up in a 95
private drawer in a man's study; but if 
having it in one's custody was the crime, 
no power can lawfully break into a man's 
house and study to search for evidence 
against him; this would be worse than the 100
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Spanish Inquisition; for ranksacking a 
man's secret drawers and boxes to come at 
evidence against him, is like racking his 
body to come at his secret thoughts. The 
warrant is to seize all the plaintiff's books 5
and papers without exception, and carry 
them before Lord Halifax; what? Has a 
Secretary of State a right to see all a man's 
private letters of correspondence, family 
concerns, trade and business? This would 10
be monstrous indeed; and if it were 
lawful, no man could endure to live in this 
country. In the case of a search warrant 
for stolen goods, it is never granted, but 
upon the strongest evidence, that a felony 15
has been committed, and that the goods 
are secreted in such a house, and it is to 
seize such goods as were stolen, not all 
the goods in the house; but if stolen goods 
are not found there, all who entered with 20
the warrant are trespassers. However 
frequently these warrants have been 
granted since the Revolution, that will not 
make them lawful, for if they were 
unreasonable or unlawful when first 25
granted, no usage or continuance can 
make them good; even being 
unreasonable, contrary to common right, 
or purely against law, if upon considering 
their nature and quality they shall be 30
found injourious to a multitude, and 
prejudicial to the common wealth, and to 
have their commencement (for the most 
part) through the oppression and extortion 
of lords and great men. Davis 32 b. These 35
warrants are not by custom; they go no 
farther back than 80 years and most 
amazing it is they have never before this 
time been opposed or controverted, 
considering the great men that have 40
presided in the King's Bench since that 
time; but it was reserved for the honour of 
this Court, which has ever been the 
protector of the liberty and property of the 
subject, to demolish this monster of 45
oppression, and to tear into rags this 
remnant of Star-Chamber tyranny. 

Counsel for the defendants. I am not at 
all alarmed, if this power is established to 
be in the Secretary of State; it has been 50

used in the best of times, often since the 
Revolution. I shall argue, 1st that the 
Secretary of State has power to grant 
these warrants, and if I cannot maintain 
this, I must 2dly shew that by the statute 55
24 Geo. 2, c. 24, this action does not lie 
against the defendants the messengers. 1. 
A Secretary of State has the same power 
to commit for treason as a justice of 
peace. Kendale and Roe, Skin. 596. 1 60
Salk. 346, S. C. 1 Ld. Raym. 65. 5 Mod. 
78, S. C. Sir Wm. Wyndham was 
committed by James Stanhope, Secretary 
of State, to the Tower for high treason to 
the 7th of October 1715; see the case 1 65
Stra. 2; and Serjeant Hawkins says, it is 
certain that the Privy Council, or nay one 
or two of them, or a Secretary of State, as 
in all ages they have done. 2 Hawk. P. C. 
117, sect. 4. 1 Leon. 70, 71. Carth. 291. 2 70
Leon. 175. If it is clear that a Secretary of 
State may commit for treason and other 
offences against the State, he certainly 
may commit for a seditious libel against 
the Government, for there can hardly be a 75
greater offence against the State, except 
actual treason. A Secretary of State is 
within the Habeas Corpus Act, but a 
power to commit without a power to issue 
his warrant to seize the offender and the 80
libel would be nothing; so it must be 
concluded that he has the same power 
upon information to issue a warrant to 
search for and seize a seditious libel, and 
its author and publisher, as a justice of 85
peace has for granting a warrant to search 
for stolen goods, upon an information that 
a theft has been committed, and that the 
goods are concealed in such a place; in 
which case the constable and officers 90
assisting him in the search, may break 
open doors, boxes, etc. to come at such 
stolen goods. Supposing the practice of 
granting warrants to search for libels 
against the State be admitted to be an evil 95
in particular cases, yet to let such libellers 
escape who endeavour to raise rebellion is 
a greater evil, and may be compared to the 
reasoning of Mr. Justice Foster in the case 
of pressing, 159, where he says, "that war 100
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is a great evil, but it is chosen to avoid a 
greater. The practice of pressing is one of 
the mischiefs war brings with it; but it is a 
maxim in law and good policy too, that all 
private mischiefs must be borne with 5
patience, for preventing a national 
calamity," etc. 

2. Supposing there is a defect of 
jurisdiction in the Secretary of State, yet 
the defendants are within the stat. 24 Geo. 10
2, c. 44, and though not within the words, 
yet they are within the reason of it; that it 
is not unusual in Acts of Parliament to 
comprehend by construction a generality 
where express mention is made only of a 15
particular; the Statute of Circumspecte 
Agitatis concerning the Bishop of 
Norwich extends to all bishops. Fitz. 
Prohibition 3, and 2 Inst. on this statute. 
25 Ed. 3 enables the incumbent to plead in 20
quare impedit to the King's suit; this also 
extends to the suits of all persons. 38 Ed. 
3, 31, the Act 1 Rich. 2 ordains, that the 
warden of the Fleet shall not permit 
prisoners in execution to go out of prison 25
by bail or baston, yet it is adjudged that 
this Act extends to all gaolers. Plowd. 
Com. Case of Platt, 35 b. the Stat. de 
Donis Conditionalibus extends to all other 
limitations in tail not there particularly 30
mentioned, and the like construction has 
been put upon several other statutes. Tho. 
Jones 62. The stat. 7 Jac. 1, c. 5, the word 
constable therein extends to a deputy 
constable. Moor 845. These messengers in 35
ordinary have always been considered as 
officers of the Secretaries of State, and a 
commitment may be to their custody, as 
in Sir W. Wyndham's case. A justice of 
peace may make a constable pro hac vice 40
to execute a warrant, who would be 
within the Stat. 24 Geo. 2. So if these 
defendants are not constables, yet as 
officers they have power to execute a 
warrant out of his jurisdiction; officers 45
acting under colour of office, though 
doing an illegal act, are within this statute. 
Vaugh. 113. So that no demand having 
ever been made of a warrant, nor any 
action commenced within six months, the 50

plaintiff has no right of action. It was said 
that a conservator of the peace had no 
more power than a constable has now. I 
answer, they had power to bind over at 
common law, but a constable has not. 55
Dalton, cap. 1. 

Counsel for the plaintiff in reply. It is 
said this has been done in the best of 
times ever since the Revolution; the 
conclusion from thence is, that it is the 60
more inexcusable, because done in the 
best of times, in an aera when the 
common law (which had been trampled 
under the food of arbitrary power) was 
revived. We do not deny but the Secretary 65
of State hath power to commit to treason 
and other offences against the State, but 
that is not the present case, which is 
breaking into the house of a subject, 
breaking into his drawers and boxes, 70
ransacking all the rooms in his house, and 
prying into all his private affairs; but it is 
said if the Secretary of State has power to 
commit, he has power to search, etc as in 
the case of stolen goods. This is a false 75
consequence, and it might as well be said 
he has a power to torture. As to stolen 
goods, if the officers find none, have they 
a right to take away a man's goods which 
were not stolen? Pressing is said to be a 80
dangerous power, and yet it has been 
allowed for the benefit of the State; but 
that is only the argument and opinion of a 
single Judge, from ancient history and 
records, in times when the lower part of 85
the subjects were little better than slaves 
to their lords and great men, and has not 
been allowed to be lawful (without an Act 
of Parliament) since the time of the 
Revolution. The Stat. 24 Geo. 2 has been 90
compared to ancient statutes, naming 
particular persons and districts, which 
have been construed to extend to many 
others not named therein; and so the 
defendants, though no such officers are 95
mentioned, by like reason, are within the 
Statute 24 Geo. 2; but the law knows no 
such officers as messengers in ordinary to 
the King. It is said the Habeas Corpus Act 
extends to commitments by Secretaries of 100
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State, though they are not mentioned 
therein: true; but that statute was made to 
protect the innocent against illegal and 
arbitrary power. It is said the Secretary of 
State is a justice of peace, and the 5
messengers are his officers; why then did 
the warrant direct them to take a constable 
to their assistance, if they were 
themselves the proper officers? It seems 
to admit they were not the proper officers; 10
if a man be made an officer for a special 
purpose to arrest another, he must shew 
his authority; and if he refuses, it is not 
murder to kill him; but a constable or 
other known officer in the law need not 15
shew his warrant. 

Lord Chief Justice. I shall not give any 
opinion at present, because this case, 
which is of the utmost consequence to the 
public, is to be argued again; I shall only 20
just mention a mater which has slipped 
the sagacity of the counsel on both sides, 
that it may be taken notice of upon the 
next argument. Suppose a warrant which 
is against law be granted, such as no 25
justice of peace, or other magistrate high 
or low whomsoever, has power to issue, 
whether that magistrate or justice who 
grants such warrant, or the officer who 
executes it, are within the stat. 24 Geo. 2, 30
c. 44? To put one case (among an hundred 
that might happen); suppose a justice of 
peace issues a warrant to search a house 
for stolen goods, and directs it to four of 
his servants, be within the Stat. 24 Geo. 35
2? I desire that every point of this case 
may be argued to the bottom; for I shall 
think myself bound, when I come to give 
judgment, to give my opinion upon every 
point in the case. 40

Counsel for the plaintiff on the second 
argument. If the Secretary of State, or a 
Privy Counsellor, Justice of Peace, or 
other magistrate whatever, have no legal 
power to grant the warrant in the present 45
case, it will follow, that the magistrate 
usurping such an illegal power can never 
be construed to be within the meaning or 
reason of the statute of 24 Geo. 2, c. 44, 
which was made to protect justices of 50

peace, etc. where they made blunders, or 
erred in judgment in cases within their 
jurisdiction, and not to give them arbitrary 
power to issue warrants totally illegal 
from beginning to end, and in cases 55
wherein they had no jurisdiction at all. If 
any such power in a Secretary of State, or 
Privy Counsellor, had ever existed, it 
would appear from our law-books; all the 
ancient books are silent on this head; 60
Lambert never once mentions a Secretary 
of State; neither he, nor a Privy 
Counsellor, were ever considered as 
magistrates; in all the arguments touching 
the Star-Chamber, and petition of right, 65
nothing of this power was ever dreamt of; 
State commitments anciently were either 
per mandatum Regis in person, or by 
warrant of several of the Privy 
Counsellors in the plural number; the 70
King has this power in a particular mode, 
viz. by the advice of his Privy Council, 
who are to be answerable to the people of 
wrong is done; he has no other way but in 
Council to signify his mandate. In the 75
case of The Seven Bishops this matter was 
insisted upon at the Bar, when the Court 
presumed the commitment of them was 
by advice of the Privy Council, but that a 
single Privy Counsellor had this power 80
wad not contended for by the Crown 
lawyers then. This Court will require it to 
be shewn that there have been ancient 
commitments of this sort; neither the 
Secretary of State or a Privy Counsellor 85
ever claimed a right to administer an oath 
(but they employ a person as a law-clerk, 
who is a justice of peace, to administer 
oaths, and take recognizances); Sir Barth. 
Shower in Kendale and Roe's case,90
insisted they never had such power. It 
would be a solecism in our law to say, 
there is a person who has power to 
commit, and has not power to examine on 
oath, and bail the party; therefore whoever 95
has power to commit has power to bail; it 
was a question formerly, whether a 
constable as an ancient conservator of the 
peace could take a recognizance or bond? 
In the time of Queen Eliz. there was a 100
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case wherein some of the Judges were of 
one opinion and some of another. A 
Secretary of State was so inconsiderable 
formerly, that he is not mentioned in the 
Statute of Scandalum Magnatum; his 5
office was thought of no great 
importance; he takes no oath of office as 
Secretary of State, gives no kind of 
security for the exercise of such judicial 
power as he now usurps. If this was an 10
ancient power it must have been annexed 
to his office anciently, it cannot now be 
given to him by the King; the King cannot 
make two Chief Justices of the Common 
Pleas, nor could the King put the Great 15
Seal in commission before an Act of 
Parliament was made for that purpose. 
There was only one Secretary of State 
formerly, there are now two appointed by 
the King; if they have this power of 20
magistracy, it should seem to require 
some law to be made to give that power to 
two Secretaries of State which was 
formerly in one only. As to commitments 
per mandatum Regis, see Samf. Pl. Corn. 25
72. 4 Inst. c. 5, Court of Star-Chamber. 
Admitting they have power to commit in 
high treason, it will not follow they have 
power to commit for a misdemeanor; it is 
of necessity that they can commit in high 30
treason, which requires immediate 
interposition for the benefit of the public. 
In the case of commitment by 
Walsingham Secretary of State, 1 Leon. 
71, it was returned on the habeas corpus at 35
least, that the party was committed ex 
sentention & mandate totius Concilii 
Privati dominae Reginae; because he 
found he had not that power of himself, he 
had recourse to the whole Privy Council's 40
power; so that this case is rather for the 
plaintiff. Commitment by the High 
Commission Court of York was declared 
by Parliament illegal from the beginning; 
so in the case of ship-money the 45
Parliament declared it illegal. 

Counsel for the defendants on the 
second argument. The most able Judges 
and advocates ever since the Revolution, 
seem to have agreed that the Secretaries 50

of State have this power to commit for a 
misdemeanor. Secretaries of State have 
been looked upon in a very high light for 
two hundred years past. 27 H. 8, c. 11, 
their rank and place is settled by 31 H. 8, 55
c. 10. 4 Inst. 362, cap. 77, of precedency. 
4 Inst. 56, Selden's Titles of Honour, C. 
Officers of State; so that a Secretary of 
State is something more than a mere 
clerk, as was said. Minshew ver. 60
Secretary; he is e Secretioribus Concillis 
domini Regis. Serjeant Pengelly moved 
that Sir Wm. Windham might be bailed; if 
he could not be committed by the 
Secretary of State for something less than 65
treason, why did he move to have him 
bailed? This seems a concession that he 
might be committed in that case for 
something less than treason. Lord Holt 
seems to agree that a commitment by a 70
Secretary of State is good. Skin. 598. 1 
Ld. Raym. 65. There is no case in the 
books that says in what cases a Secretary 
of State can or cannot commit; by what 
power is it that he can commit in the case 75
of treason, and in no other case? The 
resolution of the House of Commons 
touching the Petition of Right, Selden, last 
volume, Parliamentary History, vol. 8, fol. 
95, 96. Secretary Coke told the Lords, it 80
was his duty to commit by the King's 
command. Yoxley's case, Carth. 291: He 
was committed by the Secretary of State 
on the Statute of Eliz. for refusing to 
answer whether he was a Romish 85
priest; The Queen and Derby, Fortescue's 
Rep. the commitment by the Secretary of 
State, Mich. 10 Annae, for a libel, and 
held good. (Note; Bathurst, J. said, he had 
seen the habeas corpus and the return, and 90
that this was a commitment by a Secretary 
of State.) The King and Earbury, Mich. 7 
Geo. 2, 2 Bernard. 346, was a motion to 
discharge a recognizance entered into for 
writing a paper called the Royal Oak.95
Lord Hardwicke said it was settled 
in Kendale and Roe's case, that a 
Secretary of State might apprehend 
persons suspected of treasonable 
practices; and there are a great number of 100
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precedents in the Crown-Office of 
commitments by Secretaries of State for 
libels against the Government. After time 
taken to consider, the whole Court gave 
judgment this term for the plaintiff. 5

Curia. The defendants make two 
defences; first, that they are within the 
stat. 24 Geo. 2, c. 44; 2dly, that such 
warrants have frequently been granted by 
Secretaries of State ever since the 10
Revolution, and have never been 
controverted, and that they are legal; upon 
both which defences the defendants rely. 

A Secretary of State, who is a Privy 
Counsellor, if he be a conservator of the 15
peace, whatever power he has to commit 
is by the common law: if he be considered 
only as a Privy Counsellor, he is the only 
one at the board who has exercised this 
authority of late years; if as a conservator, 20
he never binds to the peace; no other 
conservator ever did that we can find: he 
has no power to administer an oath, or 
take bail; but yet it must be admitted that 
he is in the full exercise of this power to 25
commit, for treason and seditious libels 
against the Government, whatever was the 
original source of that power; as appears 
from the cases of The Queen and 
Derby, The King and Earbury,30
and Kendale and Roe's case.

We must know what a Secretary of 
State is, before we can tell whether he is 
within the stat. 24 Geo. 2, c. 44. He is the 
keeper of the King's signet wherewith the 35
King's private letters are signed. 2 Inst. 
556. Coke upon Articuli Super Chartas, 
28 Ed. 1. Lord Coke's silence is a strong 
presumption that no such power as he 
now exercises was in him at that time; 40
formerly he was not a Privy Counsellor, 
or considered as a magistrate; he bagan to 
be significant about the time of the 
Revolution, and grew great when the 
princes of Europe sent ambassadors 45
hither; it seems inconsistent that a 
Secretary of State should have power to 
commit, and no power to administer an 
oath, or take bail; who can commit and 
not have power to examine? The House of 50

Commons indeed commit without oath, 
but that is nothing to the present case; 
there is no account in our law-books of 
Secretaries of State, except in the few 
cases mentioned; he is not to be found 55
among the old conservators; in Lambert, 
Crompton, Fitzherbert, etc. etc. nor is a 
Privy Counsellor to be found among our 
old books till Kendall and Roe's case, and 
1 Leon. 70, 71, 29 Eliz. is the first case 60
that takes notice of a commitment by a 
Secretary of State; but in 2 Leon. 175 the 
Judges knew no such committing 
magistrate as the Secretary of State. It 
appears by the Petition of Right, that the 65
King and Council claimed a power to 
commit; if the Secretary of State had 
claimed any such power, then certainly 
the Petition of Right would have taken 
notice of it; but from its silence on that 70
head we may fairly conclude he neither 
claimed nor had any such power; the Stat. 
16 Car. 1, for Regulating the Privy 
Council, and taking away the Court of 
Star-Chamber, binds the King not to 75
commit, and in such case gives a habeas 
corpus; it is strange that House of 
Commons should take no notice of the 
Secretary of State, if he then had claimed 
power to commit. This power of a 80
Secretary of State to commit was 
derivative from the commitment per 
mandatum Regis: Ephemeris 
Parliamentaria. Coke says in his speech to 
the House, "If I do my duty to the King, I 85
must commit without shewing the cause;" 
1 Leon. 70, 71, shews that a commitment 
by a single Privy Counsellor, was not 
warranted. By the Licensing Statute of 13 
& 14 Car. 2, cap. 33, sec. 15, licence is 90
given to a messenger under a warrant of 
the Secretary of State to search for books 
unlicensed, and if they find any against 
the religion of the Church of England, to 
bring them before the Secretary of State; 95
the warrant in that case expressed that it 
was by the King's command. See 
Stamford's comment on the mandate of 
the King, and Lambert, cap. Bailment. All 
the Judges temp. Eliz. held that in a 100
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warrant of commitment by one Privy 
Counsellor he must shew it was by the 
mandate of the King in Council. See And. 
297, the opinion of all the Judges; they 
remonstrated to the King that no subject 5
ought to be committed by a Privy 
Counsellor against the law of the realm. 
Before the 3 Car. 1 all the Privy 
Counsellors exercised this power to 
commit; from that aera they disused this 10
power, but then they prescribed still to 
commit per mandatum Regis. Journal of 
the House of Commons 195. 16 Car. 1. 
Coke, Selden, etc. argued that the King's 
power to commit, meant that he had such 15
power by his Courts of Justice. In the case 
of The Seven Bishops all the Court and 
King's Council admit, that supposing the 
warrant had been signed out of the 
Council, that it would have been bad, but 20
the Court presumed it to be signed out of 
the board; Pollexfen in his argument says, 
we do not deny but the Council board 
have power to commit, if there had been 
any such power they could not have been 25
ignorant of it; and this power was only in 
cases of high treason, they never claimed 
it in any other case. It was argued that if a 
Secretary of State hath power to commit 
in high treason, he hath it in cases of 30
lessor crimes: but this we deny, for it 
appears that he hath power to commit in 
one case only, how can we then without 
authority say he has that power in other 
cases? He is not a conservator of the 35
peace; Justice Rokeby only says he is in 
the nature of conservator of the peace: we 
are now bound by the cases of The Queen 
and Derby, and The King and Earbury.

The Secretary of State is no 40
conservator nor a justice of the peace, 
quasi secretary, within the words or equity 
of the Stat. 24 Geo. 2, admitting him (for 
arguments sake) to be a conservator, the 
preamble of the statute shews why it was 45
made, and for what purpose; the only 
grantor of a warrant therein mentioned, is 
a justice of the peace; justice of the peace 
and conservator are not convertible terms; 
the cases of construction upon old 50

statutes, in regard to the warden of the 
Fleet, the Bishop of Norwich, etc. are not 
to be applied to cases upon modern 
statutes. The best way to construe modern 
statutes is to follow the words thereof; let 55
us compare a justice of peace and a 
conservator; the justice is liable to actions, 
as the statute takes notice, it is applicable 
to him who acts by warrant directed to 
constables; a conservator is not intrusted 60
with the execution of laws, which by this 
Act is meant statutes, which gives justices 
jurisdiction; a conservator is not liable to 
actions; he never acts: he is almost 
forgotten; there never was an action 65
against a conservator of the peace as such; 
he is antiquated, and could never be 
thought of when this Act was made; and 
ad ea que frequenter accident jura 
adaptantur. There is no act of constable or 70
tithingman as conservator taken notice of 
in the statute; will the Secretary of State 
be ranked with the highest or lowest of 
these conservators? The Statute of Jac. 1, 
for officers acting by authority to plead 75
the general issue, and give the special 
matter in evidence, when considered with 
this Statute of 24 Geo. 2, the latter seems 
to be a second part of the Act of Jac. 1, 
and we are all clearly of opinion that 80
neither the Secretary of State, nor the 
messengers, are within the Stat. 24 Geo. 
2, but if the messengers had been within 
it, as they did not take a constable with 
them according to the warrant, that alone 85
would have been fatal to them, nor did 
they pursue the warrant in the execution 
thereof, when they carried the plaintiff 
and his books, etc. before Lovel Stanhope, 
and not before Lord Halifax; that was 90
wrong, because a Secretary of State 
cannot delegate his power, but ought to 
act in this part of his office personally. 

The defendants having failed in their 
defence under the Statute 24 Geo. 2; we 95
shall now consider the special justification 
of the Secretary of State; for if he has no 
jurisdiction to grant a warrant to break 
open doors, locks, boxes, and to seize a 
man and all his books, etc. in the first 100
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instance upon an information of his being 
guilty of publishing a libel, the warrant 
will not justify the defendants: it was 
resolved by B. R. in the case Shergold v. 
Holloway, that a justice's warrant 5
expressly to arrest the party will not 
justify the officer, there being no 
jurisdiction. 2 Stran 1002. The warrant in 
our case was an execution in the first 
instance, without any previous summons, 10
examination, hearing the plaintiff, or 
proof that he was the author of the 
supposed libels; a power claimed by no 
other magistrate whatever (Scroggs C.J. 
always excepted); it was left to the 15
discretion of these defendants to execute 
the warrant in the absence or presence of 
the plaintiff, when he might have no 
witness present to see what they did; for 
they were to seize all papers, bank bills or 20
any other valuable papers they might take 
away if they were so disposed; there 
might be nobody to detect them. If this be 
lawful, both Houses of Parliament are 
involved in it, for they have both ruled, 25
that privilege doth not extend this case. In 
the case of Wilkes, a member of the 
Commons House, all his books and papers 
were seized and taken away; we were told 
by one of these messengers that he was 30
obliged by his oath to sweep away all 
papers whatsoever; if this is law it would 
be found in our books, but no such law 
ever existed in this country; our law holds 
the property of every man so sacred, that 35
no man can set his foot upon his 
neighbour's close without his leave; if he 
does he is a trespasser, though he does no 
damage at all; if he will tread upon his 
neighbour's ground, he must justify it by 40
law. The defendants have no right to avail 
themselves of the usage of these warrants 
since the Revolution, and if that would 
have justified them they have not averred 
it in their plea, so it could not be put, nor 45
was in issue at the trial; we can safely say 
there is no law in this country to justify 
the defendants in what they have done; if 
there was, it would destroy all the 
comforts of society; for papers are often 50

the dearest property a man can have. This 
case was compared to that of stolen 
goods; Lord Coke denied the lawfulness 
of granting warrants to search for stolen 
goods, 4 Inst. 176, 177, though now it 55
prevails to be law; but in that case the 
justice and the informer must proceed 
with great caution; there must be an oath 
that the party has had his goods stolen, 
and his strong reason to believe they are 60
concealed in such a place; but if the goods 
are not found there, he is a trespasser; the 
officer in that case is a witness; there are 
none in this case, no inventory taken; if it 
had been legal many guards of property 65
would have attended it. We shall now 
consider the usage of these warrants since 
the Revolution; if it began then, it is too 
modern to be law; the common law did 
not begin with the Revolution; the ancient 70
constitution which had been almost 
overthrown and destroyed, was then 
repaired and revived; the Revolution 
added a new buttress to the ancient 
venerable edifice: the K.B. lately said that 75
no objection had ever been taken to 
general warrants, they have passed sub 
silentio: this is the first instance of an 
attempt to prove a modern practice of a 
private office to make and execute 80
warrants to enter a man's house, search for 
and take away all his books and papers in 
the first instance, to be law, which is not 
to be found in our books. It must have 
been the guilt or poverty of those upon 85
whom such warrants have been executed, 
that deterred or hindered them from 
contending against the power of a 
Secretary of State and the Solicitor of the 
Treasury, or such warrants could never 90
have passed for lawful till this time. We 
are inclined to think the present warrant 
took its first rise from the Licensing Act, 
13 & 14 Car. 2, c. 33, and are all of 
opinion that it cannot be justified by law, 95
notwithstanding the resolution of the 
Judges of that time that a house may be 
searched for a libel, but the twelve Judges 
cannot make law; and if a man is 
punishable for having a libel in his private 100
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custody, as many cases say he is, half the 
kingdom would be guilty in the case of a 
favourable libel, if libels may be searched 
for and seized by whomsoever and 
wheresoever the Secretary of State thinks 5
fit. It is said it is better for the 
Government and the public to seize the 
libel before it is published; if the 
Legislature be of that opinion they will 
make it lawful. Sir Samuel Astry was 10
committed to the Tower, for asserting 
there was a law of State distinct from the 
common law. The law never forces 
evidence from the party in whose power it 
is; when an adversary has got your deeds, 15
there is no lawful way of getting them 

again but by an action. 2 Stran. 1210, The
King and Cornelius. The King and Dr. 
Purnel, Hil. 22 Geo. B.R. Our law is wise 
and merciful, and supposes every man 20
accused to be innocent before he is tried 
by his peers: upon the whole, we are all of 
opinion that this warrant is wholly illegal 
and void. One word more for ourselves; 
we are no advocates for libels, all 25
Governments must set their faces against 
them, and if juries do not prevent them 
they may prove fatal to liberty, and the 
worst Government better than none at all. 

30
Judgment for the plaintiff. 
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….

The taxpayer company is one of a 15 
group of associated companies 
which it is convenient to refer to 
as "the Todd group". The 
effective management of all the 
companies in the group is 20 
exercised by Mr Bryan Todd. The 
principal business of the taxpayer 
company is the marketing in New 
Zealand of petroleum products 
from the "light end" of refining - 25 
predominantly motor gasoline but 
including some gas oil. Its 
principal competitors in New 
Zealand are companies controlled 
by or associated with one or other 30 
of the major international oil 
companies which have interests in 
oilfields and refineries in the 
Middle East or elsewhere east of 
Suez from which their 35 
requirements of light end products 
can be obtained. In contrast to its 
competitors the Todd Group has 
no interest in any oil field and 
during the period covered by the 40 
first set of contracts it had no 
interest in any refinery. It had to 
purchase its stock-in-trade in bulk 
from one or other of the major 
international oil companies in the 45 
fully refined form in which it was 
marketed in New Zealand. 

Gulf Oil Corporation 
("Gulf"), an American company, 
is one of the major international 50 
oil companies. By itself or 
through its subsidiary companies 
(hereafter referred to as "the Gulf 
group") it had interests in oilfields 

in the Middle East and access to 55 
refinery capacity there. The group 
had ample outlets east of Suez for 
the heavy end products of refining 
crude oil from its oilfields, but an 
inadequate market for the light 60 
end products, and no outlet for 
these products in New Zealand. 
So the petroleum products of 
which it had a surplus to dispose 
of were those of which the Todd 65 
group needed an assured source of 
supply. In this respect the 
business interests of the two 
groups were complementary. 

The prices at which bulk 70 
supplies of crude oil and refined 
products were bought and sold on 
the world market were, at the 
relevant periods, tightly 
controlled by the major 75 
international oil companies. Sales 
were at "posted prices", the posted 
price for a refined product being 
greater than the posted price for 
crude oil by an amount equivalent 80 
to the cost of refining with the 
addition of a refiner's profit. 

In order to secure an assured 
outlet for the surplus light ends of 
the crude oil that it refined in the 85 
Middle East it was in the business 
interest of 
[1976] 1 NZLR 546 page  549 
the Gulf group to forgo some part 
of the refiner's profit included in 90 
the posted prices applicable to 
those refined products which it 
supplied to the Todd group. The 
amount to be forgone was the 
subject of hard bargaining 95 
between the two groups in 1956. 
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It was ultimately fixed at 2.5 cents 
per gallon of gasoline or gas oil 
supplied to the taxpayer company. 
The Gulf group, however, was for 
business reasons unwilling to 5 
depart from the established 
system of posted prices by 
making this concession in the 
form of a reduction in the price at 
which it sold the refined products 10 
to the taxpayer company. So the 
benefit of the concession of 2.5 
cents per gallon had to be given 
by the Gulf group to the Todd 
group in some other form. For the 15 
period from 1956 to 1964 this was 
done under the 1956 contracts. 
…

Common to both sets of 
contracts, however, was the form 20 
in which the Todd group obtained 
the benefit of that part of the 
refiner's profit included in the 
posted prices that the Gulf group 
was willing to forgo in order to 25 
obtain an outlet for its light end 
products, as under. For this 
purpose the two groups in 1956 
caused to be incorporated in the 
Bahamas a company, Pan Eastern 30 
Refining Co Ltd ("Pan Eastern"), 
of which one half of the share 
capital was held by a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the taxpayer 
company, Associated Motorists 35 
Petrol Co Ltd ("AMP"), and the 
other half by a company in the 
Gulf group. The 1956 contracts 
included a contract between Gulf 
and Pan Eastern ("the processing 40 
contract") under which it was 
agreed that Pan Eastern should 
purchase from Gulf and Gulf 
should sell to Pan Eastern at 
posted prices the quantity of crude 45 
oil needed to provide the finished 
products to be purchased by the 
taxpayer company under the 
products contract. Gulf undertook 
to refine the crude oil on behalf of 50 
Pan Eastern for a processing fee 
and to purchase from Pan Eastern 
the resulting finished products at 
prices fixed in such a way as to 
ensure that Pan Eastern should 55 

make a profit out of the 
processing contract equivalent to 
approximately 5 cents per gallon 
on the finished products 
purchased by the taxpayer 60 
company from the Gulf group 
under the products contract of 
which AMP's share by way of 
dividend would be 2.5 cents per 
gallon. In 1964 a contract in 65 
similar terms ("the new 
processing contract") was entered 
into between Gulf and Pan 
Eastern relating to the feedstocks 
to be purchased by Europa 70 
Refining under the supply 
contract and the crude oil needed 
to provide those feedstocks. 

Pan Eastern itself did no 
refining. Under the processing 75 
contract and the new processing 
contract this was done exclusively 
by the Gulf group. What the 
contracts did was to provide the 
means by which a share of the 80 
refiner's profit on finished 
products and feedstocks sold by 
the Gulf group to the Todd group 
would be obtained by the Todd 
group in the form of dividends on 85 
the shares in Pan Eastern held by 
AMP. 

In the instant appeal as in 
the previous appeal 
(Commissioner of Inland Revenue 90 
v Europa Oil (NZ) Ltd [1971] 
NZLR 641; [1971] AC 760) their 
Lordships are concerned only 
with the liability of the taxpayer 
company for New Zealand 95 
income tax - not with the liability 
of any other members of the Todd 
group of companies. It is common 
ground that the dividends 
receivable by AMP from Pan 100 
Eastern or by the taxpayer 
company from AMP do not, as 
such, form part of the assessable 
income of the taxpayer company. 
Although he relies also on s 108 105 
of the Land and Income Tax Act 
1954, the main ground on which 
the Commissioner of Inland 
Revenue has sought to recover tax 
upon them indirectly is by 110 
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attacking the claim of the 
taxpayer company under s 111 to 
deduct as expenditure incurred in 
the production of its assessable 
income from its business of 5 
marketing petroleum products in 
New Zealand, so much of the 
price paid by the taxpayer 
company for the motor gasoline 
and gas oil under the 1956 10 
contracts or for the feedstocks 
under the 1964 contracts as is 
equivalent to AMP's share of the 
profits made by Pan Eastern under 
the processing agreement or the 15 
new processing agreement. He 
contends that upon a true analysis 
of the legal nature of both sets of  
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contracts the sums which were 20 
described in the relevant contracts 
as being the price of the product 
sold to the taxpayer company, 
were paid for a compound 
consideration consisting partly of 25 
goods sold and delivered and 
partly of other advantages to be 
received, that is, profits to be 
derived by the taxpayer company 
through Pan Eastern and AMP. 30 
…

In 1968 section 111 of the Land 
and Income Tax Act 1954 was 
amended to read: 

"In calculating the 35 
assessable income of any 
taxpayer, any expenditure 
or loss to the extent to 
which it – 

(a) Is incurred in gaining 40 
or producing the 
assessable income for any 
income year; or 

(b) Is necessarily incurred 
in carrying on a business 45 
for the purpose of gaining 
or producing the 
assessable income for any 
income year – 

may, except as otherwise 50 
provided in this Act, be 
deducted from the total 
income derived by the 
taxpayer in the income 

year in which the 55 
expenditure or loss is 
incurred". 

In the last four years of 
assessment the taxpayer 
company's claim to the deduction 60 
made under para (a) of the 
amended section. In their 
Lordships' view the amendment 
of the section in 1968 makes no 
difference for the purposes of the 65 
instant appeal. 

The actual language of s 
111, both before and after the 
1968 amendment, is simple 
enough. It does not, in their 70 
Lordships' view, need any 
detailed exegesis. The general 
principles of construction of a 
taxing statute are well established. 
Those of particular relevance to s 75 
111 are referred to in the majority 
judgment of this Board in the 
previous appeal where there are 
cited with approval two leading 
decisions of the High Court of 80 
Australia on the corresponding 
section in the Australian taxing 
statute (Ronpibon Tin NL v 
Federal Commissioner of 
Taxation (1949) 78 CLR 47 and 85 
Cecil Bros Pty Ltd v Federal 
Commissioner of Taxation (1964) 
111 CLR 430). Their Lordships 
do not find it necessary to repeat 
them here; they content 90 
themselves with emphasising that 
it is not the economic results 
sought to be obtained by making 
the expenditure that is 
determinative of whether the 95 
expenditure is deductible or not; it 
is the legal rights enforceable by 
the taxpayer that he acquires in 
return for making it. The 
difficulty to which the section 100 
gives rise is not one of 
interpretation of the words it uses, 
but of the application of those 
words to particular transactions 
which may be entered into in the 105 
course of business where those 
contractual arrangements are 
complicated and involve a 
multiplicity of parties. 
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…

In this appeal, as in the 
previous appeal, the particular 
expenditure claimed to be 
deductible under the section 5 
consists of monies paid by the 
taxpayer company under contracts 
for the sale of goods whereby the 
property in the goods was 
transferred by the seller to the 10 
taxpayer company. The monies so 
paid were stated in those contracts 
to be the price at which the goods 
were sold; and since the goods 
were acquired by the taxpayer 15 
company as stock-in-trade for its 
business of marketing petroleum 
products in New Zealand, there is 
no question that, if those contracts 
had stood alone, the whole of the 20 
monies payable under them would 
be expenditure by the taxpayer 
company that was deductible 
under s 111. Those contracts, 
however, did not stand alone. 25 
They formed part of a complex of 
interrelated contracts entered into 
by various companies that were 
members of the Todd group or the 
Gulf group in connection with the 30 
same goods. The question in both 
appeals can accordingly be stated 
thus: Is the legal effect - as 
distinct from the economic 
consequences - of the provisions 35 
of the relevant interrelated 
contracts such that when the 
taxpayer company orders goods 
under the contract of sale and 
accepts the obligation to pay the 40 
sum stipulated in that contract as 
the purchase price, the taxpayer 
company by the performance of 
that obligation acquires a legally 
enforceable right not only to 45 
delivery of the goods but also to 
have some other act performed 
which confers a benefit in money 
or in money's worth upon the 
taxpayer company or some other 50 
beneficiary? 

If the answer is "No", the 
full amount of the sum stipulated 
as the purchase price is deductible 
under s 111. If the answer is 55 

"Yes", the sum stipulated as the 
purchase price falls to be 
apportioned as to part to 
expenditure incurred in 
purchasing the goods and as to the 60 
remainder to expenditure incurred 
in obtaining performance of the 
other act, which in the instant case 
would not be deductible. 

In their Lordships' view 65 
there is a difference that is crucial 
to the answer to this question in 
the legal character of payments 
made by the taxpayer company 
when it purchased motor gasoline 70 
and gas oil under the 1956 
contracts and those made when it 
purchased feedstocks under the 
1964 contracts.  

…75 

It follows that whenever the 
taxpayer company entered into a 
contract with Europa Refining for 
the sale and delivery of one or 
more cargo lots of feedstocks and 80 
thereby accepted an obligation to 
pay the sum stipulated in that 
contract as the purchase price, the 
only right that it thereby acquired 
which was legally enforceable 85 
against anyone was the right to 
delivery of the feedstocks by 
Europa Refining. 

In their Lordships' view the 
result upon the commissioner's 90 
claim under s 111 is that it must 
fail. The true legal character of 
the whole of the expenditure 
claimed to be deductible is that of 
the purchase price of stock-in-95 
trade for the taxpayer company's 
business of marketing petroleum 
products and nothing else. As 
such it is deductible in full in 
calculating the taxpayer 100 
company's assessable income 
from that business. 

Their Lordships must 
accordingly now turn to the 
alternative claim by the 105 
commissioner under s 108 of the 
Land and Income Tax Act 1954. 
During the years of assessment 
that are in issue in the instant 
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appeal it was substantially in the 
following terms, which, however, 
incorporate a minor amendment 
made in 1968 that does not affect 
the issue in the instant appeal: 5 

"Every contract, 
agreement, or 
arrangement made 
or entered into, 10 
whether before or 
after the 
commencement of 
this Act, shall be 
absolutely void as 15 
against the 
Commissioner for 
income tax purposes 
in so far as, directly 
or indirectly, it has 20 
or purports to have 
the purpose or effect 
of in any way 
altering the 
incidence of income 25 
tax, or relieving any 
person from his 
liability to pay 
income tax". 

30 

There are several things to be 
noted in connection with the 
application of this section. 

First, it is not a charging 
section; all it does is to entitle the 35 
commissioner when assessing the 
liability of the taxpayer to income 
tax to treat any  
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contract, agreement or 40 
arrangement which falls within 
the description in the section as if 
it had never been made. Any 
liability of the taxpayer to pay 
income tax must be found 45 
elsewhere in the Act. There must 
be some identifiable income of 
the taxpayer which would have 
been liable to be taxed if none of 
the contracts, agreements or 50 
arrangements avoided by the 
section had been made. 

Secondly, the description of 
the contracts, agreements and 
arrangements which are liable to 55 
avoidance presupposes the 
continued receipt by the taxpayer 
of income from an existing source 
in respect of which his liability to 
pay tax would be altered or 60 
relieved if legal effect were given 
to the contract, agreement or 
arrangement sought to be avoided 
as against the commissioner. The 
section does not strike at new 65 
sources of income or restrict the 
right of the taxpayer to arrange 
his affairs in relation to income 
from a new source in such a way 
as to attract the least possible 70 
liability to tax. Nor does it prevent 
the taxpayer from parting with a 
source of income. 

Thirdly, the references in 
the section to "the incidence of 75 
income tax" and "liability to pay 
income tax" are reference to New 
Zealand income tax. The section 
is not concerned with the fiscal 
consequences of the impugned 80 
contracts, agreements or 
arrangements in any other 
jurisdiction. In the instant case it 
would have made no difference if 
Pan Eastern, instead of being 85 
established in a tax haven, had 
been established in the United 
Kingdom and incurred liability to 
pay corporation tax there upon its 
profits under the new processing 90 
agreement. 

Fourthly, the section in any 
case does not strike down 
transactions which do not have as 
their main purpose or one of their 95 
main purposes tax avoidance. It 
does not strike down ordinary 
business or commercial 
transactions which incidentally 
result in some saving of tax. 100 
There may be different ways of 
carrying out such transactions. 
They will not be struck down if 
the method chosen for carrying 
them out involves the payment of 105 
less tax than would be payable if 
another method was followed. In 
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such cases the avoidance of tax 
will be incidental to and not the 
main purpose of the transaction or 
transactions which will be the 
achievement of some business or 5 
commercial object: Newton v 
Commissioner of Taxation [1958] 
AC 450, 465; [1958] All ER 759, 
764, Mangin v Commissioner of 
Inland Revenue [1971] NZLR 591 10 
[1971] AC 739, Ashton v 
Commissioner of Inland Revenue 
[1975] 2 NZLR 717. 

Their Lordships' finding that 
the monies paid by the taxpayer 15 
company to Europa Refining is 
deductible under s 111 as being 
the actual price paid by the 
taxpayer company for its stock-in-
trade under contracts for the sale 20 
of goods entered into with Europa 
Refining, is incompatible with 
those contracts being liable to 
avoidance under s 108. In order to 
carry on its business or marketing 25 
refined petroleum products in 
New Zealand the taxpayer 
company had to purchase 
feedstocks from someone. In 
respect of these contracts the case 30 
is on all fours with Cecil Bros Pty 
Ltd v Federal Commissioner of 
Taxation (1964) 111 CLR 430 in 
which it was said by the High 
Court of Australia "it is not for 35 
the Court of the commissioner to 
say how much a taxpayer ought to 
spend in obtaining his income" 
(ibid, 434), to which their 
Lordships would add: it is not for 40 
the court or commissioner to say 
from whom the taxpayer should 
purchase the stock-in-trade 
acquired by him for the purpose 
of obtaining his income. 45 

The commissioner must, 
therefore, be able to point to some 
other of the 1964 contracts the 
avoidance of which would have 
the legal effect of making the 50 
profits earned by Pan Eastern 
under the new processing 
contract, or the  
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dividends payable out of these 55 
profits to AMP, part of the 
assessable income of the taxpayer 
company. 

He seeks first to avoid the 
original 1956 organisation 60 
contract pursuant to which Pan 
Eastern was incorporated in the 
Bahamas. As was held by the 
Court of Appeal in the previous 
appeal, there were good 65 
commercial reasons, unconnected 
with the liability of the taxpayer 
company to New Zealand income 
tax, for incorporating Pan Eastern 
and for selecting the Bahamas as 70 
its seat. Furthermore the 1956 
organisation contract created a 
new source of income for the 
taxpayer company which did not 
exist before the 1956 processing 75 
contract came into force. The 
taxpayer company was perfectly 
entitled to make arrangements 
whereby the income from that 
source was received by it in the 80 
form of dividends upon the shares 
of its wholly owned subsidiary 
AMP paid out of AMP's share of 
profits earned by Pan Eastern. In 
their Lordships' vie there is no 85 
ground upon which the original 
1956 organisation contract could 
be treated as void under s 108. 

…

Their Lordships will humbly 90 
advise Her Majesty that the 
appeal should be allowed, the 
orders of the Court of Appeal and 
the Supreme Court set aside, and 
the matter remitted to the 95 
Supreme Court with a direction 
that it answer in the affirmative 
the question posed in the case 
stated by the Commissioner of 
Inland Revenue on 24 October 100 
1972 and amend the assessments 
accordingly. 

…
 [Dissenting judgment of the 
Court delivered by Lord 105 
Wilberforce omitted] 

…
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CERTIORARI TO THE CIRCUIT 
COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE 
SECOND CIRCUIT.5

CERTIORARI * to review a 
judgment reversing a de- cision of the 
Board of Tax Appeals, 27 B. T. A. 
223, which set aside an order of the 
Commissioner determining a 10
deficiency in income tax.
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DISPOSITION:

69 F.2d 809, affirmed.15
LexisNexis(R) Headnotes

SYLLABUS:

1. A corporation wholly owned by a 
taxpayer trans- ferred 1000 shares of 
stock in another corporation held by 20
it among its assets to a new 
corporation, which thereupon issued 
all of its shares to the taxpayer. 
Within a few days the new 
corporation was dissolved and was 25
liquidated by the distribution of the 
1000 shares to the taxpayer, who 
immediately sold them for her 
individual profit. No other business 
was transacted, or intended to be 30
transacted, by the new corporation. 

The whole plan was designed to 
conform to § 112 of the Revenue Act 
of 1928 as a "re- organization," but 
for the sole purpose of transferring 35
the shares in question to the taxpayer, 
with a resulting tax liability less than 
that which would have ensued from a 
direct transfer by way of dividend. 
Held: while the plan conformed to the 40
terms of the statute, there was no 
reor- ganization within the intent of 
the statute. P. 468.

2. By means which the law permits, a 
taxpayer has the right to decrease the 45
amount of what otherwise would be 
his taxes, or altogether to avoid them. 
P. 469.

3.The rule which excludes from 
consideration the motive of tax 50
avoidance is not pertinent to the 
situation here, because the transaction 
upon its face lies outside the plain 
intent of the statute. P. 470.
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James, A. Calder Mackay, George M. 5
Morris, Willis D. Nance, Charles B. 
Rugg, Whitney North Seymour, and 
Harry N. Wyatt, in support of 
petitioner's contentions.
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OPINIONBY:

SUTHERLAND15

OPINION:�[*467] [**266]

December 4, 5, 1934, Argued 
January 7, 1935, Decided

MR. JUSTICE SUTHERLAND 
delivered the opinion of the Court.20

Petitioner in 1928 was the owner of 
all the stock of United Mortgage 
Corporation. That corporation held 
among its assets 1,000 shares of the 
Monitor Securities Corporation. For 25
the sole purpose of procuring a trans- 
fer of these shares to herself in order 
to sell them for her individual profit, 
and, at the same time, diminish the 
amount of income tax which would 30
result from a direct transfer by way of 
dividend, she sought to bring about a

[***598]

Page 1

"reorganization" under § 112 (g) of 35
the Revenue Act of 1928, c. 852, 45 
Stat. 791, 818, set forth later in this 
opin- ion. To that end, she caused the 
Averill Corporation to be organized 
under the laws of Delaware on 40
September 18, 1928. Three days later, 
the United Mortgage Corporation 
transferred to the Averill Corporation 
the 1,000 shares of Monitor stock, for 
which all the shares of the Averill 45
Corporation were issued [**267] to
the petitioner. On September 24, the 
Averill Corporation was dissolved, 
and liquidated by distributing all its 
assets, namely, the Monitor shares, to 50
the petitioner. No other business was 
ever transacted, or intended to be 
transacted, by that com- pany. 
Petitioner immediately sold the 
Monitor shares for $133,333.33. She 55
returned for taxation as capital net 
gain the sum of $76,007.88, based 
upon an apportioned cost of 
$57,325.45. Further details are 
unnecessary. It is not disputed that if 60
the interposition of the so-called 
reorganization was ineffective, 
petitioner became liable for a much 
larger tax as a result of the 
transaction.65

The Commissioner of Internal 
Revenue, being of opinion that the 
reorganization attempted was without 
substance and must be disregarded, 
held that petitioner was liable for a 70
tax as though the United corporation 
had paid her a dividend consisting of 
the amount realized from the sale of 
the Monitor shares. In a proceeding 
before the [*468] Board of Tax 75
Appeals, that body rejected the com- 
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missioner's view and upheld that of 
petitioner. 27 B. T. A. 223. Upon a 
review of the latter decision, the 
circuit court of appeals sustained the 
commissioner and reversed the board, 5
holding that there had been no 
"reorganization" within the meaning 
of the statute. 69 F.2d 809. Petitioner
applied to this court for a writ of 
certiorari, which the government, 10
considering the question one of 
importance, did not oppose. We 
granted the writ.

Section 112 of the Revenue Act of 
1928 deals with the subject of gain or 15
loss resulting from the sale or ex- 
change of property. Such gain or loss 
is to be recognized in computing the 
tax, except as provided in that section. 
The provisions of the section, so far 20
as they are pertinent to the question 
here presented, follow:

"Sec. 112. (g) Distribution of stock on 
reorganiza- tion. -- If there is 
distributed, in pursuance of a plan of 25
reorganization, to a shareholder in a 
corporation a party to the 
reorganization, stock or securities in 
such corporation or in another 
corporation a party to the 30
reorganization, without the surrender 
by such shareholder of stock or 
securities in such a corporation, no 
gain to the distribu- tee from the 
receipt of such stock or securities 35
shall be recognized. . . .

"(i) Definition of reorganization. --
As used in this section . . .

"(1) The term 'reorganization' 
means . . . (B) a transfer by a 40

corporation of all or a part of its 
assets to another cor- poration if 
immediately after the transfer the 
transferor or its stockholders or both 
are in control of the corporation to 45
which the assets are transferred, . . ."

[***HR1] [***HR2] It is earnestly 
contended on be- half of the taxpayer 
that since every [***599] element
required by the foregoing subdivision 50
(B) is to be found in what was done, a 
statutory reorganization was effected; 
and that the motive of the taxpayer 
thereby to escape pay- ment of a tax 
will not alter the result [*469] or 55
make unlawful what the statute 
allows. It is quite true that if a 
reorganization in reality was effected 
within the meaning of subdivision 
(B), the ulterior purpose mentioned 60
will be disregarded. The legal right of 
a taxpayer to decrease the amount of 
what otherwise would be his taxes, or 
al- together avoid them, by means 
which the law permits, cannot be 65
doubted. United States v. Isham, 17 
Wall. 496, 506; Superior Oil Co. v. 
Mississippi, 280 U.S. 390, 395- 6; 
Jones v. Helvering, 63 App. D. C. 
204; 71 F.2d 214, 217. But the 70
question for determination is whether 
what was done, apart from the tax 
motive, was the thing which the 
statute intended. The reasoning of the 
court below in justification of a 75
negative answer leaves little to be 
said.

When subdivision (B) speaks of a 
transfer of assets by one corporation 
to another, it means a transfer made 80
"in pursuance of a plan of 
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reorganization" [§ 112(g)] of 
corporate business; and not a transfer 
of assets by one corporation to 
another in pursuance of a plan having 
no relation to the business of either, 5
as plainly is the case here. Putting 
aside, then, the question of motive in 
re- spect of taxation altogether, and 
fixing the character of the proceeding 
by what actually occurred, what do 10
we find? Simply an operation having 
no business or corpo- rate purpose -- 
a mere device which put on the form 
of a corporate reorganization as a 
disguise for concealing its real 15
character, and the sole object and 
accomplishment of which was the 
consummation of a preconceived plan, 
not to reorganize a business or any 
part of a business, but to transfer a 20
parcel of corporate shares to the 
petitioner. No doubt, a new and valid 
corporation was created. But that 
corporation was nothing more than a 
contrivance [**268] to the end last 25
described. It was brought into 
existence for no other purpose; it 
performed, as it was intended from 
the beginning it should perform, no 
other function. [*470] When that 30
limited function had been exercised, 
it immediately was put to death.

In these circumstances, the facts 
speak for themselves and are 
susceptible of but one interpretation. 35
The whole undertaking, though 
conducted according to the terms of 
subdivision (B), was in fact an 
elaborate and devious form of 
conveyance masquerading as a 40
corporate reorganiza-

293 U.S. 465, *467; 55 S. Ct. 266, 
**266; 79 L. Ed. 596, ***598; 1935 
U.S. LEXIS 4

Page 2 45 

tion, and nothing else. The rule which 
excludes from consideration the 
motive of tax avoidance is not 
pertinent to the situation, because the 
transaction upon its face lies outside 50
the plain intent of the statute. To hold 
otherwise would be to exalt artifice 
above reality and to deprive the
statutory provision in question of all 
serious purpose. Judgment affirmed.55

REFERENCES: Return To Full 
Text Opinion

293 U.S. 465, *470; 55 S. Ct. 266, 
**268; 79 L. Ed. 596, ***599; 1935 
U.S. LEXIS 460

Page 3
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Loop v Litchfield 42 N.Y. 351 (1870)  

Court of Appeals of New York  
Argued March 23, 1870  
Decided June 21, 1870.  

The complaint alleged that in 1861 the 
defendants were partners in 
manufacturing iron castings and 
machinery, and made a cast-iron balance 5 
wheel to be used with a circular saw. 
That the balance wheel had a large hole 
in its rim, occasioned by negligence in 
casting it, by which its thickness and 
strength were diminished, and by 10 
defendants' wrongful act this hole was 
concealed by filling it with lead and 
finishing*352 the surface of the rim so 
as to resemble a sound wheel. The 
strength of the rim was further 15 
diminished by boring through it, so as to 
insert a rivet to hold the lead in the hole, 
and by the wrongful act of defendants 
they sold this wheel to Leverett Collister 
as a sound wheel and fit for use. That in 20 
1864 Collister leased to Jeremiah Loop a 
frame for a circular wood saw, to be 
used with a circular saw for the purpose 
of sawing wood, to the arbor shaft on 
which frame said balance wheel was 25 
attached. That Loop put a saw on the 
arbor, and used the saw, balance wheel 
and frame in sawing wood for himself 
and Collister and for others, without 
knowledge of the hole in the rim of the 30 
balance wheel, and in the belief that it 
was a sound balance wheel and fit for 
use. That in October, 1866, Loop was so 
using the saw and balance wheel 
attached in sawing wood for one Van 35 
Rensselaer Loop, in a careful and 
prudent manner, when the balance wheel 
burst in the hole in its rim and directly 
through the hole made to insert the rivet 
to hold the lead in its place. That such 40 
bursting was caused by said hole and 
boring in the rim, and that a fragment of 
the wheel when it burst hit Jeremiah 
Loop in his side and inflicted a mortal  

45 
wound, of which he died on the 29th of 
October, 1866. That such death was 
occasioned by said wrongful act and 
negligence of defendants, and plaintiffs 
bring this action as his legal 50 
representatives, for the benefit of his 
widow and next of kin. There was a 
motion for a nonsuit at the close of the 
plaintiffs' evidence and also at the close 
of all the evidence in the case, on the 55 
ground, amongst others, that the 
plaintiffs had failed to make out a case 
entitling them to recover; and to the 
refusal of the court denying this motion, 
the defendants excepted. There was 60 
evidence tending to show that when the 
defendants sold the wheel to Collister 
they pointed out to him the defect in the 
rim of the wheel, and that lead was 
fastened in the hole by means of a rivet, 65 
and that Collister selected and purchased 
it with full knowledge of such defect, 
because it was lighter and cheaper than 
heavier balance wheels which the 
defendants were accustomed to put upon 70 
horse-power for sawing *353 wood, and 
after he was informed of that fact. The 
judge stated that the only question upon 
which counsel could go to the jury 
would be, whether, in the manufacture 75 
and sale of the balance wheel, the 
defendants were guilty of negligence, 
which negligence produced the injury 
complained of. 

80 
The defendants requested the court to 
charge, “that if the jury find from the 
evidence that the defendants notified 
Collister of the defects in the wheel 
before he purchased it, the plaintiffs are 85 
not entitled to recover.” The court 
declined and the defendants accepted. 

The defendants requested the court to 
charge, “that if the jury find from the 90 
evidence that the deceased, at the time he 
received the injury, was using the wheel 
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without the assent of Collister, the 
plaintiffs cannot recover.” The court 
declined and the defendants accepted. 

The defendants requested the court to 5 
charge, “that unless the jury find from 
the evidence that the defendants 
manufactured the wheel for the purpose 
for which it was used, plaintiffs cannot 
recover.” The court declined and the 10 
defendants excepted. 

The court charged, “if they find from the 
evidence that the defendants made this 
defective wheel for use, and that it broke 15 
by reason of the defect, that defendants 
were liable for the defect to whoever 
used it.” To this charge the defendants 
excepted. 

20 
The court further charged, “that the rule 
that an injured party, in an action for 
negligence, should be free from 
negligence, meant, that he should use 
such care as a person of ordinary 25 
prudence would use, and that he need not 
use greater care,” also “that one by 
whose negligence or wrongful act the 
death of another is caused, is not 
exonerated by slight negligence on the 30 
part of the deceased, although if he had 
used the utmost possible care, the 
accident would not have happened.” To 
each of these charges the defendants 
excepted separately. 35 

The jury found a verdict for the plaintiff. 

On appeal to the General Term, the 
judgment was reversed *354 and a new 40 
trial ordered, from which the plaintiffs 
appeal to this court, with the usual 
stipulation. 

[Arguments of counsel omitted] 45 

HUNT, J. 

A piece of machinery already made and 
on hand, having defects which weaken it, 50 

is sold by the manufacturer to one who 
buys it for his own use. The defects are 
pointed out to the purchaser and are fully 
understood by him. This piece of 
machinery is used by the buyer for five 55 
years, and is then taken into the 
possession of a neighbor, who uses it for 
his own purposes. While so in use, it 
flies apart by reason of its original 
defects, and the person using it is killed. 60 
Is the seller, upon this state of facts, 
liable to the representatives of the 
deceased party? I omit at this stage of the 
inquiry the elements, that the deceased 
had no authority to use the machine; that 65 
he knew of the defects and that he did 
not exercise proper care in the 
management of the machine. Under the 
circumstances I have stated, does a 
liability exist, supposing that the use was 70 
careful, and that it was by permission of 
the owner of the machine? 

To maintain this liability, the appellants 
rely upon the case of Thomas v. 75 
Winchester (6 N. Y., 2 Seld., 397). In 
that case, the defendant was engaged in 
the manufacture and sale of vegetable 
extracts for medicinal purposes. The 
extracts were put up in jars with 80 
appropriate labels. The defendant sold 
the articles to Mr. Aspinwall, a druggist 
of New York. Aspinwall sold to Dr. 
Ford, a physician and druggist of 
Cazenovia, where the plaintiff resided. 85 
Mrs. Thomas, one of the plaintiffs, being 
ill, her physician prescribed for her a 
*358 dose of the extract of dandelion, 
which is a simple and harm less 
medicine. The article furnished by Dr. 90 
Ford in response to this prescription was 
the extract of belladonna, a deadly 
poison. The jar from which this medicine 
was taken was labelled “1/2 lb. 
dandelion, prepared by A. Gilbert, 108 95 
John St., N. Y., Jar 8 oz.,” and thus 
labeled was sold to Dr. Ford. He relied 
upon the label, believed the medicine to 
be dandelion, and sold and delivered it to 
the plaintiffs as such. Mrs. Thomas 100 
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suffered a severe illness by reason of this 
mistake. It was conceded by the counsel 
in that case and held by the court, that 
there was no privity of contract between 
Winchester and Thomas, and that there 5 
could be no recovery upon that ground. 
The court illustrate the argument by the 
case of a wagon built by A, who sells it 
to B, who hires it to C, who, in 
consequence of negligence in the 10 
building, is overturned and injured. C 
cannot recover against A, the builder. It 
is added: “Misfortune to third persons, 
not parties to the contract, would not be 
a natural and necessary consequence of 15 
the builder's negligence, and such 
negligence is not an act imminently 
dangerous to human life.” So, if a horse, 
defectively shod, is hired to another, and 
by reason of the negligent shoeing, the 20 
horse stumbles, the rider is thrown and 
injured, no action lies against the smith. 
In these and numerous other cases put in 
the books, the answer to the action is, 
that there is no contract with the party 25 
injured, and no duty arising to him by 
the party guilty of negligence. “But,” the 
learned judge says “the case in hand 
stands on a different ground. The 
defendant was a dealer in poisonous 30 
drugs. Gilbert was his agent in preparing 
them for market. The death or great 
bodily harm of some person was the 
natural and almost inevitable 
consequence of the sale of belladonna by 35 
means of the false label.” “The 
defendant's neglect puts human life in 
imminent danger. Can it be said that 
there was no duty on the part of the 
defendant to avoid the creation of that 40 
danger by the exercise of greater 
caution?” 

The appellants recognize the principle of 
this decision, and seek to bring their case 45 
within it, by asserting that the fly *359
wheel in question was a dangerous 
instrument. Poison is a dangerous 
subject. Gunpowder is the same. A 
torpedo is a dangerous instrument, as is a 50 

spring gun, a loaded rifle or the like. 
They are instruments and articles in their 
nature calculated to do injury to 
mankind, and generally intended to 
accomplish that purpose. They are 55 
essentially, and in their elements, 
instruments of danger. Not so, however, 
an iron wheel, a few feet in diameter and 
a few inches in thickness, although one 
part may be weaker than another. If the 60 
article is abused by too long use, or by 
applying too much weight or speed, an 
injury may occur, as it may from an 
ordinary carriage wheel, a wagon axle, 
or the common chair in which we sit. 65 
There is scarcely an object in art or 
nature, from which an injury may not 
occur under such circumstances. Yet 
they are not in their nature sources of 
danger, nor can they, with any regard to 70 
the accurate use of language, be called 
dangerous instruments. That an injury 
actually occurred by the breaking of a 
carriage axle, the failure of the carriage 
body, the falling to pieces of a chair or 75 
sofa, or the bursting of a fly wheel, does 
not in the least alter its character. 

It is suggested that it is no more 
dangerous or illegal to label a deadly 80 
poison as a harmless medicine than to 
conceal a defect in a machine and paint it 
over so that it will appear sound. 
Waiving the point that there was no 
concealment, but the defect was fully 85 
explained to the purchaser, I answer, that 
the decision in Thomas v. Winchester 
was based upon the idea that the 
negligent sale of poisons is both at 
common law and by statute an indictable 90 
offence. If the act in that case had been 
done by the defendant instead of his 
agent, and the death of Mrs. Thomas had 
ensued, the defendant would have been 
guilty of manslaughter, as held by the 95 
court. The injury in that case was a 
natural result of the act. It was just what 
was to have been expected from putting 
falsely labeled poisons in the market, to 
be used by whoever should need the true 100 
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articles. It was in its nature an act 
imminently dangerous to the lives of 
others. Not so here. The bursting of the 
wheel and the injury to human life was 
not the natural *360 result or the 5 
expected consequence of the 
manufacture and sale of the wheel. 
Every use of the counterfeit medicines 
would be necessarily injurious, while 
this wheel was in fact used with safety 10 
for five years. 

It is said that the verdict of the jury 
established the fact that this wheel was a 
dangerous instrument. I do not see how 15 
this can be, when there is no such 
allegation in the complaint, and no such 
question was submitted to the jury. “The 
court stated to the counsel that the only 
question on which they would go to the 20 
jury would be that of negligence. 
Whether in the manufacture and sale of 
this article, the defendants are guilty of 
negligence, which negligence produced 
the injury complained of.” If the action 25 
had been for negligence in constructing a 
carriage, sold by the defendants to 
Collister, by him lent to the deceased, 
which had broken down, through the 
negligence of its construction, it might 30 
have been contended with the same 
propriety, that the finding of those facts 
by the jury established that a carriage 
was a dangerous instrument, and thereby 
the liability of the defendants became 35 
fixed. The jury found simply that there 
was negligence in the construction of the 
wheel, and that the injury resulted 
therefrom. It is quite illogical to deduce 
from this, the conclusion that the wheel 40 
was itself a dangerous instrument. 

Upon the facts as stated, assuming that 
the deceased had no knowledge of the 
defects complained of, and assuming that 45 
he was in the rightful and lawful use of 
the machine, I am of the opinion that the 
verdict cannot be sustained. The facts 
constitute no cause of action. 

50 
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Paul v Constance [1977] 1 WLR 527 (CA) 

Court of Appeal 
8 July 1976 5
Cairns , Scarman and Bridge LJJ 

Trusts—Declaration of trust—Oral—
Deceased paying damages received for 
personal injuries into deposit account—10
Facilities for plaintiff to draw on 
account—Further sums belonging to 
deceased and plaintiff deposited—One 
withdrawal and moneys divided between 
them—Deceased's frequent statement that 15
moneys in account belonging to both of 
them—Whether amounting to declaration 
of trust 

The deceased and the defendant were 20
married and cohabited until their 
separation in 1965. In 1967 the deceased 
began to live with the plaintiff and they 
continued to live together as man and wife 
until the deceased's death in 1974. In 1969 25
the deceased was injured at his place of 
work and eventually received damages of 
£950. The deceased and the plaintiff then 
decided to deposit the money in a bank 
account and, in the course of a discussion 30
with the local bank manager, revealed that 
they were not in fact married. It was then 
decided to place the money in a deposit 
account in the deceased's name, with 
special arrangements enabling the 35
plaintiff to draw on it, after producing a 
note from the deceased authorising her to 
do so. Further amounts of money were 
paid into the account, including certain 
sums representing winnings at “bingo” 40
which the deceased and the plaintiff 
played as a joint venture. On one 
occasion, the sum of £150 was withdrawn 
and after part of it had been spent on 
presents and food the deceased and the 45
plaintiff divided the remainder between 
them. At different times, the deceased, 
when referring to the account, said to the 
plaintiff, “The money is as much yours as 
mine.” On the deceased's death, the 50

balance consisted largely of the original 
amount representing the deceased's 
damages for personal injuries. The 
deceased having died intestate, the 
defendant as his widow took out letters of 55
administration of his estate. The plaintiff 
brought an action against the defendant, 
claiming the money in the account or such 
part of it as the court thought right on the 
ground that it had been held on express 60
trust by the deceased for the benefit of the 
plaintiff and himself. The judge, after 
finding that the deceased and the plaintiff 
had intended to create a trust for the 
benefit of both of them, held that the 65
deceased's frequent use of the words, 
“The money is as much yours as mine,” 
amounted to an express declaration of 
trust for the benefit of both of them and 
awarded the plaintiff a half share of the 70
trust fund. 

On the defendant's appeal: — 
Held, dismissing the appeal, that to 

create a trust by an express declaration, 
the disponent's words and actions had to 75
show a clear intention to dispose of 
property or funds so that someone else 
should acquire a beneficial interest; that 
taking into account all the facts, the 
deceased's words, “The money is as much 80
yours as mine,” often repeated to the 
plaintiff, constituted a clear declaration of 
trust for the benefit of himself and the 
plaintiff; and that therefore the judge was 
right in awarding the plaintiff a half share 85
of the fund. 

Jones v. Lock (1865) L.R. 1 Ch.App 
25 and Richards v. Delbridge (1874) L.R. 
18 Eq. 11 distinguished . 

*52890
The following cases are referred to in 

the judgments: 
Jones v. Lock (1865) L.R. 1 Ch.App. 

25; 13 L.T. 514 . 95
Richards v. Delbridge (1874) L.R. 18 

Eq. 11. 
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The following additional case was 
cited in argument: 

Paradise Motor Co. Ltd., In re [1968] 1 
W.L.R. 1125; [1968] 2 All E.R. 625, C.A. 

APPEAL from Judge Rawlins sitting at 5
Cheltenham County Court. 

The deceased, Dennis Albert 
Constance, and the defendant, Bridget 
Frances Constance, were married, 
cohabiting until June 1965 when their 10
marriage broke down and they separated. 
From 1967 the deceased and the plaintiff, 
Doreen Grace Paul, lived together as man 
and wife until the deceased's death in 
March 1974. The deceased having died 15
intestate, the defendant, as his widow, 
took out letters of administration for his 
estate. The plaintiff brought an action 
against the defendant, claiming the sum of 
£897.39 plus interest or such part of it as 20
the court should determine, on the ground 
that the money which was deposited in a 
bank account in the deceased's name at a 
branch of Lloyd's Bank, Cheltenham, had 
been held by the deceased on express trust 25
for the benefit of himself and the plaintiff 
jointly. In August 1975, the judge, 
holding that the facts supported an 
intention by the deceased to create a trust 
for the benefit of himself and the plaintiff 30
jointly, ordered that the defendant should 
pay the plaintiff £499.21 being her half 
share in the trust fund. 

The defendant appealed on the ground, 
inter alia, that the judge was wrong in law 35
in deciding that the sum in the account 
had been held by the deceased on trust for 
the plaintiff and himself jointly and 
should have decided that the sum 
belonged to the deceased alone. 40

The facts are stated in the judgment of 
Scarman L.J. 
Representation 
Mark Blythe for the defendant. 
Nicholas Wilson for the plaintiff. 45

CAIRNS LJ 
I will ask Scarman L.J. to deliver the first 
judgment. 

50

SCARMAN LJ 
The deceased, Dennis Albert Constance 
was a wage earner living in Cheltenham 
until he died on March 9, 1974. He was 55
married to Bridget Frances Constance, the 
defendant in this action. But they parted 
in June 1965. In 1967 the deceased met 
Mrs. Doreen Grace Paul who is the 
plaintiff in this action. The two of them 60
set up house together in December 1967 
and they lived to all appearances as man 
and wife up to the date of the deceased's 
death. The house in which they lived was 
42, Larput Place, St. Pauls, Cheltenham 65
and it was the property of the plaintiff. 

In August 1969, the deceased, who was 
employed as a fitter in or near 
Cheltenham, was injured at his work. He 
claimed damages against his employers 70
and ultimately, in early 1973, after he had 
initiated legal proceedings, his claim was 
disposed of by the payment to him of a 
sum of £950. This money he received by 
cheque early in 1973. He discussed with 75
the plaintiff what to do with the money, 
and the evidence is clear that they decided 
that it was to go into a bank account. The 
two of them went to see the manager of 
the St. George's Square branch of Lloyds 80
Bank in Cheltenham, and there they had a 
discussion about opening *529

a bank account. According to the notes 
of evidence which the judge made, the 85
two of them had a discussion with the 
bank manager. He explained to them the 
different sorts of accounts which they 
could open and the decision was taken to 
open a deposit account. At that stage the 90
deceased revealed that they were not 
married. It is perhaps of some significance 
in understanding this interview if one 
recalls the evidence that was given by a 
Mr. Thomas, a fellow employee of the 95
deceased, who said that he knew that the 
deceased and the plaintiff were not 
married, but most people did not. After 
the deceased had told the manager that 
they were not married, the manager said, 100
“Well, it will be in your name only then?” 
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The deceased then said, “Yes,” and asked 
the manager what was to happen if the 
plaintiff wanted to draw on the account, 
or if he wanted her to draw on it. The 
manager said that that could be done if the 5
plaintiff used a note with the deceased's 
signature on it, authorising her to draw on 
the account. 

The account that was opened on that 
day in February 1973 is at the very heart 10
of this case. The account was maintained 
in the deceased's name from that date 
until the date of his death. Over the period 
between 1973 and his death, some 13 
months later in 1974, further sums were 15
paid into the account, including, in 
particular, some sums which represented 
“bingo” winnings. It is clear from the 
evidence that the deceased and the 
plaintiff did play “bingo” and they played 20
it really as a joint venture. They did have 
winnings from time to time and at any 
rate three of such winnings, — none of 
them very great — were paid into the 
account. It is clear from the plaintiff's 25
evidence that they thought of those 
winnings, as “their winnings”: neither 
hers nor his alone, but theirs. 
Nevertheless, when the account was 
closed on the deceased's death, the 30
ultimate balance, after the addition of 
interest, consisted largely of the initial 
sum of £950 representing the deceased's 
damages as a result of his injury at work. 
There was one withdrawal during this 35
period, a sum of £150, and the evidence is 
that that money was divided between the 
two of them after part of it had been used 
for buying Christmas presents and some 
food.40

The plaintiff began her action after the 
deceased's death against his lawful wife, 
the defendant, who took out letters of 
administration for his estate, since he died 
intestate. The plaintiff claims in the action 45
that the hank account in the deceased's 
name, to which I have referred, was held 
by him on trust for the benefit of himself 
and the plaintiff jointly. She claims that it 
was an express trust declared orally by 50

him on numerous occasions. The 
defendant, as administratrix, closed the 
account and she maintains that the whole 
fund contained in the account was the 
beneficial property cf the deceased at the 55
time of his death and, as such, became 
part of his estate after death. 

The matter came on for trial before 
Judge Rawlins in August 1975 and on 
August 12 the judge found in favour of 60
the plaintiff. He found the existence of an 
express trust, a trust for the benefit of the 
plaintiff and the deceased jointly, and he 
ordered that the sum of £499.21 be paid to 
the plaintiff as representing one half-share 65
of the fund to which she was beneficially 
entitled. 

A number of issues were canvassed at 
the trial, but the only point taken by the 
defendant on her appeal to this court goes 70
to the question whether or not there was, 
in the circumstances of this case, an 
express declaration of trust. It is conceded 
that, if there was, the trust would *530

be enforceable. The one question is 
whether there was an express declaration 
of trust. 

The case has been argued with great 
skill and ability by counsel on both sides 80
and I should like to express my 
appreciation for the way in which Mr. 
Blythe, for the defendant, opened the 
appeal and the way in which Mr. Wilson 
very shortly and vigorously, put his 85
contentions on behalf of the plaintiff. 

Mr. Blythe drew the attention of the 
court to the so-called three certainties that 
have to be established before the court can 
infer the creation of a trust. He referred us 90
to Snell's Principles of Equity, 27th ed. 
(1973), p. 111, in which the three 
certainties are set out. We are concerned 
only with the first of the three certainties 
and it is this: 95

“The words” — that is the words of the 
declaration relied on — “must be so used 
that on the whole they ought to be 
construed as imperative … No particular 
form of expression is necessary for the 100
creation of a trust, if on the whole it can 
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be gathered that a trust was intended. ‘A 
trust may well be created, although there 
may be an absence of any expression of 
terms imposing confidence.’ A trust may 
thus be created without using the word 5
‘trust,’ for what the court regards is the 
substance and effect of the words used.” 

Mr. Blythe has taken the court through 
the detailed evidence and submits that one 
cannot find anywhere in the history of 10
events a declaration of trust in the sense 
of finding the deceased saying: “I am now 
disposing of my interest in this fund so 
that you, Mrs. Paul, now have a beneficial 
interest in it.” Of course, the words which 15
I have just used are stilted lawyers' 
language and Mr. Wilson, for the plaintiff, 
was right to remind the court that we are 
dealing with simple people, unaware of 
the subtleties of equity, but understanding 20
very well indeed their own domestic 
situation. It is, of course, right that one 
should consider the various things that 
were said and done by the plaintiff and 
the deceased during their time together 25
against their own background and in their 
own circumstances. 

Mr. Blythe drew our attention to two 
cases, both of them well enough known, 
(at any rate in Lincoln's Inn, since they 30
have been in the law reports for over 100 
years), and he relies on them as showing 
that, though a man may say in clear and 
unmistakable terms that he intends to 
make a gift to some other person, for 35
instance, his child or some other member 
of his family, yet that does not necessarily 
disclose a declaration of trust. Indeed, in 
the two cases to which we have been 
referred the court held that, though there 40
was a plain intention to make a gift, it was 
not right to infer any intention to create a 
trust. 

In the first of the two cases, Jones v. 
Lock (1865) L.R. 1 Ch.App. 25 , Mr. 45
Jones, returning home from a business trip 
to Birmingham, was scolded for not 
having brought anything back for his baby 
son. He went upstairs and came down 
with a cheque made out in his own name 50

for £900 and said in the presence of bis 
wife and the nurse: “Look you here, I give 
this to baby,” and he then placed the 
cheque in the baby's hand. It was obvious 
that he was intending to make a gift of the 55
cheque to his baby son, but it was clear, as 
Lord Cranworth L.C. held, that there was 
no effective gift then and there made of 
the cheque: it was in his name and had not 
been endorsed over to the baby. Other 60
evidence showed that Mr. Jones had in 
mind to go and see his solicitor, Mr. Lock, 
to make *531

proper provision for the baby boy, but 65
unfortunately he died before he could do 
so. Jones v. Lock was a classic case where 
the intention to make a gift failed because 
the gift was imperfect. So an attempt was 
made to say: “Well, since the gift was 70
imperfect, nevertheless, one clan infer the 
existence of a trust.” But Lord Cranworth 
L.C. would have none of it. 

In the second case to which Mr. Blythe 
referred us, Richards v. Delbridge (1874) 75
L.R. 18 Eq. 11 , the facts were that Mr. 
Richards, who employed a member of his 
family called Edward in his business, was 
minded to give the business to the young 
man. He evidenced his intention to make 80
this gift by endorsing on the lease of the 
business premises a short memorandum to 
the effect: 

“This deed” — that is the deed of 
leasehold — “and all thereto belonging I 85
give to Edward from this time forth with 
all the stock in trade.” 

Sir George Jessel M.R., who decided 
the case, said that there was in that case 
the intention to make a gift, but the gift 90
failed because it was imperfect; and he 
refused to draw from the circumstances of 
the imperfect gift the inference of the 
existence of a declaration of trust or the 
intention to create one. The ratio 95
decidendi appears clearly from the report. 
It is a short passage and because of its 
importance I quote it. Sir George Jessel 
M.R. said, at p. 15: 

“In Milroy v. Lord (1862) 4 De G.F. & 100
J. 264 Turner L.J. after referring to the 
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two modes of making a voluntary 
settlement valid and effectual, adds these 
words: ‘The cases, I think, go further, to 
this extent, that if the settlement is 
intended to be effectuated by one of the 5
modes to which I have referred, the court 
will not give effect to it by applying 
another of those modes. If it is intended to 
take effect by transfer, the court will not 
hold the intended transfer to operate as a 10
declaration of trust, for then every 
imperfect instrument would be made 
effectual by being converted into a perfect 
trust.’ It appears to me that that sentence 
contains the whole law on the subject.” 15

There is no suggestion of a gift by 
transfer in the present case. The facts of 
the two cases do not, therefore, very much 
help the submission of Mr. Blythe but he 
was able to extract from them this 20
principle: that there must be a clear 
declaration of trust and that means there 
must be clear evidence from what is said 
or done of an intention to create a trust — 
or, as Mr. Blythe put it, “an intention to 25
dispose of a property or a fund so that 
somebody else to the exclusion of the 
disponent acquires the beneficial interest 
in it.” He submitted that there was no such 
evidence. 30

When one looks at the detailed 
evidence to see whether it goes as far as 
that — and I think that the evidence does 
have to go as far as that — one finds that 
from the time that the deceased received 35
his damages right up to his death he was 
saying, on occasions, that the money was 
as much the plaintiff's as his. When they 
discussed the damages, how to invest 
them or what to do with them and when 40
they discussed the bank account, he would 
say to her: “The money is as much yours 
as mine.” 

The judge, rightly treating the basic 
problem in the case as a question of fact, 45
reached this conclusion. He said: *532

“I have read through my notes and I 
am quite satisfied that it was the intention 
of Mrs. Paul and Mr. Constance to create 50

a trust in which both of them were 
interested.” 

In this court the issue becomes: was 
there sufficient evidence to justify the 
judge in reaching that conclusion of fact? 55
In submitting that there was, Mr. Wilson 
draws attention first and foremost to the 
words used. When one bears in mind the 
unsophisticated character of the deceased 
and his relationship with the plaintiff 60
during the last few years or his life, Mr. 
Wilson submits that the words that he did 
use on more than one occasion, “This 
money is as much yours as mine,” convey 
clearly a present declaration that the 65
existing fund was as much the plaintiff's 
as his own. The judge accepted that 
conclusion. I think that he was well 
justified in doing so and, indeed, I think 
that he was right to do so. There are, as 70
Mr. Wilson reminded us, other features in 
the history of the relationship between the 
plaintiff and the deceased which support 
the interpretation of those words as an 
express declaration of trust. I have already 75
described the interview with the bank 
manager when the account was opened. I 
have mentioned also the putting of the 
“bingo” winnings into the account and the 
one withdrawal for the benefit of both of 80
them. 

It might, however, be thought that this 
was a borderline case, since it is not easy 
to pin-point a specific moment of 
declaration, and one must exclude from 85
one's mind any case built upon the 
existence of an implied or constructive 
trust, for this case was put forward at the 
trial and is now argued by the plaintiff as 
one of express declaration of trust. It was 90
so pleaded and it is only as such that it 
may be considered in this court. The 
question, therefore, is whether, in all the 
circumstances, the use of those words on 
numerous occasions as between the 95
deceased and the plaintiff constituted an 
express declaration of trust. The judge 
found that they did. For myself, I think 
that he was right so to find. I therefore 
would dismiss the appeal. 100
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BRIDGE LJ 
I agree. In delivering his judgment in 
Richards v. Delbridge, L.R. 18 Eq. 11, 14 
, Sir George Jessel M.R., discussing the 
requisities of a valid declaration of trust, 5
said: 

“It is true he need not use the words ‘I 
declare myself a trustee,’ but he must do 
something which is equivalent to it, and 
use expressions which have that meaning, 10
for, however anxious the court may be to 
carry out a man's intentions, it is not at 
liberty to construe words otherwise than 
according to their proper meaning.” 

The plaintiff gave evidence, which the 15
judge accepted, that on frequent occasions 
the deceased told her that the money in 
his deposit account at Lloyds Bank was as 
much her money as his. In the last 
analysis, accordingly, the whole question 20
in this case, as it seems to me, is whether 
the judge was right, construing those 
words according to their proper meaning 
and in the context in which the words 

were spoken as disclosed by the evidence, 25
to conclude that, by using those words, 
the deceased had done something which 
was equivalent to declaring himself a 
trustee of the moneys in the account for 
himself and the plaintiff in equal shares. 30

*533
For the reasons given by Scarman L.J., 

I think that the judge was right in coming 
to that conclusion and I too would dismiss 35
the appeal. 

CAIRNS LJ 
I agree. 

40
Representation 
Solicitors: Oswald Hickson, Collier & 

Co. for Stannard & Moss, Cheltenham; 
Elgoods, Cheltenham. 

Appeal dismissed with costs in Court 45
of Appeal and below. Assessment under 
Legal Aid and Advice Act to be made in 
county court. 

50
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Ronpibon Tin NL and Tongkah Compound NL v Federal Commissioner of Taxation 

(1949) 78 CLR 47  

11 May 1949, 12 May 1949; 6 June 1949. Melbourne 

Latham  C.J., Rich , Dixon , McTiernan  and Webb  JJ. 

Cur. adv. vult. 

THE COURT delivered the following written judgment:- 

June 6 
Latham  C.J., Rich ,  Dixon ,  McTiernan  and  
Webb  JJ. 

These are two appeals from assessments to 
income tax which were brought on to be heard 5
before the Chief Justice as associated matters. 

His Honour at the joint request of the parties 
took steps to have the question which the 
appeals raise submitted for the decision of the 10
Full Court. The matters are now before us as 
upon cases stated under s. 198 of the Income 
Tax Assessment Act 1936-1944. 

In each case the appellant is a no-liability 15
mining company registered in Victoria. Up to 
the outbreak of war with Japan the chief 
business of the companies was tin mining. 
Ronpibon Tin No Liability owned and worked 
a tin mine in Siam under leases from the 20
Siamese Government. Tongkah Compound No 
Liability owned and worked a tin mine at 
Seremban in Malaya and it held shares in other 
companies which owned and worked tin mines 
at the same place. Each of the appellant 25
companies had derived substantial revenues 
from the tin mining so carried on. But these 
revenues formed no part of the assessable 
income of the companies. It was admitted by 
the parties in each case that the income from 30
tin mining had been exempt from income tax 
under the provisions of s. 23 (q) of the Income 
Tax Assessment Act. It does not appear why 
this was so in the case of Malaya, that is to say 
whether the income from tin mining was not 35
exempt from income tax in that country or the 
tin won was subject to a royalty or an export 
duty. But it is to be gathered from the material 

before the Court that in Siam an income tax 
was imposed and, further, that the company 40 
was required to pay a royalty in respect of the 
tin. After the Japanese obtained control of 
Siam and of Malaya the companies were of 
course cut off from all access to their 
workings, which fell into enemy hands. The 45 
mining manager and the assistant mining 
manager of Ronpibon Tin No Liability were 
interned, but the wife of one and the wife and 
children of the other had been sent to 
Australia. There the company continued to pay 50 
them an allotment *52 or allowance for their 
support. The last accounting period in which 
either company received income from tin 
mining carried on during the period was the 
accounting period which included the last 55 
months of the calendar year 1941. That 
accounting period for Ronpibon Tin No 
Liability was the year ending 30th June 1942 
and for Tongkah Compound No Liability the 
year ending 30th September 1942. In assessing 60 
the respective companies to income tax upon 
the income derived during the successive 
accounting periods up to that time, the 
commissioner had necessarily to deal with the 
question to what extent the outgoings incurred 65 
by the companies in Australia were referable 
to the mining operations in Malaya or Siam 
and to what extent they were referable to the 
derivation of income from other sources. The 
other sources of income consisted only in 70 
interest upon money invested either in 
Treasury Bonds or upon fixed deposit. 

The dividends of Tongkah Compound No 
Liability from the shares of other tin-mining 75 
companies were treated as exempt, like the 
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profits of the company's own operations. In 
Melbourne, where each company had its 
registered office, expenditure was incurred in 
the central administration of the affairs of the 
respective companies. There were the 5
directors' fees, the expenses of management 
and the cost of cables, postages, stationery, 
audit fees and some minor incidental 
expenditure. Each company followed the 
practice common among mining companies of 10
employing a legal manager at an over-all 
annual fee in return for which he allowed the 
company to use his premises as its registered 
office and did, or caused to be done by his 
staff, the clerical and other work of 15
management, charging other out-of-pocket 
expenses to the company. It was evident that 
the principal work both of the legal manager 
and of the directors was concerned with 
mining and not investment. For example, for 20
the twelve months ending 30th June 1941 the 
receipts of Ronpibon Tin No Liability from the 
proceeds of tin fell not much short of £100,000 
while the interest from money invested did not 
quite reach £1,000. In dealing with the 25
question what amount of the expenses incurred 
in Melbourne should be considered referable 
to the income from investments and allowed 
accordingly as a deduction from that income, 
forming as it did the only non-exempt or 30
assessable income, the commissioner took a 
short cut. He fixed two and one-half per cent 
of the income from investments as an adequate 
charge against that form of income and 
allowed as a deduction an amount so 35
calculated. In doing so he followed a method 
which apparently he has found it convenient to 
employ in cases where it becomes necessary to 
apportion to income from *53 investments part 
of the general expenses incurred by a company 40
which has some other main purpose. Neither 
of the appellant companies objected to this 
method of distributing their Melbourne 
expenses between their exempt income and 
their assessable income. But in the accounting 45
periods following those on foot at the time of 
the entry of Japan into the war, the 
commissioner applied the same method of 
ascertaining how much of the expenditure 
incurred in administering the affairs of the 50
companies was referable to the assessable 
income. He did this notwithstanding that in 
these accounting periods the companies were 
conducting no mining operations in Malaya 
and Siam. No doubt the commissioner 55

considered that, for whatever purpose the 
administrative structure of each company was 
maintained, no greater part of the expenditure 
it entailed could be treated as incurred in the 
course of holding and superintending the 60 
investments and receiving the interest thereon. 
It could not matter whether the administrative 
structure established for the main purpose of 
winning tin in Malaya or Siam was maintained 
for that purpose, as it was in prior accounting 65 
periods, or for the purpose of awaiting in a 
state of preparedness the ultimate restoration 
of the companies' undertakings and in the 
meantime dealing with questions growing out 
of the past or present situation or for any other 70 
purpose. It would still remain true, so the 
commissioner appears to have considered, that 
only a small part of the total expenditure could 
be referred to the gaining of assessable income 
from investments. 75 

The companies, however, challenged this 
view. They carried in objections to the 
assessments of the taxable income for the 
accounting periods ending respectively 30th 80 
June 1944 and 30th September 1943 and 
claimed that the whole of what they called the 
Melbourne office expenses should be allowed 
as a deduction from the assessable income 
from investments because they were outgoings 85 
incurred in gaining the assessable income or in 
carrying on a business for the purpose of 
gaining such income. It is as well to state in 
more detail the material facts. In the 
accounting period ending 30th June 1944 90 
Ronpibon Tin No Liability derived £1,374 as 
interest from government loans and £459 as 
interest from fixed deposits, making in all 
£1,833. It had no other income. On the 
expenditure side, the company paid £450 as 95 
the fee or salary for management. The legal 
manager had been paid £500 and then £600 
per annum but a reduction in the rate had been 
made in view of the changed situation. It paid 
in directors' fees £200. This again was a 100 
reduced amount. Formerly the directors' fees 
had been £600, but they had fallen to £450 in a 
previous accounting period. The *54
expenditure on cables, postages, stationery, 
audit fees and travelling and general expenses 105 
amounted to £136. The expenditure on cables 
related to matters arising out of the production 
of tin in Siam. About 1938 the International 
Tin Committee formed a pool of tin stocks as a 
cushion or buffer to control the effects of an 110 
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under or over supply of tin. The pool was 
called the "Buffer Stock Scheme," and it was 
this scheme and the disposal of tin in the pool 
which occasioned the cables. The expenditure 
in travelling arose from the fact that one of the 5
directors journeyed to meetings from another 
State. The last item on the expenditure side 
consisted in allotments to the dependants of 
the mine manager and the assistant mine 
manager who had been interned in Siam. This 10
amount was £420. The total of these items of 
expenditure is £1,206, which forms the 
deduction claimed by Ronpibon Tin No 
Liability. 

15
It is perhaps desirable to add that the work 
done in the management of the company 
covered the registration of transfers of shares, 
in which there was some movement, and the 
interviewing of the many shareholders about 20
the prospects of the company, particularly with 
reference to its Siamese assets. The directors 
had caused some investigation to be made of 
possible mining enterprises in Australia. 
During the accounting period in question, 25
however, only one such prospective venture 
was looked into and that was done by or 
through one of the directors who had formerly 
been the company's consulting engineer. He 
acted in his capacity of director. 30

The case of Tongkah Compound No Liability 
is of the same nature but there are differences 
in the precise facts. In that company there was 
no attempt to look for other ventures. The 35
expenditure included no items for allotments 
or sustenance of the mining staff or any of 
their dependants. On the other hand the 
receipts of the company for the accounting 
period ending 30th September 1943 included a 40
sum of £4,999 paid from "The Buffer Stock 
Scheme" as the company's share of the 
proceeds of realizing the stock held. The 
realization had taken place in the previous 
accounting period. The interest of the 45
company in the Pool had stood in the balance 
sheet at £1,081 and the difference was taken 
into the profit and loss account at £3,913 (sic). 
In assessing the company the commissioner 
appears to have treated this item as exempt 50
income. The company derived £2,809 from 
government loans and fixed deposits. It 
expended £300 in directors' fees and £590 in 
meeting the manager's salary, audit fees, 
postages, printing, stationery and advertising. 55

It seeks to deduct from the assessable income 
consisting of the interest the total of these two 
amounts, namely £890.*55

Upon the foregoing facts the Chief Justice has 60 
submitted for the opinion of the Full Court the 
question, in each case, whether in point of law 
he is at liberty to find that in assessing the 
taxpayer to income tax in respect of income 
derived during the accounting period the 65 
commissioner acted rightly in disallowing in 
whole or in any and what part the deduction 
claimed. 

The answer to this question depends primarily 70 
on s. 51 (1) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 
1936-1944. That provision is in great part 
made up of expressions taken from ss. 23 (1) 
(a) and 25 (b) of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1922-1934, expressions that have been 75 
elucidated by many decided cases. But there 
are very important differences between the 
operation which the present s. 51 (1) is framed 
to produce and the manner in which the former 
s. 23 (1) (a) and s. 25 worked. Some of these 80 
differences it is desirable to mention. In the 
first place the principle expressed by the 
former s. 25 (e) has been abandoned. The 
principle was, in the words of that provision, 
that a deduction should not in any case be 85 
made in respect of money not wholly and 
exclusively laid out or expended for the 
production of assessable income. Instead of 
imposing a condition that the expenditure shall 
wholly and exclusively be for the production 90 
of assessable income the present s. 51 (1) 
adopts a principle that will allow of the 
dissection and even apportionment of losses 
and outgoings. It does this by providing for the 
deduction of losses and outgoings to the extent 95 
to which they are incurred in gaining or 
producing the assessable income. In the 
second place it introduces an alternative 
ground or head of deduction; it allows the 
deduction of all losses and outgoings to the 100 
extent to which they are necessarily incurred 
in carrying on a business for the purpose of 
gaining or producing such income. 

It had been repeatedly contended on the part of 105 
the commissioner under the former provisions 
that an expenditure directed not to obtain or 
increase revenue but to avoid or reduce 
expenditure in a business was not incurred in 
gaining or producing the assessable income or 110 
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at all events was not wholly and exclusively 
laid out or expended for the production of 
assessable income: see Federal Commissioner 
of Taxation v. Gordon1 and W. Nevill & Co. 
Ltd. v. Federal Commissioner of Taxation.25
No such contention could be sustained in a 
case falling under the alternative head of 
deduction of s. 51 (1) and that may be one 
reason why the alternative was introduced. It 
must, however, be conceded that no actual 10
decision of this Court had given positive effect 
to the particular contention *56 so often made 
by the commissioner. The word "necessarily" 
no doubt limits the operation of the alternative, 
but probably it is intended to mean no more 15
than "clearly appropriate or adapted for": cf. 
per Higgins J. in Commonwealth v. Progress 
Advertising & Press Agency Co. Pty. Ltd.3

The word "business" is defined by s. 6 (1) to 20
include profession, trade, employment, 
vocation or calling, but not occupation as an 
employee. The alternative in s. 51 (1) therefore 
covers a wide description of activities. But in 
actual working it can add but little to the 25
operation of the leading words, "losses or 
outgoings to the extent to which they are 
incurred in gaining or producing the assessable 
income." No doubt the expression "in carrying 
on a business for the purpose of gaining or 30
producing" lays down a test that is different 
from that implied by the words "in gaining or 
producing." But these latter words have a very 
wide operation and will cover almost all the 
ground occupied by the alternative. The words 35
"such income" mean "income of that 
description or kind" and perhaps they should 
be understood to refer not to the assessable 
income of the accounting period but to 
assessable income generally. If they were so 40
interpreted, they would cover a case where the 
business had not yet produced or had failed to 
produce assessable income and the alternative 
would then itself suffice to authorize the 
deduction of a loss made in a distinct business. 45

The third matter to be mentioned is the express 
exception with which s. 51 (1) concludes. To 
except losses and outgoings of capital is both 
necessary and logical. But to except losses and 50

1 (1930) 43 C.L.R. 456, at pp. 465, 469.
2 (1937) 56 C.L.R. 290, at pp. 296, 301, 304, 
306-307, 308-309.
3 (1910) 10 C.L.R. 457, at p. 469.

outgoings to the extent to which they are 
incurred in relation to the gaining or 
production of exempt income seems to except 
something from the primary description which 
could not fall within it. For exempt income can 55 
never be assessable income. They are mutually 
exclusive categories. The explanation 
doubtless is the desire to declare expressly that 
so much of the losses and outgoings as might 
be referable to exempt income should not be 60 
deductible from the assessable income. 
Although it may not be strictly logical to 
express the declaration in the form of an 
exception, the declaration serves the not 
unimportant purpose of making an express 65 
contrast. 

The present case, however, can be decided by 
reference to the earlier or positive part of the 
sub-section, that which makes the deduction of 70 
losses and outgoings allowable. 

For expenditure to form an allowable 
deduction as an outgoing incurred in gaining 
or producing the assessable income it must be 75 
incidental and relevant to that end. The words 
"incurred in *57 gaining or producing the 
assessable income" mean in the course of 
gaining or producing such income. Their 
operation has been explained in cases decided 80 
under the provisions of the previous 
enactments: see particularly Amalgamated 
Zinc (de Bavay's) Ltd. v. Federal 
Commissioner of Taxation4 and W. Nevill & 
Co. Ltd. v. Federal Commissioner of 85 
Taxation.5

Notwithstanding the differences in other 
respects in the present provision, the 
expression "incurred in gaining or producing 90 
the assessable income" has been left 
unchanged and bears the same meaning. In 
brief substance, to come within the initial part 
of the sub-section it is both sufficient and 
necessary that the occasion of the loss or 95 
outgoing should be found in whatever is 
productive of the assessable income or, if none 
be produced, would be expected to produce 
assessable income. It is by this standard that 
the question raised by the present cases must 100 

4 (1935) 54 C.L.R. 295, at pp. 303-304, 307, 
309, 310.
5 (1937) 56 C.L.R., at pp. 300, 301, 305-306, 
308.
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be determined. It is true that for the appellant 
companies it is claimed that if they fail by this 
standard there is an alternative standard by 
which they should succeed expressed in the 
reference contained in s. 51 (1) to losses and 5
outgoings necessarily incurred in carrying on a 
business for the purpose of gaining or 
producing such income. The claim is that the 
course pursued by each company in the 
relevant accounting period in the conduct of its 10
affairs amounted to the carrying on of a 
business, one entire business having for its 
purpose the gaining of assessable income. All 
the expenditure was incurred, so it was said, in 
carrying on the business: "necessarily" should 15
receive a qualified meaning. If much that the 
companies did was attributable to a hope or 
expectation that eventually they would be able 
to resume mining operations in Malaya or 
Siam, that, it was contended, would not 20
amount to a present purpose of gaining exempt 
income. There were too many contingencies 
under s. 23 (q), ranging from the future state of 
foreign tax laws to the satisfaction of the 
commissioner that future taxes would be paid. 25
So many contingencies made it impossible to 
say that it was a purpose of gaining assessable 
income that would be exempt. With much of 
all this it is unnecessary to deal. Let it be 
assumed that neither company did more or less 30
than carry on one single business when after 
the loss of its tin workings it pursued its way 
fulfilling the duties imposed by company law, 
concerning itself with the fate of its tin 
workings in South East Asia, holding itself in 35
readiness to resume operations if and when 
fortune allowed, examining any prospective 
local venture that might be proposed and 
looking after the investment of its funds. Yet, 
*58 excepting the income from investments, 40
the subject of nearly all these activities was a 
concern of capital. When the companies were 
cut off from their undertakings in Siam and 
Malaya what they lost was the possession of 
capital assets. The re-establishment of the 45
foreign mining businesses of which they had 
been deprived must be considered to be largely 
an affair of capital. So would the taking up of 
a fresh venture in Australia. Communications 
and business transacted with reference to the 50
"Buffer Stock Scheme" may be put aside as a 
matter concerning exempt income. So far as 
anything else done by either company in the 
course of its inactive existence related to 
revenue, the only assessable income (as 55

distinguished from capital) in view was 
interest upon investments. Accordingly, the 
reliance placed by the companies upon the 
second alternative in the positive part of s. 51 
(1) will not advance their claim to deduct the 60 
full expenditure incurred in the respective 
accounting periods. It is therefore necessary to 
return to the opening words of s. 51 (1) and 
inquire to what extent the expenditure of the 
respective companies was incurred in gaining 65 
or producing the assessable income. The 
question is how far was it incurred in the 
course of, how far was it incidental and 
relevant to, gaining or producing the 
assessable income. Here again it is necessary 70 
to bear in mind that communications made and 
things done with reference to the buffer stock 
scheme relate to exempt income and that a 
consideration of a prospective new venture, 
like anything done with a view to the 75 
possibility of resuming the Siamese or 
Malayan operations, must largely be an affair 
of capital. Of course we are not here 
concerned with any very specific expenditure 
or any very definite operations. The whole 80 
matter relates to a few items the greatest of 
which are fees to directors and for 
management, but if their allowability is to 
depend on the nature of what was done, then 
principle requires that it should be borne in 85 
mind that the chief reasons for keeping up the 
structure of the companies on such a scale 
related to capital and not revenue. 

In applying the foregoing test or standard 90 
separate and distinct items of expenditure 
should be dealt with specifically. To begin 
with there are the payments by Ronpibon Tin 
No Liability to the dependants of members of 
that company's Eastern staff. These payments 95 
amount to £420. Clearly this item is not 
allowable. The company could in the 
circumstances hardly do otherwise than make 
the payments but from the point of view of the 
income-tax law they could not be regarded as 100 
business expenditure, unless with reference to 
the past tin-mining operations which the 
company had carried on in Siam or to future 
operations there which it hoped to resume.*59

105 
In the next place the cost incurred by the same 
company in cables and other communications 
with reference to the buffer stock scheme 
cannot be deducted. That is also true of any 
expenses incurred by Tongkah Compound No 110 
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Liability in connection with the scheme and 
the receipt therefrom of the share of the 
proceeds of realization of stocks of tin in the 
pool. Sufficient details do not appear to say 
what other distinct and severable items are 5
wholly incapable of reference to the gaining of 
assessable income. 

The charges for management and the directors' 
fees are entire sums which probably cannot be 10
dissected. But the provision contained in s. 51 
(1), as has been already said, contemplates 
apportionment. The question what expenditure 
is incurred in gaining or producing assessable 
income is reduced to a question of fact when 15
once the legal standard or criterion is 
ascertained and understood. This is 
particularly true when the problem is to 
apportion outgoings which have a double 
aspect, outgoings that are in part attributable to 20
the gaining of assessable income and in part to 
some other end or activity. It is perhaps 
desirable to remark that there are at least two 
kinds of items of expenditure that require 
apportionment. One kind consists in undivided 25
items of expenditure in respect of things or 
services of which distinct and severable parts 
are devoted to gaining or producing assessable 
income and distinct and severable parts to 
some other cause. In such cases it may be 30
possible to divide the expenditure in 
accordance with the applications which have 
been made of the things or services. The other 
kind of apportionable items consists in those 
involving a single outlay or charge which 35
serves both objects indifferently. Of this 
directors' fees may be an example. With the 
latter kind there must be some fair and 
reasonable assessment of the extent of the 
relation of the outlay to assessable income. It 40
is an indiscriminate sum apportionable, but 
hardly capable of arithmetical or ratable 
division because it is common to both objects. 

In such a case the result must depend in an 45
even greater degree upon a finding by the 
tribunal of fact. 

The reason why the commissioner has adopted 
the practice of allowing two and one-half per 50
cent on income from investments as a 
deduction is no doubt because generally 
speaking it has been found to produce an 
adequate allowance and because he is forced 
by the exigencies of administration to provide 55

his assessors with some fixed rule. 

But it is a more or less arbitrary expedient to 
which it is scarcely possible to resort judicially 
when the Court is called upon to decide *60 an 60 
appeal from an assessment. The Court must 
make an apportionment which the facts of the 
particular case may seem to make just, and the 
facts of the present cases are rather special. In 
making the apportionment the peculiarities of 65 
the cases cannot be disregarded. The taxpayers 
are companies. A directorate is necessary. The 
circumstances were such as to call for some 
consideration from time to time on the part of 
the directors of the investment of the money. 70 
Thus although the assessable income is only 
interest on government loans and fixed 
deposits, it is by no means a mere question of 
fixing a fair commission rate for handling the 
business. It is important not to confuse the 75 
question how much of the actual expenditure 
of the taxpayer is attributable to the gaining of 
assessable income with the question how 
much would a prudent investor have expended 
in gaining the assessable income. The actual 80 
expenditure in gaining the assessable income, 
if and when ascertained, must be accepted. 
The problem is to ascertain it by an 
apportionment. It is not for the Court or the 
commissioner to say how much a taxpayer 85 
ought to spend in obtaining his income, but 
only how much he has spent: see per Ferguson 
J. in Tooheys Ltd. v. Commissioner of 
Taxation;6 per Williams J. in Tweddle v. 
Federal Commissioner of Taxation.7 The 90 
question of fact is therefore to make a fair 
appointment to each object of the companies' 
actual expenditure where items are not in 
themselves referable to one object or the other. 
But this must be done as a matter of fact and 95 
therefore not by this Full Court. It will be 
enough for this Court in answer to the question 
submitted in each case to make a declaration in 
accordance with the principles stated. But 
before formulating the answers to the 100 
questions it is desirable to refer to two other 
provisions of the Act, in order to avoid 
misunderstanding. 

In each of the cases before the Court a ground 105 
of objection under s. 103  (1) (b) was taken in 
the notice of objection. The ground was not 

6 (1922) 22 S.R. (N.S.W.) 432, at p. 440.
7 (1942) 7 A.T.D. 186, at p. 190.
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argued and clearly is untenable. But though no 
ground of objection under s. 77 was taken in 
the notice, that section was relied upon during 
the argument. It is sufficient to say that, even 
if it were open, the appellant companies could 5
not succeed under s. 77 because neither 
taxpayer incurred in the year of income a loss 
in carrying on in Australia a business. Neither 
company had two distinct businesses in 
Australia for the purpose of the section. 10
Though mining abroad and investment at 
home formed distinguishable sources of 
income, what was done in Australia with 
reference *61 to these activities fell within 
operations of the company incapable of 15
amounting to more than the business in 
Australia. 

Ronpibon Tin No Liability v. The 
Commissioner of Taxation of the 20
Commonwealth of Australia.-Question 
answered as follows:-"As a matter of law no 
part of the expenditure upon allotments to 
dependants of the Eastern staff of the company 
or upon cables is allowable as a deduction and 25
the commissioner rightly disallowed that part 
of the expenditure as a deduction; subject to 
the foregoing declaration the learned judge 
should decide as a matter of fact what part or 
proportion of the remaining expenses was 30
fairly and properly attributable to gaining the 
assessable income." Costs of case to be costs 
in the appeal. 

Tongkah Compound No Liability v. The 35
Commissioner of Taxation of the 
Commonwealth of Australia.-Question 
answered as follows:-"The learned judge 
should decide what part or proportion of the 
expenditure in respect of which the deduction 40
is claimed was fairly and properly attributable 
to gaining the assessable income." Costs of 
case to be costs in the appeal. 

45

Solicitors for the appellants: Haden Smith & 
Fitchett.

50
Solicitor for the respondent: K. C. Waugh, 
Acting Crown Solicitor for the 
Commonwealth. 
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Rylands v Fletcher (1868) LR 3 HL 330 

House of Lords 
17 July 1868 
The Lord Chancellor (Lord Cairns), Lord 
Cranworth 

5
Mine—Negligence—Use of own 
Property—Water. 

Where the owner of land, without 
wilfulness or negligence, uses his land in 10
the ordinary manner of its use, though 
mischief should thereby be occasioned to 
his neighbour, he will not be liable in 
damages. 

But if he brings upon his land any 15
thing which would not naturally come 
upon it, and which is in itself dangerous, 
and may become mischievous if not kept 
under proper control, though in so doing 
he may act without personal wilfulness or 20
negligence, he will be liable in damages 
for any mischief thereby occasioned. 

A. was the lessee of mines. B. was the 
owner of a mill standing on land adjoining 
that under which the mines were 25
worked. B.desired to construct a reservoir, 
and employed competent persons, an 
engineer and a contractor, to construct 
it. A. had worked his mines up to a spot 
where there were certain old passages of 30
disused mines; these passages were 
connected with vertical shafts which 
communicated with the land above, and 
which had also been out of use for years, 
and were apparently filled with marl and 35
the earth of the surrounding land. No care 
was taken by the engineer or the 
contractor to block up these shafts, and 
shortly after water had been introduced 
into the reservoir it broke through some of 40
the shafts, flowed through the old 
passages and flooded A.'smine:— 

Held, that A. was entitled to recover 
damages from B. in respect of this injury. 

THIS was a proceeding in Error 45
against a judgment of the Exchequer 

Chamber, which had reversed a previous 
judgment of the Court of Exchequer. 

In November, 1861, Fletcher brought 
an action against Ryland & Horrocks, to 50
recover damages for an injury caused to 
his mines by water overflowing into them 
from a reservoir which the Defendants 
had constructed. The declaration 
contained three counts, and each count 55
alleged negligence on the part of the 
Defendants, but in this House the case 
was ultimately treated upon the principle 
of determining the relative rights of the 
parties independently of any question of 60
personal negligence by the Defendants in 
the exercise of them. 

The cause came on for trial at 
the Liverpool Summer Assizes 
of *331 1862, when it was referred to an 65
arbitrator, who was afterwards directed, 
instead of making an award, to prepare a 
special case for the consideration of the 
Judges. This was done, and the case was 
argued in the Court of Exchequer in 70
Trinity Term, 1865. 

The material facts of the case were 
these:—The Plaintiff was the lessee of 
certain coal mines known as the Red
House Colliery , under the Earl of Wilton . 75
He had also obtained from two other 
persons, Mr Hulton and Mr. Whitehead , 
leave to work for coal under their lands. 
The positions of the various properties 
were these:—There was a turnpike road 80
leading from Bury to Bolton , which 
formed a southern boundary to the 
properties of these different persons. A 
parish road, called the Old Wood Lane , 
formed their northern boundary. These 85
roads might be described as forming two 
sides of a square, of which the other two 
sides were formed by the lands of 
Mr. Whitehead on the east and 
Lord Wilton on the west. The Defendants' 90
grounds lay along the turnpike road, or 
southern boundary, stretching from its 
centre westward. On these grounds were a 
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mill and a small old reservoir. The proper 
grounds of the Red House Colliery also 
lay, in part, along the southern boundary, 
stretching from its centre eastward. 
Immediately north of the Defendants' land 5
lay the land of Mr. Hulton , and still 
farther north that of Lord Wilton . On this 
land of Lord Wilton the Defendants, in 
1860, constructed (with his Lordship's 
permission) a new reservoir, the water 10
from which would pass almost in a 
southerly direction across a part of the 
land of Lord Wilton and the land of 
Mr. Hulton , and so reach the Defendant's 
mill. The line of direction from this new 15
reservoir to the Red Colliery mine was 
nearly south-east. 

The Plaintiff, under his lease from 
Lord Wilton , and under his agreements 
with Messrs. Hulton and Whitehead , 20
worked the mines under their respective 
lands. In the course of doing so, he came 
upon old shafts and passages of mines 
formerly worked, but of which the 
workings had long ceased; the origin and 25
the existence of these shafts and passages 
were unknown. The shafts were vertical, 
the passages horizontal, and the former 
especially seemed filled with marl and 
rubbish. Defendants employed for the 30
purpose of constructing their new 
reservoir persons who were admitted to be 
competent as engineers and contractors to 
perform the work, *332 and there was no 
charge of negligence made against the 35
Defendants personally. But in the course 
of excavating the bed of the new 
reservoir, five old shafts, running 
vertically downwards, were met with in 
the portion of the land selected for its site. 40
The case found that “on the part of the 
Defendants there was no personal 
negligence or default whatever in or 
about, or in relation to, the selection of the 
said site, or in or about the planning or 45
construction of the said reservoir; but, in 
point of fact, reasonable and proper care 
and skill were not exercised by, or on the 
part of, the persons so employed by them, 
with reference to the shafts so met with as 50

aforesaid, to provide for the sufficiency of 
the said reservoir to bear the pressure of 
water which, when filled to the height 
proposed, it would have to bear.” 

The reservoir was completed at the 55
beginning of December, 1860, and on the 
morning of the 11th of that month the 
reservoir, being then partially filled with 
water, one of the aforesaid vertical shafts 
gave way, and burst downwards, in 60
consequence of which the water of the 
reservoir flowed into the old passages and 
coal-workings underneath, and by means 
of the underground communications then 
existing between them and the Plaintiff's 65
workings in the Red House Colliery , the 
colliery was flooded and the workings 
thereof stopped. 

The question for the opinion of the 
Court was whether the Plaintiff was 70
entitled to recover damages by reason of 
the matters hereinbefore stated. The Court 
of Exchequer, Mr. 
Baron Bramwell dissenting, gave 
judgment for the Defendants 1 . That 75
judgment was afterwards reversed in the 
Court of Exchequer Chamber 2 . The case 
was then brought on Error to this House. 

Sir R. Palmer , Q.C., and Mr. T.
Jones , Q.C., for the Defendants (now 80
Plaintiffs in Error):— 

In considering this case it is important 
to remember that the communications 
between the workings of the Plaintiff and 
the old shafts and pits were not known to 85
the Defendants. The question, therefore, 
is, whether they can be held responsible 
for an injury which, as the possible cause 
of it was unknown to them, they could not 
by any care on their part prevent. It is 90
submitted that they*333 are not liable. 
Every man has a right to use his own land 
for lawful purposes, and if he does so, and 
does so without knowledge that he will 
thereby occasion injury to another, he 95
cannot be held responsible should injury 
occur. For that is a case which comes 
within the legal description of damnum 
absque injuriâ . The principle adopted by 
the Exchequer Chamber here, that though 100
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a man uses his lawful rights without 
malice and without knowledge of danger, 
he may still be liable for any mischief 
occurring from such use, is too wide. It 
would make every man responsible for 5
every mischief he occasioned, however 
involuntarily, or even unconsciously. 
Now knowledge of possible mischief is of 
the very essence of the liability incurred 
by occasioning it: Acton v. Blundell 3 ; 10
Chasemore v. Richards 4 . That has 
always been recognised as one of the 
principles of our law, and has, as such, 
been adopted by the Courts in America : 
Pixley v. Clark 5 . Smith v. 15
Kenrick 6 shewed that where two rivers 
lay contiguous to each other, but neither 
was subject to a servitude to the other, 
each owner had a right to work *334 his 
own mine in the best way for his own 20
benefit, and, if he did so without 
negligence, was not liable to the other for 
prejudice to his property which might 
thereby arise. That case is very important, 
for there knowledge existed which it is 25
not pretended existed here. In the time 
of Bracton the rule existed that injury 
created to one man by the lawful act of 
another, if that act was done without 
wilfulness or negligence, would not afford 30
a title to a claim of damages 7 . That must 
be the rule in the present day, for 
otherwise no man could use his property, 
however carefully, without being liable to 
pay damages for mischief which, without 35
any fault or even any knowledge of his 
own, might afterwards occur. Chadwick 
v. Trower 8 gives the answer to that 
proposition. There it was held that a man 
who pulled down his own wall was not 40
bound to give notice to his neighbour of 
his intention to do so, and was not liable 
to that neighbour in damages merely 
because, in pulling it down, he damaged 
an underground wall of his neighbour's, of 45
the existence of which he had no 
knowledge. That case, so far as principle 
is concerned, exactly resembles the 
present. Tenant v. Goldwin 9 does not 
affect the Defendants here, for there all 50

the facts were fully known to both parties, 
and the Court merely decided that, that 
being so, the Defendant was bound to 
keep his own property in such a state that 
it should not injure his neighbour. Bagnall 55
v. The North Western Railway 
Company 10 at first sight appears much 
nearer the present case; but there all the 
facts as to the condition of the soil and the 
parts worked through were known, and in 60
that respect, therefore, the difference 
between the two cases is complete. The 
want of knowledge here is an essential 
ingredient in the case. The principle laid 
down by Mr. Baron Bramwell in this case, 65
that a man in the use of his own property 
must take care that he does not injure that 
of his neighbour, is true in itself, but 
cannot be applied to a case like the 
present, where the injury which happens 70
is merely consequential, and is the result 
of circumstances as to which neither 
knowledge of them, nor negligence in 
providing against them, can be imputable 
to the Defendants. Indeed, the fault, if 75
any, is with the Plaintiff. He began the 
work in his mines some years ago, and in 
the *335 progress of it he came to know 
of these passages. He ought to ave 
communicated his knowledge of them to 80
the Defendants, who might then have 
provided against this mischief, but he did 
not. The obligation to give notice of the 
circumstances, if they were to be relied on 
as creating any liability in another party, 85
was recognised in Partridge v. Scott 11 . 
Here, too, the Defendants employed 
competent persons to do something which 
was in itself perfectly lawful, and they 
cannot be held liable in damages without 90
clear evidence of impropriety or 
negligence on their own parts. The person 
who actually does the work is alone 
liable: Baker v. Hunter 12 ; Richards v. 
Hayward 13 ;Peachey v. Rowland 14 ; 95
Allen v. Hayward 15 . Sutton v. 
Clarke 16 is clearly in favour of the 
Defendants. No pretence for setting up 
this charge of neglect was suggested in 
this case. On the facts, therefore, as well 100
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as on the principles of law, the judgment 
against the Defendants cannot be 
supported. 

Mr. Manisty , Q.C., and Mr. J. A. 
Russell , Q.C., for the Plaintiff below 5
(now the Defendant in Error):— 

The mines here were worked in the 
ordinary way, and their owner is entitled 
to be protected against a flow of water 
which destroyed his works, and which 10
was occasioned by the act of others. If the 
water had come into his mine from natural 
causes alone, he could not have 
complained; but it came in through the act 
of the Defendants in making their 15
reservoir. They introduced there water 
which would not have come there in a 
natural way, and they were therefore 
bound to see that it did not produce 
mischief to any one. They brought the 20
mischief on the land, and they were bound 
to guard against the consequences. Baird 
v. Williamson 17 really disposes of this 
case, on the ground of the distinction 
between water flowing on to land, from 25
natural gravitation, and water brought 
there through the act of an adjoining 
landowner. Smith v. Kenrick 18 had 
established that each of two mine owners 
might work his own mine in the ordinary 30
and proper way, and that if, from such 
working, and without negligence on the 
part of the one, an injury 
was *336 occasioned to the property of 
the other, the former was not liable. That 35
proposition is not contested; but that case 
implied that if the injury was occasioned 
by something which was not ordinary 
working, the injury thereby occasioned 
would be the subject of a claim for 40
damages. Here the construction of the 
reservoir was not an ordinary working of 
the property of the Defendants. Baird v. 
Williamson completed what Smith v. 
Kenrick had left deficient, and the two, 45
taken together, established beyond all 
question the title of the Plaintiff here to 
recover damages. The case of Sutton v. 
Clarke 19 merely decided that a public 
functionary acting to the best of his 50

judgment and without malice, and 
obtaining the best assistance he can, is not 
liable to a claim for damages if what he 
does operates to the prejudice of an 
individual. That case does not affect the 55
present, except that it indirectly confirms 
the doctrine now contended for, namely, 
that though the act was in itself lawful, yet 
if the doing of it occasions an injury to 
any one, the person injured has a right of 60
action. The principle that an injury, 
though only consequent on an act, and not 
developing itself till some years after the 
act done, may still be the subject of a 
claim for damages, was settled in 65
Backhouse v. Bonomi 20 , and there the 
act which occasioned the injury was in 
itself a lawful act, and there had been 
nothing but the mere ordinary working of 
the mines; yet, as it resulted in a mischief 70
to the property of other people, it was held 
to be a subject for compensation. In 
Hodgkinson v. Ennor 21 the Defendant 
had polluted a stream by works on his 
own land, which works were not in 75
themselves illegal, but they were not the 
natural mode of working the property, and 
they produced a mischief to his 
neighbour; he was therefore held 
responsible in damages. Lord Chief 80
Justice Cockburn there said, that it was a 
case in which the maxim “ Sic utere tuo ut 
alienum non lædas ” applied; and Mr. 
Justice Blackburn declared “the law to be 
as in Tenant v. Goldwin 22 , that you must 85
not injure the property of your neighbour, 
and, consequently, if filth is created on 
any man's land, ‘he whose dirt it is must 
keep it that it may not trespass.’” Making 
a shaft to mine a is, no doubt, a part of the 90
proper and ordinary way of working 
mining property, but the shaft must be so 
made and *337 fenced that it shall not 
occasion injury to the property of others, 
and if not so made and kept, any injury 95
thereby occasioned must be compensated. 
Williams v. Groucott 23 , and Imperial Gas 
Company v. Broadbent 24 , went 
altogether on that principle; so did 
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Bamford v. Turnley 25 , and Tipping v. St. 
Helen's Smelting Company 26 . 

As was said in Lambert v. Bessey 27 , 
“if a man doeth a lawful act, yet if injury 
to another ariseth from it, the man who 5
does the act shall be answerable;” and 
many illustrations of the principle are 
there given. Every one of them justifies 
the argument which seeks to fix liability 
on these Defendants. 10

The millowners are liable here, though 
they employed a competent engineer and 
contractor, and were not themselves guilty 
of any personal negligence. The principle, 
qui facit per alium facit per se, applies 15
here, and the principal is liable for the 
negligence of his agent: Paley 28 ; Pickard 
v. Smith 29 . 

Mr. T. Jones replied. 
20

THE LORD CHANCELLOR (Lord 
Cairns)
My Lords, in this case the Plaintiff (I may 
use the description of the parties in the 
action) is the occupier of a mine and 25
works under a close of land. The 
Defendants are the owners of a mill in his 
neighbourhood, and they proposed to 
make a reservoir for the purpose of 
keeping and storing water to be used 30
about their mill upon another close of 
land, which, for the purposes of this case, 
may be taken as being adjoining to the 
close of the Plaintiff, although, in point of 
fact, some intervening land lay between 35
the two. Underneath the close of land of 
the Defendants on which they proposed to 
construct their reservoir there were certain 
old and disused mining passages and 
works. There were five vertical shafts, 40
and some horizontal shafts 
communicating with them. The vertical 
shafts had been filled up with soil and 
rubbish, and it does not appear that any 
person was aware of the existence either 45
of the vertical shafts or of the horizontal 
works communicating with them. In the 
course of the working by the Plaintiff of 
his mine,*338 he had gradually worked 
through the seams of coal underneath the 50

close, and had come into contact with the 
old and disused works underneath the 
close of the Defendants. 

In that state of things the reservoir of 
the Defendants was constructed. It was 55
constructed by them through the agency 
and inspection of an engineer and 
contractor. Personally, the Defendants 
appear to have taken no part in the works, 
or to have been aware of any want of 60
security connected with them. As regards 
the engineer and the contractor, we must 
take it from the case that they did not 
exercise, as far as they were concerned, 
that reasonable care and caution which 65
they might have exercised, taking notice, 
as they appear to have taken notice, of the 
vertical shafts filled up in the manner 
which I have mentioned. However, my 
Lords, when the reservoir was 70
constructed, and filled, or partly filled, 
with water, the weight of the water 
bearing upon the disused and imperfectly 
filled-up vertical shafts, broke through 
those shafts. The water passed down them 75
and into the horizontal workings, and 
from the horizontal workings under the 
close of the Defendants it passed on into 
the workings under the close of the 
Plaintiff, and flooded his mine, causing 80
considerable damage, for which this 
action was brought. 

The Court of Exchequer, when the 
special case stating the facts to which I 
have referred, was argued, was of opinion 85
that the Plaintiff had established no cause 
of action. The Court of Exchequer 
Chamber, before which an appeal from 
this judgment was argued, was of a 
contrary opinion, and the Judges there 90
unanimously arrived at the conclusion that 
there was a cause of action, and that the 
Plaintiff was entitled to damages. 

My Lords, the principles on which this 
case must be determined appear to me to 95
be extremely simple. The Defendants, 
treating them as the owners or occupiers 
of the close on which the reservoir was 
constructed, might lawfully have used that 
close for any purpose for which it might 100
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in the ordinary course of the enjoyment of 
land be used; and if, in what I may term 
the natural user of that land, there had 
been any accumulation of water, either on 
the surface or underground, and if, by the 5
operation of the laws of nature, that 
accumulation of water had passed off into 
the close occupied by the Plaintiff, the 
Plaintiff could not have 
complained*339 that that result had taken 10
place. If he had desired to guard himself 
against it, it would have lain upon him to 
have done so, by leaving, or by 
interposing, some barrier between his 
close and the close of the Defendants in 15
order to have prevented that operation of 
the laws of nature. 

As an illustration of that principle, I 
may refer to a case which was cited in the 
argument before your Lordships, the case 20
of Smith v. Kenrick in the Court of 
Common Pleas 30 . 

On the other hand if the Defendants, 
not stopping at the natural use of their 
close, had desired to use it for any 25
purpose which I may term a non-natural 
use, for the purpose of introducing into 
the close that which in its natural 
condition was not in or upon it, for the 
purpose of introducing water either above 30
or below ground in quantities and in a 
manner not the result of any work or 
operation on or under the land,—and if in 
consequence of their doing so, or in 
consequence of any imperfection in the 35
mode of their doing so, the water came to 
escape and to pass off into the close of the 
Plaintiff, then it appears to me that that 
which the Defendants were doing they 
were doing at their own peril; and, if in 40
the course of their doing it, the evil arose 
to which I have referred, the evil, namely, 
of the escape of the water and its passing 
away to the close of the Plaintiff and 
injuring the Plaintiff, then for the 45
consequence of that, in my opinion, the 
Defendants would be liable. As the case 
of Smith v. Kenrick is an illustration of 
the first principle to which I have referred, 
so also the second principle to which I 50

have referred is well illustrated by another 
case in the same Court, the case of Baird 
v. Williamson 31 , which was also cited in 
the argument at the Bar. 

My Lords, these simple principles, if 55
they are well founded, as it appears to me 
they are, really dispose of this case. 

The same result is arrived at on the 
principles referred to by Mr. 
Justice Blackburn in his judgment, in the 60
Court of Exchequer Chamber, where he 
states the opinion of that Court as to the 
law in these words: 

“We think that the true rule of law is, 
that the person who, for his own purposes, 65
brings on his land and collects and keeps 
there anything likely to do mischief if it 
escapes, must keep it in at his peril; and if 
he does not do so, is primâ 
facie *340 answerable for all the damage 70
which is the natural consequence of its 
escape. He can excuse himself by shewing 
that the escape was owing to the 
Plaintiff's default; or, perhaps, that the 
escape was the consequence of vis major , 75
or the act of God; but as nothing of this 
sort exists here, it is unnecessary to 
inquire what excuse would be sufficient. 
The general rule, as above stated, seems 
on principle just. The person whose grass 80
or corn is eaten down by the escaping 
cattle of his neighbour, or whose mine is 
flooded by the water from his neighbour's 
reservoir, or whose cellar is invaded by 
the filth of his neighbour's privy, or whose 85
habitation is made unhealthy by the fumes 
and noisome vapours of his neighbour's 
alkali works, is damnified without any 
fault of his own; and it seems but 
reasonable and just that the neighbour 90
who has brought something on his own 
property (which was not naturally there), 
harmless to others so long as it is confined 
to his own property, but which he knows 
will be mischievous if it gets on his 95
neighbour's, should be obliged to make 
good the damage which ensues if he does 
not succeed in confining it to his own 
property. But for his act in bringing it 
there no mischief could have accrued, and 100

114



Rylands v Fletcher 

7�

it seems but just that he should at his peril 
keep it there, so that no mischief may 
accrue, or answer for the natural and 
anticipated consequence. And upon 
authority this we think is established to be 5
the law, whether the things so brought be 
beasts, or water, or filth, or stenches.” 

My Lords, in that opinion, I must say I 
entirely concur. Therefore, I have to move 
your Lordships that the judgment of the 10
Court of Exchequer Chamber be affirmed, 
and that the present appeal be dismissed 
with costs. 

LORD CRANWORTH15
My Lords, I concur with my noble and 
learned friend in thinking that the rule of 
law was correctly stated by Mr. 
Justice Blackburn in delivering the 
opinion of the Exchequer Chamber. If a 20
person brings, or accumulates, on his land 
anything which, if it should escape, may 
cause damage to his neighbour, he does so 
at his peril. If it does escape, and cause 
damage, he is responsible, however 25
careful he may have been, and whatever 
precautions he may have taken to prevent 
the damage. 

*341
In considering whether a Defendant is 30

liable to a Plaintiff for damage which the 
Plaintiff may have sustained, the question 
in general is not whether the Defendant 
has acted with due care and caution, but 
whether his acts have occasioned the 35
damage. This is all well explained in the 
old case of Lambert v. Bessey , reported 
by Sir Thomas Raymond 32 . And the 
doctrine is founded on good sense. For 
when one person, in managing his own 40
affairs, causes, however innocently, 
damage to another, it is obviously only 
just that he should be the party to suffer. 
He is bound sic uti suo ut non lædat 
alienum. This is the principle of law 45
applicable to cases like the present, and I 
do not discover in the authorities which 
were cited anything conflicting with it. 

The doctrine appears to me to be well 
illustrated by the two modern cases in the 50

Court of Common Pleas referred to by my 
noble and learned friend. I allude to the 
two cases of Smith v. Kenrick 33 , and 
Baird v. Williamson 34 . In the former the 
owner of a coal mine on the higher level 55
worked out the whole of his coal, leaving 
no barrier between his mine and the mine 
on the lower level, so that the water 
percolating through the upper mine 
flowed into the lower mine, and 60
obstructed the owner of it in getting his 
coal. It was held that the owner of the 
lower mine had no ground of complaint. 
The Defendant, the owner of the upper 
mine, had a right to remove all his coal. 65
The damage sustained by the Plaintiff was 
occasioned by the natural flow or 
percolation of water from the upper strata. 
There was no obligation on the Defendant 
to protect the Plaintiff against this. It was 70
his business to erect or leave a sufficient 
barrier to keep out the water, or to adopt 
proper means for so conducting the water 
as that it should not impede him in his 
workings. The water, in that case, was 75
only left by the Defendant to flow in its 
natural course. 

But in the later case of Baird v. 
Williamson the Defendant, the owner of 
the upper mine, did not merely suffer the 80
water to flow through his mine without 
leaving a barrier between it and the mine 
below, but in order to work his own mine 
beneficially he pumped up quantities of 
water which passed into the Plaintiff's 85
mine in addition to that which would have 
naturally reached it, and so occasioned 
him damage. Though this was done 
without *342 negligence, and in the due 
working of his own mine, yet he was held 90
to be responsible for the damage so 
occasioned. It was in consequence of his 
act, whether skilfully or unskilfully 
performed, that the Plaintiff had been 
damaged, and he was therefore held liable 95
for the consequences. The damage in the 
former case may be treated as having 
arisen from the act of God; in the latter, 
from the act of the Defendant. 
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Applying the principle of these 
decisions to the case now before the 
House, I come without hesitation to the 
conclusion that the judgment of the 
Exchequer Chamber was right. The 5
Plaintiff had a right to work his coal 
through the lands of Mr. Whitehead , and 
up to the old workings. If water naturally 
rising in the Defendants' lana (we may 
treat the land as the land of the 10
Defendants for the purpose of this case) 
had by percolation found its way down to 
the Plaintiff's mine through the old 
workings, and so had impeded his 
operations, that would not have afforded 15
him any ground of complaint. Even if all 
the old workings had been made by the 
Plaintiff, he would have done no more 
than he was entitled to do; for, according 
to the principle acted on in Smith v. 20
Kenrick , the person working the mine, 
under the close in which the reservoir was 
made, had a right to win and carry away 
all the coal without leaving any wall or 
barrier against Whitehead's land. But that 25
is not the real state of the case. The 
Defendants, in order to effect an object of 
their own, brought on to their land, or on 
to land which for this purpose may be 
treated as being theirs, a large 30
accumulated mass of water, and stored it 
up in a reservoir. The consequence of this 
was damage to the Plaintiff, and for that 
damage, however skilfully and carefully 
the accumulation was made, the 35
Defendants, according to the principles 
and authorities to which I have adverted, 
were certainly responsible. 

I concur, therefore, with my noble and 
learned friend in thinking that the 40
judgment below must be affirmed, and 
that there must be judgment for the 
Defendant in Error. 

Representation 45
Attorneys for Plaintiffs in Error: N. C. & 
C. Milne . 
Attorneys for Defendant in Error: Norris 
& Allen . 

Judgment of the Court of Exchequer 50
Chamber affirmed. Lord's Journals, 17th 
July, 1868. 

1. 3 H. & C. 774 . 
2. 4 Ibid. 263 ; Law Rep. 1 Ex. 265 . 55
3. 12 M. & W. 324 . 
4. 7 H. L. C. 349 . 
5. 32 Barbour's Reports (New York). 

The head-note of the case is as follows:—
“Individuals owning the bed of a stream, 60
and each bank thereof, have the right to 
build a dam and embankment, and raise 
the water of the stream as high as they 
please, subject only to the restriction 
resting upon all, so to enjoy their own 65
property as not to injure that of another 
person, with the qualifications and 
limitations incident to that right of 
property. “And if they, in the exercise of 
that right, build with due care an 70
embankment to prevent the water, when 
raised by their dam above the natural 
banks of the stream, from overflowing the 
lands of adjacent owners, and in 
consequence of raising their dam the 75
water finds its way through their own 
natural soil and below the surface thereof, 
by filtration, percolation, or otherwise, to 
the land of an adjacent proprietor, the 
owners of such dam and embankment are 80
not, in the absence of any unskilfulness, 
negligence, or malice, liable to such 
adjacent proprietor for any damage he 
may sustain thereby; the injury being 
damnum absque injuriâ.”A party is liable 85
for any defect in his artificial erections 
which might have been remedied by 
reasonable care and skill, but not for any 
defect in the natural banks of a stream. 
“Where persons have the right to use the 90
waters of a stream for manufacturing 
purposes, the right to dam the water and 
detain it a reasonable time follows as a 
necessary incident to the right of user; and 
they cannot be compelled to make an 95
artificial reservoir for that purpose. “The 
banks of the stream are theirs for that 
purpose; and so long as the water is only 
nominally detained for this lawful, 
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customary, and proper purpose, the 
adjacent landowners must submit to the 
indirect and consequential damages 
resulting to their lands from such use.” 

6. 7 C. B. 515 . 5
7. Bract. bk. 4, c. 37, fol. 221. 
8. 6 Bing. N. C. 1 . 
9. 1 Salk. 360; 2 Ld. Raym. 1089 . 
10. 7 H. & N. 423; 1 H. & C. 544 . 
11. 3 M. & W. 220 . 10
12. 31 L. J. (Ex.) 214; 7 H. & N. 1 . 
13. 2 Man. & G. 575 . 
14. 13 C. B. 182 . 
15. 7 Q. B. 960 . 
16. 6 Taunt. 29 . 15
17. 15 C. B. (N. S.) 376 . 
18. 7 C. B. 515 . 

19. 6 Taunt. 29 . 
20. El. Bl. & El. 622; 9 H. L. C. 503 . 
21. 4 B. & S. 229 . 20
22. 2 Ld. Raym. 1089 ; Salk. 360. 
23. 4 B. & S. 149 . 
24. 7 H. L. C. 600 . 
25. 3 B. & S. 62 . 
26. 4 B. & S. 609; 11 H. L. C. 642 . 25
27. Sir T. Raym. 421. 
28. Pr. & Ag. 262. 
29. 10 C. B. (N. S.) 470 . 
30. 7 C. B. 515 . 
31. 15 C. B.(N. S.) 317 . 30
32. Sir T. Raym. 421. 
33. 7 C. B. 564 . 
34. 15 C. B. (N. S.) 376 . 
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This note has been used in the Law Faculty at 
Victoria University for some years.  It is thought 
that the original author was the late J.C. Thomas.  
There have been a number of revisions and additions 
since Mr Thomas’s time, in particular by Professor 
D.W. McLauchlan 

Introduction 
Little is known of the laws operating in England 
prior to the Norman Conquest in 1066. It is, 
however, clear that there were local assemblies of 
free men called County or Hundred Courts that 
applied local custom. There were no general laws 
common to the whole of England and no overriding 
judicial authority for the whole of the country. 

After the Norman Conquest, the County or 
Hundred Courts were gradually replaced by feudal 
courts set up by the feudal barons and overlords to 
decide disputes affecting their subjects. These feudal 
courts still applied predominantly local customary 
law. 

Conflict between Local Courts and the King’s 
Courts
At this time the King also exercised what was called 
“high justice”. With the assistance of his officials 
and nobles, he would consider exceptional cases 
affecting the King’s interest. The gathering of the 
King, his officials and nobles for the purposes of 
considering such disputes was called the Curia Regis 
(the Court of the King). Later, the King delegated 
this power to his officials. The Curia Regis was not 
an ordinary court open to all and sundry. It had to be 
careful not to appear to take cases away from the 
courts of the feudal barons. The King’s Courts, 
therefore, were limited to dealing with cases 
concerning the King and not the private citizen. 
Thus, three courts were set up to deal with: 
(a) the royal finances - the Court of Exchequer; 
(b) the ownership and possession of land - the 

Court of Common Pleas; 
(c) serious criminal matters affecting the peace of 

the kingdom - the Court of King’s Bench. 
There was, however, considerable pressure on the 
King’s Courts to extend their jurisdiction to other 
matters and to assist private citizens. First, private 
citizens saw many advantages in having their cases 
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dealt with by the King’s Courts, which had 
developed more efficient and rational procedures 
than the local courts. For example, the King’s 
Courts used juries to resolve disputed issues of fact 
and they heard evidence given on oath. In the local 
courts there was still trial by battle or by ordeal. The 
King’s Courts also had more effective means of 
enabling successful litigants to enforce judgments 
given in their favour. Secondly, the judges whom 
the King appointed to run his courts were anxious to 
increase the number of cases which they heard as 
that would also increase the fees that they received. 
Naturally, the feudal barons were opposed to the 
loss of revenue from their own courts that would 
result from the expansion of the King’s Courts. The 
following is an example of the ways in which a 
litigant would try to get his case before the Royal 
Courts. A is owed money by B. He wants the King’s 
Court to decide his claim against B. He goes to the 
Court of Exchequer and says “I know you only deal 
with cases affecting the King’s revenue but, in fact, 
my case does affect the King’s revenue because 
unless B pays me the money which he owes me I 
can’t pay the King the money that I owe him”. The 
royal judges were only too happy to act on this 
transparent fiction in order to collect the fees 
involved.

By the end of the 13th century, a compromise 
was reached. The Statute of Westminster II allowed 
the Royal Courts to retain the enlarged jurisdiction 
that they had already assumed but prohibited any 
further expansion by them. 

The remedies provided by the Royal Courts had 
been embodied in documents called writs. These 
writs took different forms according to the type of 
case in which they were issued. The Statute of 
Westminster required the Royal Courts not to issue 
any new form of writ. 

By prohibiting the creation of new forms of writs 
the Barons hoped they would prevent the Royal 
Courts from expanding their jurisdiction, that is, 
they would not be able to deal with cases of types 
that differed from those with which they had 
previously dealt. 

Notwithstanding the Statute of Westminster, 
litigants still preferred to have their cases decided by 
the Royal Courts and the royal judges were still not 
averse to the additional income that they received 
from hearing more cases. What happened was that 
litigants attempted to fit the facts of their particular 
cases into the old forms so as to give the appearance 

141



A Note on the History of Common Law and Equity 

hist com law & eq D#51 date printed August 21, 2014 

5

that the Royal Courts would not be expanding their 
jurisdiction if they were to hear that particular case. 
Accordingly, the first question that the Royal Courts 
had to decide when any case came before them was 
whether or not the form and procedure that the 
plaintiff had chosen was appropriate to the facts of 
the case. It was only if the case was essentially the 
same as cases with which the courts had previously 
dealt and could be brought within the existing forms 
that the courts had jurisdiction to decide the case. 

In such a situation the judge’s attention was 
directed not so much to substantive law (not so 
much as to the question of who was right and who 
was wrong) as to procedure. Concern with 
procedural questions continued to dominate English 
legal thinking down to the 19th century, when 
legislation was passed abolishing or simplifying the 
old forms of procedure. 

The consequences of this preoccupation with 
procedure were: 
(a) to prevent the adoption on a large scale of the 

concepts of Roman Law, as was done by 
Continental courts. It was impossible to apply 
these concepts within the rigid framework of 
English procedure; 

(b) lawyers and judges tended to devote their 
attention to mastering complex procedural 
questions, which prevented their trying to 
develop comprehensive legal theories that 
would give a logical basis for deciding all 
disputes in a given field. The substantive law 
was enunciated by the judges almost as a brief 
afterthought tacked onto the decision on the 
procedural questions and they went no further 
than was necessary to dispose of the facts of 
the particular case before them; 

(c) lawyers received their training not by the 
contemplation of theories of law but by 
practising the complex procedural devices that 
dominated all cases heard in the King’s 
Courts.

However, notwithstanding the procedural 
difficulties, the litigant still preferred the King’s 
Courts to the local courts and there was a gradual 
decline in the latter until they eventually suffered a 
total eclipse. 

Development of Equity 
The eclipse of the local courts had one very serious 
consequence. A litigant who could not fit his case 
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into the rigid forms and procedures of the King’s 
Courts was, in effect, left without any redress. By 
the 14th century, however, litigants had developed a 
new practice to remedy the inability of the common 
law to adapt its procedures to meet new and 
different problems. The new practice was one which 
sprang naturally to the minds of people of that 
period. If the King’s Courts would not provide a 
remedy why should not the litigant appeal directly to 
the person who was the fountain of all justice and 
grace, namely the King himself? If the King’s 
Courts were not working properly why should not 
the King remedy the malfunctioning of his own 
courts? 

It was natural that in considering petitions for 
him to exercise his charity and grace the King 
should seek guidance of the Lord Chancellor who 
was “the Keeper of the King’s Conscience”. By the 
15th century, the whole function of dealing with 
these petitions was delegated by the King to the 
Chancellor and the Chancellor’s officials. 

At first the intervention by the King or his 
Chancellor was made as a special favour in special 
cases but gradually it became a regular practice for 
the Chancellor to give a remedy in almost any case 
where the common law procedures were inadequate 
or unsatisfactory. He justified his decision as made 
on the basis of the “equity of the case” and being 
unfettered by any rigid procedures there was an 
opportunity for the Chancellor and his officials to 
adopt a whole new system of law (such as Roman 
Law) to replace the common law, which had failed 
to develop to meet the needs of the changing 
society. The equity courts achieved such popularity 
at the expense of the common law courts that there 
was a real likelihood that the latter would, like the 
earlier local county courts, first decline into disuse 
and then be entirely superseded by the new courts. 

This opportunity was however lost when, in the 
16th and 17th centuries, an alliance between the 
common law courts, led by Chief Justice Coke, and 
Parliament forced the King and the Chancellor to 
make a compromise. This compromise, again, took 
the form of maintaining the status quo. The 
Chancellor could retain the jurisdiction which he 
had acquired by that time but he was not to make 
any new encroachment on the jurisdiction of the 
common law courts. Thus, there was established a 
dual system of courts, the common law courts 
applying the common law and the equity courts 
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applying the rules of equity which complemented 
and supplemented the common law. 

The equity courts at first had no definite rules. 
They regarded themselves as merely applying moral 
sense or natural justice to the facts of a particular 
case. Judges, like other people, may differ in 
deciding whether or not good conscience requires a 
remedy to be given in any given case. Thus, some 
Chancellors would give a remedy in certain cases 
where others would not. This inconsistency led to 
the taunt that “Equity varies with the length of the 
Chancellor’s foot”. That is to say, whether or not 
something was equitable depended upon who was 
Chancellor at the time. Criticism of the arbitrariness 
of their decisions which was made during the 
conflict between Coke CJ and the Chancellor led the 
equity courts in the 16th and 17th centuries to seek 
greater consistency by following the decisions 
which they had previously made in similar cases. 
This meant that when a Chancellor had to decide a 
case he could not longer give a decision based solely 
on his own impression of what was fair. He had to 
look back to see if any other Chancellor had had to 
decide a similar case and then to follow any decision 
which had previously been given. 

Thus, equity developed from being a general 
concept of natural justice or moral sense into a series 
of judge-made rules based on decided cases. Since 
that time, the courts have been less willing to 
question or examine established rules of common 
law under the guise of doing equity. The courts will 
not measure the established rules against a concept 
of natural justice and reject those that do not 
conform with that concept, and the possibility of the 
courts as distinct from Parliament making a 
wholesale revision of our system of law or of any 
particular field of law was lost back in the 17th 
Century. Equity like the common law will deal with 
new problems and situations by an extension or 
development of existing principles rather than by 
wholesale revision and replacement of established 
rules.

Fusion of Common Law and Equity 
In the 19th century Parliament passed legislation, 
the Judicature Acts, which fused or combined the 
two systems so that all British courts were able to 
apply the rules of equity and the rules of common 
law. The old procedural duality was avoided and the 
rules and remedies of both common law and equity 
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could be applied by the same court in the same 
action.

There has been a similar fusion of common law 
and equity in New Zealand and our courts apply 
both equitable and common law rules. 

Another important development in the 19th 
century was the introduction of legislation which 
transformed the rules of procedure which had 
previously dominated the common law courts. 
Litigants no longer had to attempt to force their 
cases into the forms and procedures which had been 
laid down in an earlier society, in different 
circumstances, to meet problems of a different kind. 
The courts, freed from the preoccupation with 
procedural matters, could concentrate on substantive 
law (ie on who was right and who was wrong). The 
development of a more coherent body of law was 
also facilitated by the growth of law reports, 
volumes which set out the decisions of the judges in 
particular cases and their reasons for reaching those 
decisions. Judges were thus able to consider the 
view of other judges in similar cases before giving 
their own decisions. 

Further, by the late 19th and 20th centuries 
Parliament was far more ready to pass legislation 
which altered any rules of common law or equity 
which had proved to be unsatisfactory and also to 
pass legislation dealing with topics never really 
considered by the old courts. 

Meaning of “Fusion”

Snell’s Principles of Equity (28th ed) 17 states: 
It is sometimes said that the Judicature 
Acts fused law and equity. ‘But it was 
not any fusion or anything of the kind; 
it was the vesting in one tribunal of 
the administration of Law and Equity 
in every cause, action or dispute 
which should come before that 
tribunal’. [Salt v Cooper (1880) 16 
Ch.D 544, 549]. It is a fusion of 
administration  rather than of 
principles. As has been well said 
[Ashburner’s Principles of Equity
(2nd ed 1933) 18], the two streams 
have met and now run in the same 
channel; but their waters do not mix. 

The notion that law and equity retain their 
separate identity and that the effect of the Judicature 
Acts was only to enable all courts to administer legal 
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and equitable principles was strongly attacked by 
Lord Diplock in the House of Lords in United 
Scientific Holdings Ltd v Burnley Borough Council 
[1978] AC 904. His Lordship said (924-925): 

... to perpetuate a dichotomy between 
rules of equity and rules of common 
law which it was a major purpose of 
the Supreme Court of Judicature Act 
1873 to do away with, is, in my view, 
conducive to erroneous conclusions as 
to the ways in which the law of 
England has developed in the last 
hundred years. 
Your Lordships have been referred to 
the vivid phrase traceable to the first 
edition of Ashburner, Principles of 
Equity where, in speaking in 1902 of 
the effect of the Supreme Court of 
Judicature Act he says (p 23) “the two 
streams of jurisdiction” (sc. law and 
equity) - “though they run in the same 
channel, run side by side and do not 
mingle their waters”. My Lords, by 
1977 this metaphor has in my view 
become both mischievous and 
deceptive. The innate conservatism of 
English lawyers may have made them 
slow to recognise that by the Supreme 
Court of Judicature Act 1873 the two 
systems of substantive and adjectival 
law formerly administered by courts 
of law and Courts of Chancery (as 
well as those administered by courts 
of admiralty, probate and matrimonial 
causes), were fused. As at the 
confluence of the Rhône and Saône, it 
may be possible for a short distance to 
discern the source from which each 
part of the combined stream came, but 
there comes a point at which this 
ceases to be possible. If Professor 
Ashburner’s fluvial metaphor is to be 
retained at all, the waters of the 
confluent streams of law and equity 
have surely mingled now. 

These observations give rise to a number of 
difficulties (see Baker, “The Future of Equity” 
(1977) 93 LQR 529) and so far have been largely 
ignored in subsequent cases. They have, however, 
received the endorsement of the New Zealand Court 
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of Appeal, particularly Cooke P, in a number of 
cases raising issues concerning remedies for breach 
of civil obligations. In Day v Mead [1987] 2 NZLR 
443, 451 Cooke P said:  “As Lord Diplock put it, law 
and equity have mingled now.”  See also Elders 
Pastoral v BNZ [1989] 2 NZLR 180, 186 and 
Acquaculture Corporation v NZ Green Mussel Co 
[1990] 3 NZLR 299, 301. 

The precise meaning and implications of the 
substantive fusion of law and equity envisaged by 
the Court of Appeal are not made clear. It is 
undeniable that there are large areas of the law 
where common law and equity retain their separate 
spheres of operation and where there are important 
differences between legal rights and remedies and 
equitable rights and remedies. As pointed out by 
Hanbury and Maudsley, Modern Equity (13th ed 
1989) 26 the most that can be said is that 

a century of fused jurisdiction has 
seen the two systems working more 
closely together; each changing and 
developing and improving from 
contact with the other; and each 
willing to accept new ideas and 
developments, regardless of their 
origin. They are coming closer 
together. But they are not yet fused. 

The Court of Appeal’s recent pronouncements are 
largely unreasoned assertions. Some of the issues 
remaining are quite complex. The judges talk about 
fusion of law and equity but the actual conclusions 
reached suggest that the fusion is an incomplete one 
- to some undefined extent law and equity do retain 
their separate identity. 
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J. Berryman et al, “Origins of Equity” Remedies, 
Cases, and Materials (1988) 517-519 

As S F C Milsom points out (Historical Foundations 
of the Common Law (London:  Butterworths, 1981)), 
the origins of “equity” are shrouded in mystery; and 
certainly the notion that equity was originally a 
substantive body of law, different from and more 
“just” than the common law, is something of a 
romantic fiction. Equity, like common law, had its 
origin in petitions addressed to the king, requesting 
the exercise of his prerogative powers to resolve 
some conflict or correct some abuse, inadequacy or 
injustice. By the fourteenth century, the 
administration of justice had largely been 
established through the formal institutions of 
common law. The three superior courts, King’s 
Bench, Common Pleas and Exchequer, administered 
the law of the land. But the jurisdiction of these 
courts was neither exhaustive nor exclusive. The law 
remained grounded in the king’s justice and the 
sovereign did not relinquish his ultimate authority to 
consider individual petitions and dispense justice 
(though the scope of this residual jurisdiction was to 
become a source of considerable political 
controversy). Thus, in addition to the three courts, 
citizens had the legal right to petition the king 
directly where it was alleged that justice could not 
be obtained in the common law courts. 

The Chancery was not originally a “court”. 
Rather it was a department of government that did 
the “paperwork” of the state. The Chancellor, 
historically a cleric, was the custodian of the royal 
seal used for the authentication of all government 
documents (including the common law writs), and 
was responsible for many of the internal affairs of 
the country. As petitions to the king became more 
numerous they were frequently referred to the 
Chancellor who, exercising delegated powers, 
gradually assumed a prominent role in the 
administration of royal justice. As the Chancellor’s 
judicial role became better established, individuals 
alleging some defect or abuse in the common law 
courts would petition him directly for assistance. 
Such petitions might allege the dishonesty of local 
judicial officers or juries, the poverty of the 
petitioner or, more frequently with the increasing 
inflexibility of the common law writ system, some 
unfairness in the substantive or procedural law. 
Where satisfied of the justice of the petitioner’s 
case, the Chancellor might issue a new common law 
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writ to direct the courts to provide some redress or , 
with increasing frequency, would issue an 
appropriate order directly to the offender to abide by 
the dictates of conscience. 

The Chancellor’s “conscience” often inclined in a 
direction opposite to the result reached by the 
common law. In fact, one of the earliest uses of the 
injunction was to restrain unfair proceedings in the 
common law courts. Of equal importance was the 
enforcement by the Chancellor of uses or trusts, 
which the common law refused to recognise. 
However, the Chancellor was not thought to be 
administering a separate system of rules, or 
overriding the common law, but instead was simply 
“perfecting” the administration of the king’s justice. 
And while the orders of the Chancellor might, at 
times, run counter to the results reached in the 
common law courts these orders, directed only to the 
affected parties and not a matter of record, did not 
alter the general rules of common law. The 
explanation eventually adopted to explain the 
relationship between the common law and equity 
rested on the Aristotetian notion that equitable 
justice is a necessary correction of the defects of 
legal justice resulting from the universality of the 
latter. General rules will, on occasion, work injustice 
and it would be against conscience to allow this to 
occur. As Lord Ellesmere said in Earl of Oxford’s 
Case (1615), 1 Rep. Ch. 1 at p 6: 21 E R 485 at p 
486: 

That men’s actions are so diverse and infinite that 
it is impossible to make any general law which may 
aptly meet with every particular and not fail in some 
circumstances. The office of the Chancellor is to 
correct men’s consciences for frauds, breaches of 
trust, wrongs and oppressions of what nature so ever 
they be, and to soften and mollify the extremity of 
the law. 

Nevertheless, the relationship between law and 
equity did not remain a harmonious one. As J H 
Baker points out, “[t]he anomaly that a politician 
should hold the highest judicial office in the land 
was compounded by the undefined nature of the 
Chancellor’s jurisdiction” (An Introduction to 
English Legal History  (London:  Butterworths, 2nd 
ed., 1979) at p 86). Perhaps not surprisingly, 
common law lawyers began to object to the 
apparently arbitrary nature of the Chancellor’s 
jurisdiction and the relationship between the 
common law courts and the chancellor became 
increasingly uneasy. The mounting antagonism 
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(which may also have had something to do with the 
fact that judicial revenues depended upon the 
volume of litigation) eventually assumed the 
proportions of a constitutional crisis in 1616 in the 
form of a clash between the Chancellor, Lord 
Ellesmere, and the Chief Justice of the King’s 
Bench, Sir Edward Coke. While Coke lost the battle, 
the stage was set for the formalization of the 
relationship between law and equity. Equity was 
said to be superior to common law, in that where the 
two conflicted equity would prevail, but subsequent 
Chancellors took greater care to define their 
jurisdiction and to introduce greater certainty and 
predictability into equity. The increasing 
appointment of common lawyers (particularly Lord 
Nottingham, 1673-1682) to the position of 
Chancellor further accelerated the trend to delineate 
the jurisdiction of Chancery by rules and principles 
and to rely on binding precedent. The familiarity 
with, and deference to, the common law by the 
Chancellors further cemented the principle that 
while equity is superior to common law, it is but 
corrective and supplementary. The reporting of the 
Chancellor’s decisions also played a role in the 
transformation of equity from an expression of 
subjective conscience to a body of rules. By the time 
of the publication of Blackstone’s Commentaries
(1765 to 1769) equity, no less than common law, 
was considered to be a part of the positive 
substantive law of the land and capable of 
systematic exposition. 

The reconciliation of law and equity was 
achieved at a price. As you will see, the 
“regularization” of equitable principles has arguably 
resulted in the same type of inflexibility in this area 
of law that equity was originally designed to 
remedy. At the very least, there remains a tension in 
equity between “conscience” and “rule” and the 
nature of equitable discretion is an important 
jurisprudential question (see, for example, R 
Dworkin, Taking Rights Seriously (Cambridge:  
Harvard University Press, 1978) at pp 14-15). 

Perhaps of greater historical importance, the 
growing number of Chancery petitions, the 
increasing formalization of equity, and the 
institutional and procedural limitations of Chancery 
procedure led eventually to the dismal situation 
described by Dickens in Bleak House (though this 
book was not published until some time after the 
darkest hours of Chancery). Under the tutelage of 
the unfortunate Lord Eldon (1801-1827), the 
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Chancery had become unworkable. A series of 
reforms beginning in the early nineteenth century 
allowed for the appointment of more judges to assist 
the belaboured Chancellor (until 1813 there had 
been only two judges in Chancery). Sweeping 
changes to Chancery procedure in the middle of the 
century widened the powers of the Chancery and 
streamlined its procedures. As we shall see, one of 
the most important of these reforms was Lord
Cairns’ Act (Chancery Amendment Act, 1858, 21 & 
22 Vict., c.27) which gave the Chancery jurisdiction 
to award damages. Similarly, common law courts 
were given the power to take notice of certain 
equitable principles and to award equitable 
remedies. The increasing similarity of procedure in 
common law and equity and the overlapping powers 
of the two systems of courts paved the way finally 
for the reforms of the Judicature Acts in 1873 and 
1875 whereby both systems of courts were abolished 
and the Supreme Court of Judicature was established 
having authority to administer both bodies of law. 
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Thomas v Winchester 6 N.Y. 397 (1852)

Court of Appeals of New York  
July, 1852 
Ruggles Ch. J, Gardiner J, Gridley J.  

[arguments of counsel omitted] 

RUGGLES, Ch. J. delivered the 
opinion of the court. 

This is an action brought to recover 
damages from the defendant for 5 
negligently putting up, labeling and 
selling as and for the extract of 
dandelion, which is a simple and 
harmless medicine, a jar of the extract of 
belladonna, which is a deadly poison; by 10 
means of which the plaintiff Mary Ann 
Thomas, to whom, being sick, a dose of 
dandelion was prescribed by a physician, 
and a portion of the contents of the jar, 
was administered as and for the extract 15 
of dandelion, was greatly injured, &c. 

The facts proved were briefly these: Mrs. 
Thomas being in ill health, her physician 
prescribed for her a dose of dandelion. 20 
Her husband purchased what was 
believed to be the medicine prescribed, 
at the store of Dr. Foord, a physician and 
druggist in Cazenovia, Madison county, 
where the plaintiffs reside. 25 

A small quantity of the medicine thus 
purchased was administered to Mrs. 
Thomas, on whom it produced very 
alarming effects; such as coldness of the 30 
surface and extremities, feebleness of 
circulation, spasms of the muscles, 
giddiness of the head, dilation of the 
pupils of the eyes, and derangement of 
mind. She recovered however, after 35 
some time, from its effects, although for 
a short time her life was thought to be in 
great danger. The medicine administered 
was belladonna, and not dandelion. The 
jar from which it was taken was labeled  40 

“1/2 lb. dandelion, prepared by A. 
Gilbert, No. 108, John-street, N. Y. Jar 8 45 
oz.” It was sold for and believed by Dr. 
Foord to be the extract of dandelion as 
labeled. Dr. Foord purchased the article 
as the extract of dandelion from Jas. S. 
Aspinwall, a druggist at New-York. 50 
Aspinwall bought it of the defendant as 
extract of dandelion, believing it to be 
such. The defendant was engaged at No. 
108 John-street, New-York, in the 
manufacture and sale of certain 55 
vegetable extracts for medicinal 
purposes, and in the *406 purchase and 
sale of others. The extracts manufactured 
by him were put up in jars for sale, and 
those which he purchased were put up by 60 
him in like manner. The jars containing 
extracts manufactured by himself and 
those containing extracts purchased by 
him from others, were labeled alike. 
Both were labeled like the jar in 65 
question, as “prepared by A. Gilbert.” 
Gilbert was a person employed by the 
defendant at a salary, as an assistant in 
his business. The jars were labeled in 
Gilbert's name because he had been 70 
previously engaged in the same business 
on his own account at No. 108 John-
street, and probably because Gilbert's 
labels rendered the articles more salable. 
The extract contained in the jar sold to 75 
Aspinwall, and by him to Foord, was not 
manufactured by the defendant, but was 
purchased by him from another 
manufacturer or dealer. The extract of 
dandelion and the extract of belladonna 80 
resemble each other in color, 
consistence, smell and taste; but may on 
careful examination be distinguished the 
one from the other by those who are well 
acquainted with these articles. Gilbert's 85 
labels were paid for by Winchester and 
used in his business with his knowledge 
and assent. 

The defendants' counsel moved for a 90 
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nonsuit on the following grounds: 

1. That the action could not be sustained, 
as the defendant was the remote vendor 
of the article in question: and there was 5 
no connection, transaction or privity 
between him and the plaintiffs, or either 
of them. 

2. That this action sought to charge the 10 
defendant with the consequences of the 
negligence of Aspinwall and Foord. 

3. That the plaintiffs were liable to, and 
chargeable with the negligence of 15 
Aspinwall and Ford, and therefore could 
not maintain this action. 

4. That according to the testimony Foord 
was chargeable with negligence, and that 20 
the plaintiffs therefore could not sustain 
this suit against the defendant: if they 
could sustain a suit at all it would be 
against Foord only. 

25 
5. That this suit being brought for the 
benefit of the wife *407 and alleging her 
as the meritorious cause of action, 
cannot be sustained. 

30 
6. That there was not sufficient evidence 
of negligence in the defendant to go to 
the jury. 

The judge overruled the motion for a 35 
nonsuit, and the defendant's counsel 
excepted. 

The judge among other things charged 
the jury, that if they should find from the 40 
evidence that either Aspinwall or Foord 
was guilty of negligence in vending as 
and for dandelion, the extract taken by 
Mrs. Thomas, or that the plaintiff 
Thomas, or those who administered it to 45 
Mrs. Thomas, were chargeable with 
negligence in administering it, the 
plaintiffs were not entitled to recover; 
but if they were free from negligence, 
and if the defendant Winchester was 50 

guilty of negligence in putting up and 
vending the extracts in question, the 
plaintiffs were entitled to recover, 
provided the extract administered to Mrs. 
Thomas was the same which was put up 55 
by the defendant and sold by him to 
Aspinwall and by Aspinwall to Foord. 
That if they should find the defendant 
liable, the plaintiffs in this action were 
entitled to recover damages only for the 60 
personal injury and suffering of the wife, 
and not for loss of service, medical 
treatment or expense to the husband, and 
that the recovery should be confined to 
the actual damages suffered by the wife. 65 

The action was properly brought in the 
name of the husband and wife for the 
personal injury and suffering of the wife; 
and the case was left to the jury with the 70 
proper directions on that point. (1 Chitty 
on Pleadings, 62, ed. of 1828.) 

The case depends on the first point taken 
by the defendant on his motion for a 75 
nonsuit; and the question is, whether the 
defendant, being a remote vendor of the 
medicine, and there being no privity or 
connection between him and the 
plaintiffs, the action can be maintained. 80 

If, in labeling a poisonous drug with the 
name of a harmless medicine, for public 
market, no duty was violated by the 
defendant, excepting that which he owed 85 
to Aspinwall, his immediate vendee, in 
virtue of his contract of sale, this action 
cannot *408 be maintained. If A. build a 
wagon and sell it to B., who sells it to C., 
and C. hires it to D., who in consequence 90 
of the gross negligence of A. in building 
the wagon is overturned and injured, D. 
cannot recover damages against A., the 
builder. A.'s obligation to build the 
wagon faithfully, arises solely out of his 95 
contract with B. The public have nothing 
to do with it. Misfortune to third persons, 
not parties to the contract, would not be 
a natural and necessary consequence of 
the builder's negligence; and such 100 
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negligence is not an act imminently 
dangerous to human life. 

So, for the same reason, if a horse be 
defectively shod by a smith, and a person 5 
hiring the horse from the owner is 
thrown and injured in consequence of the 
smith's negligence in shoeing; the smith 
is not liable for the injury. The smith's 
duty in such case grows exclusively out 10 
of his contract with the owner of the 
horse; it was a duty which the smith 
owed to him alone, and to no one else. 
And although the injury to the rider may 
have happened in consequence of the 15 
negligence of the smith, the latter was 
not bound, either by his contract or by 
any considerations of public policy or 
safety, to respond for his breach of duty 
to any one except the person he 20 
contracted with. 

This was the ground on which the case 
of Winterbottom v. Wright, (10 Mees. & 
Welsb. 109,) was decided. A. contracted 25 
with the postmaster general to provide a 
coach to convey the mail bags along a 
certain line of road, and B. and others, 
also contracted to horse the coach along 
the same line. B. and his co-contractors 30 
hired C., who was the plaintiff, to drive 
the coach. The coach, in consequence of 
some latent defect, broke down; the 
plaintiff was thrown from his seat and 
lamed. It was held that C. could not 35 
maintain an action against A. for the 
injury thus sustained. The reason of the 
decision is best stated by Baron Rolfe. 
A.'s duty to keep the coach in good 
condition, was a duty to the postmaster 40 
general, with whom he made his 
contract, and not a duty to the driver 
employed by the owners of the horses. 

But the case in hand stands on a different 45 
ground. The defendant*409 was a dealer 
in poisonous drugs. Gilbert was his agent 
in preparing them for market. The death 
or great bodily harm of some person was 
the natural and almost inevitable 50 

consequence of the sale of belladonna by 
means of the false label. 

Gilbert, the defendant's agent, would 
have been punishable for manslaughter if 55 
Mrs. Thomas had died in consequence of 
taking the falsely labeled medicine. 
Every man who, by his culpable 
negligence, causes the death of another, 
although without intent to kill, is guilty 60 
of manslaughter. (2 R. S. 662, § 19.) A 
chemist who negligently sells laudanum 
in a phial labeled as paregoric, and 
thereby causes the death of a person to 
whom it is administered, is guilty of 65 
manslaughter. (Tessymond's case, 1 
Lewin's Crown Cases, 169.) “So highly 
does the law value human life, that it 
admits of no justification wherever life 
has been lost and the carelessness or 70 
negligence of one person has contributed 
to the death of another. (Regina v. 
Swindall, 2 Car. & Kir. 232-3.) And this 
rule applies not only where the death of 
one is occasioned by the negligent act of 75 
another, but where it is caused by the 
negligent omission of a duty of that 
other. (2 Car. & Kir. 368, 371.) Although 
the defendant Winchester may not be 
answerable criminally for the negligence 80 
of his agent, there can be no doubt of his 
liability in a civil action, in which the act 
of the agent is to be regarded as the act 
of the principal. 

85 
In respect to the wrongful and criminal 
character of the negligence complained 
of, this case differs widely from those 
put by the defendant's counsel. No such 
imminent danger existed in those cases. 90 
In the present case the sale of the 
poisonous article was made to a dealer in 
drugs, and not to a consumer. The injury 
therefore was not likely to fall on him, or 
on his vendee who was also a dealer; but 95 
much more likely to be visited on a 
remote purchaser, as actually happened. 
The defendant's negligence put human 
life in imminent danger. Can it be said 
that there was no duty on the part of the 100 

154



Thomas v Winchester 6 N.Y. 397 (1852) 
 

4 
 

defendant, to avoid the creation of that 
danger by the exercise of greater 
caution? or that the exercise of that 
caution was a duty only to his 
immediate*410 vendee, whose life was 5 
not endangered? The defendant's duty 
arose out of the nature of his business 
and the danger to others incident to its 
mismanagement. Nothing but mischief 
like that which actually happened could 10 
have been expected from sending the 
poison falsely labeled into the market; 
and the defendant is justly responsible 
for the probable consequences of the act. 
The duty of exercising caution in this 15 
respect did not arise out of the 
defendant's contract of sale to Aspinwall. 
The wrong done by the defendant was in 
putting the poison, mislabeled, into the 
hands of Aspinwall as an article of 20 
merchandise to be sold and afterwards 
used as the extract of dandelion, by some 
person then unknown. The owner of a 
horse and cart who leaves them 
unattended in the street is liable for any 25 
damage which may result from his 
negligence. (Lynch v. Nurdin, 1 Ad. & 
Ellis, N. S. 29; Illidge v. Goodwin, 5 
Car. & Payne, 190.) The owner of a 
loaded gun who puts it into the hands of 30 
a child by whose indiscretion it is 
discharged, is liable for the damage 
occasioned by the discharge. (5 Maule & 
Sel. 198.) The defendant's contract of 
sale to Aspinwall does not excuse the 35 
wrong done to the plaintiffs. It was a part 
of the means by which the wrong was 
effected. The plaintiffs' injury and their 
remedy would have stood on the same 
principle, if the defendant had given the 40 
belladonna to Dr. Foord without price, or 
if he had put it in his shop without his 
knowledge, under circumstances which 
would probably have led to its sale on 
the faith of the label. 45 

In Longmeid v. Holliday, (6 Law and 
Eq. Rep. 562,) the distinction is 
recognized between an act of negligence 
imminently dangerous to the lives of 50 

others, and one that is not so. In the 
former case, the party guilty of the 
negligence is liable to the party injured, 
whether there be a contract between 
them or not; in the latter, the negligent 55 
party is liable only to the party with 
whom he contracted, and on the ground 
that negligence is a breach of the 
contract. 

60 
The defendant, on the trial, insisted that 
Aspinwall and Foord were guilty of 
negligence in selling the article in 
question*411 for what it was represented 
to be in the label; and that the suit, if it 65 
could be sustained at all, should have 
been brought against Foord. The judge 
charged the jury that if they, or either of 
them, were guilty of negligence in 
selling the belladonna for dandelion, the 70 
verdict must be for the defendant; and 
left the question of their negligence to 
the jury, who found on that point for the 
plaintiff. If the case really depended on 
the point thus raised, the question was 75 
properly left to the jury. But I think it did 
not. The defendant, by affixing the label 
to the jar, represented its contents to be 
dandelion; and to have been “prepared” 
by his agent Gilbert. The word 80 
‘prepared’ on the label, must be 
understood to mean that the article was 
manufactured by him, or that it had 
passed through some process under his 
hands, which would give him personal 85 
knowledge of its true name and quality. 
Whether Foord was justified in selling 
the article upon the faith of the 
defendant's label, would have been an 
open question in an action by the 90 
plaintiffs against him, and I wish to be 
understood as giving no opinion on that 
point. But it seems to me to be clear that 
the defendant cannot, in this case, set up 
as a defense, that Foord sold the contents 95 
of the jar as and for what the defendant 
represented it to be. The label conveyed 
the idea distinctly to Foord that the 
contents of the jar was the extract of 
dandelion; and that the defendant knew it 100 
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to be such. So far as the defendant is 
concerned, Foord was under no 
obligation to test the truth of the 
representation. The charge of the judge 
in submitting to the jury the question in 5 
relation to the negligence of Foord and 
Aspinwall, cannot be complained of by 
the defendant. 

10 
GARDINER, J. concurred in affirming 
the judgment, on the ground that selling 
the belladonna without a label indicating 
that it was a poison, was declared a 
misdemeanor by statute; (2 R. S. 694, § 15 
23;) but expressed no opinion upon the 
question whether, independent of the 
statute, the defendant would have been 
liable to these plaintiffs. 

20 
*412 GRIDLEY, J. was not present 
when the cause was decided. All the 
other members of the court concurred in 
the opinion delivered by Ch. J. 
RUGGLES. 25 

Judgment affirmed. 
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